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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 
 
On behalf of your Board of Directors, I have pleasure in presenting the Annual Report and Financial 
Statements of Grange Resources Limited (“Grange” or “the Company”) and its controlled entities for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2006. 
 
Grange recorded a consolidated operating profit after tax of $1.94 million for the financial year ended 30 
June 2006 compared to an operating after tax loss of $5.27 million in the previous financial year.  The 
result was achieved on revenue of $10.40 million including revenue of $7.44 million generated from the 
sale of copper concentrate from the Reward Deeps and Conviction underground mine which compared 
to $3.93 million in the previous financial year.  Production from the Rewards Deeps and Conviction 
underground mine ceased in July 2005. 
 
During the 2006/2007 financial year the Company expects to generate revenue of approximately $2.9 
million from royalty income from the Red Hill and Freshwater Projects 
 
The primary focus of the Company during the Financial Year has been the completion of the bankable 
feasibility study (BFS) on the development of the Southdown Magnetite and Kemaman (Malaysian) 
Pellet Project. The technical and capital cost aspects of the BFS were largely completed in the first 
quarter of 2006 with a capital cost estimate of US$1.175 billion. In March 2006 the Company 
commenced a tender process for the selection of a joint venture partner or partners to assist Grange 
develop the project. This process is well advanced and the Company aims to conclude this process 
during the last quarter of 2006. Additional resource drilling at Southdown was completed in May 2006 
resulting in an increased resource estimate of 479Mt grading 37.3% magnetite being announced in 
September 2006.  Environmental and project approvals for the Southdown Magnetite Project are 
expected in mid 2007. Environmental and project approvals for the Kemaman Pellet Project are more 
advanced and are expected in late 2006. 
 
Subsequent to the year end, in September 2006, the Malaysian Government approved Pioneer Status 
for the Kemaman Pellet Plant Project and a substantial package of investment incentives including a 
100% corporate tax exemption for a period of 15 years.  The package is one of the best packages 
offered by the Malaysian Government in relation to a project of this nature.  The incentive package 
substantially improves the economics of the project. 
 
The Company continues to devote resources to developing new investment opportunities in the mining 
sector in South East Asia.  In Malaysia the Company, with its joint venture partner has commenced 
development of the old Bukit Ibam iron ore mine to produce iron ore for local consumption. The 
Company also aims to undertake extensive exploration in Malaysia with the aim of producing iron ore for 
export.  
 
The achievements of this year bode well for the future of the Company. I extend my sincerest thanks to 
the Board and management team of Grange for their significant contributions and efforts.  Appreciation 
is also extended to our shareholders for their continued support. We look forward to the continuing 
success of the Company as it brings the development of the Southdown Magnetite Project and 
Kemaman Pellet Project to fruition in the financial year ahead. 
 
 
 
ANTHONY BOHNENN 
Chairman 
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MAJOR ACTIVITIES AND HIGHLIGHTS 
 
The Company’s major activities and highlights since the last annual report were as follows: 
 

 the Company recorded a profit after tax of $1.94 million. 
 

 the Company’s efforts focused on the bankable feasibility study on development of the 
Southdown Magnetite and Kemaman Pellet Project. The study was largely completed by March 
2006 with a capital cost estimate of $US1.175 billion being determined.  

 
 Resource drilling at Southdown was completed in May 2006. In total 226 holes aggregating 

over 57,000 metres of drilling were completed during 2004-2006. 
 

 A JORC compliant resource estimate on all Southdown drilling and assay data shows the 
deposit to contain 479Mt grading 37.3% magnetite (Indicated 427Mt grading 38.2% magnetite 
and Inferred 52Mt grading 30.1% magnetite).    

 
 In September 2006 the Malaysian Government approved Pioneer Status for the Kemaman 

Pellet Project and a substantial package of special investment incentives.    
 

 In July 2005 the final shipment of copper concentrate from the Reward Deeps mine was 
exported from Townsville.  Income received during the financial year from the sales of copper 
concentrate amounted to $7.44 million.  

 
 Royalty payments from mining activities at the Red Hill Gold Mine totalled $1,990,866.   

 
 Royalty payments from mining activities at the Freshwater Project totalled $327,744. 

 
 The Company acquired a 51% interest in the Bukit Ibam iron ore mine in Malaysia. 

Development work to re-open the mine is currently underway. 
 
 8,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued at a price of $1.35 raising $10.80 million to 

fund Southdown feasibility study costs. 
 

 4,285,715 fully paid ordinary shares were issued at a price of $0.50 per share pursuant to the 
exercise of options. 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
 
OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE YEAR 
 
The Company recorded a consolidated operating profit of $1.94 million for the financial year ended 30 
June 2006, compared with a consolidated operating loss of $5.27 million in the previous financial year.  
The operating profit was generated on consolidated revenue of $10.40 million, compared to $7.11 
million over the previous financial year.   
 
Grange had consolidated total assets of $38.76 million at the end of the financial year, consisting largely 
of the following items: 
 

 $8.31 million held in cash investments including cash backed security deposits; 
 $6.27 million being receivables, and 
 $23.44 million being the value attributable to capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure 

associated with the Southdown Magnetite Project. 
 

The Company’s cash reserves decreased by $0.43 million during the financial year, reflecting a surplus 
from operating activities of $4.13 million, a surplus from financing activities of $12.28 million and a deficit 
in investing activities of $16.84 million.   
    
MINING AND EXPLORATION ACTIVITIES 
 
SOUTHDOWN MAGNETITE AND KEMAMAN (MALAYSIA) PELLET PROJECT 
(Grange 100%) 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Grange Resources Ltd acquired the Southdown mining leases in November 2003 and immediately 
commenced a review of previous exploration work.  This led Grange to undertake a new ground 
magnetic survey and investigate a number of essential development requirements, including a harbour 
and shipping channel sea floor probing survey at Albany. The results of this work culminated in a 
prefeasibility “Scoping Study” which considered the following project components: 
 

 Mining at an annual rate of 17.8 million tonnes with a stripping ratio of around 2.6 to 1.0. 
 Annual production of 6.6 million tonnes per annum of magnetite concentrate containing 69% 

Fe. 
 Transportation of the magnetite concentrate to the Port of Albany via a buried slurry pipeline. 
 Establishing a large-scale pellet plant in South East Asia to process the Southdown 

concentrate into high grade iron ore pellets to produce 6.8 million tonnes of pellets per annum. 
 Potential markets for pellets in direct reduction and blast furnaces located in the Gulf and South 

East Asia. 
 Assessment of the economics of the project including capital expenditure on infrastructure in 

Australia and South East Asia. 
 

 The key findings from the scoping study included: 
 

 A potentially significant resource was indicated of sufficient size to support large scale mining, 
concentrating and pelletisation operations. 

 The mineralisation appeared to be amenable to coarse magnetic separation. 
 Close proximity to road and port facilities in Western Australia and Malaysia. 
 Competitive mining and processing costs. 
 The mining tenements were located on freehold land in Western Australia with no Native Title 

issues outstanding. 
 Two products were proposed namely Direct Reduction (“DR”) and Blast Furnace (“BF”) pellets. 
 Establishment of a pellet plant in Malaysia, near key markets including:  

o Direct Reduction - steel producers in Malaysia, Indonesia, and the Middle East; and  
o Blast Furnace - steel producers in China, Japan, South Korea and Taiwan. 

 
Following the completion of the scoping study and some preliminary drilling in late 2004 Grange 
announced in January 2005, the commencement of a full Bankable Feasibility Study (BFS) for the 
Southdown Magnetite and Kemaman Pellet Project.   
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Grange engaged the following consultants to assist with the preparation of the BFS: 
 

 ProMet Engineers to undertake and supervise the engineering and metallurgical work, 
including concentrator, pipelines, ports and pellet plant. 

 Golder Associates to undertake the resource estimation, mine planning and scheduling, 
geotechnical engineering and hydrology.  

 AMC Consultants to review alternative mining methods. 
 Ecologia to undertake environmental studies and prepare the documents necessary for the 

project approvals process. 
 JFA Australia to supervise the work relevant to the Albany Port, shipping channel and 

dredging. 
 Rockwater to search for a water supply. 
 Perunding Utama to undertake the environmental work necessary for the development of the 

pellet plant and associated infrastructure in Malaysia. 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
It is proposed to mine the Southdown Magnetite deposit using proven open pit mining methods with the 
magnetite mineralisation being crushed, ground, screened and then magnetically separated to produce 
a magnetite concentrate at a planned production rate of 6.6 Mtpa.  Coarse production waste (tailings) 
will be dewatered and deposited as solid tailings while finer material will be deposited in a slurry form 
into a tailings storage facility.  Overburden is to be placed in waste rock dumps for the first 5 years of 
production following which progressive backfilling of the pit with both waste rock and tailings is planned. 
 
The magnetite concentrate will be pumped as slurry, approximately 100 km to a concentrate storage 
facility at the port of Albany before being loaded on to capesize vessels and shipped to an iron ore pellet 
plant located in Malaysia.  Filtered water recovered from the slurry will be pumped back to the mine site 
for re-use in the concentrator via a return water pipeline buried beside the slurry pipeline. 
 
At Albany Port the construction of a new berth will be required and the Albany Port Authority will provide 
land to accommodate a concentrate storage facility and ship loading infrastructure.  Widening of the 
existing shipping channel into Princess Royal Harbour and extending the channel into King George 
Sound is also proposed to facilitate the access of capesize vessels.  
 
Grange Resources has entered into a Heads of Agreement with subsidiaries of Road Builder (M) 
Holdings Bhd to secure the future use of infrastructure in Malaysia comprising an existing wharf and up 
to 60 hectares of land for the pellet plant at Kemaman on the east coast of peninsular Malaysia.  The 
design capacity of the pellet plant is 6.8 Mtpa.   
 
The magnetite resource within the Grange mining leases is sufficient to support the planned production 
rate for a period of 22 years.  Known extensions to the magnetite deposit within an adjacent tenement 
owned by Rio Tinto could extend the project life considerably. 
 
PROJECT LOCATION 
 
The Southdown Magnetite Project is located approximately 90 kilometres northeast of the Port of Albany 
on the south coast of Western Australia (figure 1).  
 
The project comprises three granted mining leases M70/433, M70/718 and M70/719 covering an area of 
1712 hectares and a General Purpose Lease Application G70/217 and two Miscellaneous Licence 
Applications L70/97 and L70/98 covering an additional 872 hectares on freehold farming property (figure 
2) over which the Company holds an option to purchase.  
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Figure 1: Location of Southdown Magnetite Project, Albany WA 

 

 
Figure 2: Aer etic Signature of the S wn Magnetite De sit and Location of Mining Leases 
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 with the Australasian Code for the Reporting of Identified Mineral Resources 
nd Ore Reserves (JORC Code, 2004).  Drill holes were spaced at 50 metres intervals on traverses 200 

 
R
 
In November 2004 the Company commenced diamond drilling to evaluate the nature and strike and 
depth extent of the Southdown magnetite deposit within its mining leases.  The resource drilling 
programme was designed to provide sufficient data to establish a resource that could be classified as 
Indicated in accordance
a
metres apart along the 6km strike length.  The resource drilling programme was completed during May 
2006 by which time 195 resource holes aggregating 52,653 metres had been completed.  The location 
of drill holes completed to date is shown on figure 4.  In addition to the resource drill holes, 9 
geotechnical holes (2,279 metres), 6 metallurgical holes (1,549 metres), 3 hydrogeological holes (845 
metres) and 13 groundwater monitoring bores (522 metres) have been completed.   A summary of 
drilling and sampling undertaken on the project is provided in Table 1. 
 

TABLE 1 
SOUTHDOWN MAGNETITE PROJECT – SUMMARY OF DRILLING AND SAMPLING 

Company/Date Purpose Number of Holes Metres DTR Samples 
     

Southdown JV  & Portman     
1986 - 1987 Resource 52 5,757 187 

     
Grange Resources     

2004 - 2006 Resource 195 52,653 9,503* 
 Geotechnical 9 2,279  
 Metallurgical 6 1,549  
 Hydrogeological 3 845  
 Groundwater Monitoring 13 522  

Total Grange  226 57,848 9,503 
Grand Total  278 63,605 9,690 

  Note: * Includes 892 samples from re-sampling of 1986-1987 drill core by Grange 
 
Drill core was cut on site and submitted to the Amdel laboratory in Perth for sample preparation and test 
work (Davis Tube Recovery) to determine the magnetite content.  The magnetic fraction was assayed 
by X-ray Fluorescence Spectroscopy to determine its iron content and quality.  A total of 8611 samples 
from the 195 resource drill holes and 892 samples from resampling of the 1986/87 drill core were 
submitted for analysis. 
 
Golder Associates have completed a resource model using all geological and assay data available as at 
4 September 2006 and prepared a mineral resource estimate.  The resource estimate was classified in 
accordance with the Australasian Code for the Reporting of Identified Mineral Resources and Ore 
Reserves (JORC Code, 2004).  The magnetite deposit within the Company’s mining leases has a strike 
length of approximately 6,000 metres and a vertical depth ranging from 50 to 500 metres.  The available 
data has allowed Golder Associates to estimate the resource contained within 5,950 metres of strike 
with variable depths ranging from 50 to 480 metres below surface.  Based on the above criteria Golder 
Associates estimated the Southdown deposit contains 479.1 million tonnes grading 37.3% magnetite of 
which 427.3 million tonnes grading 38.2% magnetite are classified as Indicated Resources and 51.8 
million tonnes grading 30.1% magnetite are classified as Inferred Resources. 
 
The resource estimate (Table 2) was classified in accordance with the Australasian Code for the 
Reporting of Identified Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC Code, 2004). 
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TABLE 2 
SOUTHDOWN MAGNETITE PROJECT 

IN SITU MINERAL RESOURCE ESTIMATE 
Class Indicated Resource Inferred Resource Total Resource 
Tonnes (Mt) 427.3 51.8 479.1 
DTC wt% 38.2 30.1 37.3 
DTC Fe% 69.2 69.0 69.2 
DTC SiO2% 1.9 2.0 1.9 
DTC Al2O3% 1.4 1.3 1.3 
DTC TiO2% 0.37 0.44 0.37 
DTC S% 0.42 0.63 0.44 
DTC Na2O% 0.05 0.04 0.05 
DTC K2O% 0.009 0.009 0.009 
DTC P% 0.002 0.003 0.002 
DTC MgO% 0.23 0.25 0.24 
DTC CaO% 0.18 0.22 0.18 
DTC Mn% 0.036 0.036 0.036 
DTC V% 0.021 0.023 0.021 
DTC LOI% -3.0 -2.9 -3.0 
 
Notes: 

• Estimation method: Block model, Ordinary Kriging using 3m composite data. 
• Resources reported below the depth of oxidation (approx 25m) with depths ranging from 50 to 480m below 

surface. 
• Resources reported for 5,950m of strike. 
• The resource was defined using geological boundaries and a nominal cut-off grade of 10 wt% Davis Tube 

Concentrate (DTC). 
• Extrapolation along strike was limited to within 100m of drill holes. 
• Extrapolation down and up dip was limited to 25m for Indicated and 50m for Inferred resources. 
• In-situ density for the main mineralised unit was assigned to the mineralised domains using a regression of 

0.0091 x DTC wt% + 3.172.  This regression was derived from 3097 paired density and DTC wt% values. 
• In-situ density for the other mineralised unit was assigned to the mineralised domains using a regression of 

0.0081 x DTC wt% + 3.25.  This regression was derived from 614 paired density and DTC wt% values. 
• The Ordinary Kriging interpolation method was used for resource estimation of DTC, DTC Fe, DTC SiO2, 

DTC Al2O3, DTC TiO2, DTC S, DTC Na2O and DTC K2O using variogram parameters defined from 
geostatistical analysis. 

• The Inverse Distance Squared interpolation method was used for resource estimation of DTC P, DTC 
MgO, DTC CaO, DTC Mn, DTC V and DTC LOI, to allow reporting of these additional variables not 
required to be of the same level of estimation rigour as the other variables. 

• Estimations for concentrate grades were weighted by Davis Tube concentrate (DTC) in order to 
appropriately reflect the relationship between DTC and the DTC assays.  Weighting was completed by 
calculating the accumulation (DTC x DTC assay) and subsequently back calculating the DTC assay 
estimates by dividing by relevant estimated DTC values. 

• Recovery and grade rounded to 1 decimal place (except TiO2, S, Na2O, MgO & CaO - 2 decimal places and 
K2O, P, Mn & V - 3 decimal places). 

• Resources rounded to nearest 100,000 tonnes. 
 
The information in this statement of Mineral Resources is based on information compiled by Richard 
Gaze who is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and has sufficient relevant 
experience to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the JORC Code (2004).  Richard Gaze 
consents to the inclusion of this information in the form and context in which it appears. 
 
Geology 
 
Interpretation of drilling data indicates that the Southdown deposit consists of a gently east-plunging, 
overturned tightly folded syncline that is offset by northwest and northeast trending faults (figure 3).  The 
core of the syncline is occupied by intensely metamorphosed quartz-magnetite-clinopyroxene gneiss 
and garnet-biotite gneiss.  The interpreted vertical depth to the keel of the syncline is approximately 50 
metres at the western end of the deposit and increases to a vertical depth in excess of 500 metres in the 
eastern portion of the deposit.  The thickness of the deposit ranges from 40 to 110 metres and averages 
85 metres. 
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Figure 3: Interpreted Geology and Drill Hole Location Plan 

 
 
Typical cross sections of the deposit are shown in figures 4 and 5 and the locations of the sections are 
shown in figure 3.  
 

 
Figure 4: Interpreted Cross Section 639420mE 
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Figure 5: Interpreted Cross Section 640820mE 

 
MINE PLANNING  
 
Preliminary pit optimisation and mine planning work has been carried out based on an earlier geological 
and resource model developed in January 2006.  The work was undertaken in order to develop 
preliminary mining schedules and a layout for the open pit, waste rock dumps and tailings storage 
facilities.  Based on the results of the study Grange is confident that the deposit contains sufficient 
mineralisation to support an open pit mining project producing 6.6Mtpa of magnetite concentrate for a 
period of approximately 22 years.  The study developed a concept of co-disposal of approximately 50% 
of the backfill and tailings into the excavated pit. 
 
More detailed mine planning and scheduling is currently being undertaken based on the updated 
resource model.  Geotechnical and hydrogeological studies have also been completed to provide data 
for mine design and scheduling.  
 
The main objectives of the preliminary mine scheduling process was to: 
 

• Formulate mining method strategies and test the practicality of these strategies 
• Assess whether or not the nominated concentrate production rate of 6.6Mdmtpa is achievable 
• Estimate potential mining quantities for input to the mining equipment selection and cost 

estimation process; and 
• Provide preliminary “ore” grade tonnage profiles over the life of the mine for input to the 

treatment plant design process.  
 
It is envisaged that the long narrow Southdown pit will be mined in a series of blocks commencing at the 
western end of the deposit and progressing to the east throughout the mine life.  The proposed pit will 
have a footprint of approximately 400ha, a strike length of 6,000 metres and a depth of approximately 
300 metres.  
 
The pit optimisation study developed a backfill dumping scenario with a portion of the waste being 
returned to the mine on a progressive basis.  The conceptual dumping schedule showed that 
approximately 50% of the waste rock would be able to be placed in the excavated pit with backfilling 
commencing from Year 5 onwards. 
 
The pit optimisation study also investigated the co-disposal of tailings in the backfill and concluded that 
from Year 7 onwards this would be practical.  The concept is to create basins within the waste for filling 
with plant tailings.  Approximately half the tailings would be able to be placed in the backfill.  The tailings 
would be progressively covered by a layer of oxide material to seal them from the atmosphere. 
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Site investigation 
 
A programme of test pitting and shallow geotechnical drilling has been completed to investigate the 
footprints of the tailings storage facility, the waste rock dump and the proposed water dam (Figure 7).  
Test bore holes have been logged for soil and rock type and tested for geotechnical parameters.  
Piezometers to test for water levels were installed in all the test bores.  The aims of the site investigation 
work were to: 
 

• Characterise the geotechnical and hydro-geological conditions at the proposed tailings storage 
facility and water dam sites for use in stability and seepage analyses; 

• Install piezometers in the boreholes to enable future monitoring of groundwater levels and 
water quality; 

• Assess the suitability and quantity of near surface soil material for use as borrow material in 
construction works; and 

• Collect representative soil samples for laboratory testing. 
 
During the June quarter three HQ size 300 metre deep vertical core holes were drilled within the outline 
of the pit.  Each of the holes has been equipped with vibrating wire piezometers to provide information 
on hydraulic gradients and hydraulic pressures in support of the geotechnical pit design. 
 

 
Figure 6: Conceptual site layout plan of surface and in-pit tailings storage facilities 

 
 
METALLURGICAL TEST WORK 
 
A comprehensive test work programme has been conducted on representative samples of “ore” from the 
Southdown magnetite deposit and has demonstrated that a high quality magnetite concentrate can 
readily be produced suitable for the production of both direct reduction (DR) and blast furnace (BF) 
pellets. 
 
The test work has established that multi-stage grinding and separation allows the production of a DR 
grade concentrate at a P80 of 34 microns and a BF grade concentrate at a grind as coarse as a P80 of 40 
to 45 micron.  The concentrate contains low levels of silica and phosphorus and other contaminants all 
of which typically reduce with further grinding.  The concentrate has a relatively high sulphur content of 
0.7%S which can be readily reduced to below 0.2%S by reverse flotation.  Expected DR and BF 
concentrate qualities are presented in Table 3. 
 

12 



GRANGE RESOURCES LIMITED  
ABN 80 009 132 405 

ANNUAL REPORT 2006 

TABLE 3 
SOUTHDOWN MAGNETI

EXPECTED CONCENTRA

A 22 tonne bulk sample of mineralisation from drill core has been processed through a pilot plant set up 
in a metallurgical laboratory in Perth and approximately 6.0 tonnes of magnetite concentrate has been 
produced for test work on pellet production, slurry characteristics, thickener operation and filtration. 
 
Approximately 1.5 tonnes of concentrate were forwarded to Outokumpu Technology (Lurgi) in Germany 
in November 2005 to determine the suitability of the concentrate to make pellets using Outokumpu’s 
Straight Grate technology.  Approximately 2.0 tonnes of concentrate were forwarded to Kobelco 
Corporation in Japan during February 2006 to determine the suitability of the concentrate to make 
pellets utilising Kobelco’s Grate Kiln technology.   
 
Both Outokumpu and Kobelco have successfully produced good quality pellets from the concentrate 
utilising their respective technologies.  The concentrate processed by both companies contained 
relatively high sulphur (0.7%S) and further pelletising tests are being undertaken on a low sulphur 
concentrate (<0.2%S) produced by reverse flotation.  Information being generated by Outokumpu and 
Kobelco will determine the operating conditions for the future pellet plant to be established at Kemaman.   
 
The expected qualities of concentrate (prior to the removal of the sulphur by flotation) and DR and BF 
pellets based on the results of testwork undertaken to date by both Outokumpu and Kobelco are 
presented in Table 3. 
 

TE PROJECT 
TE & PELLET QUALITY 

DR Pellets BF Pellets Parameter DR 
Concentrate 

BF 
Conc et Estimated Target Acid Fluxed entrate Targ

Fe % 69.89 67.70 >67.5 67.21  65.60 62.71 
FeO % 28.60 28.60  0.50  0.50 0.50 
SiO2 % 0.97 3.01 <2.0 1.19 <5.0 3.33 3.38 
Al2O3 % 1.34 1.51  1.36 <2.0 1.58 1.58 
CaO % 0.07 0.20  0.76  0.20 2.65 
MgO % 0.15 0.35  0.16  0.35 1.47 
TiO2  % 0.37 0.38  0.36 <1.0 0.37 0.35  
Cr2O3 % 0.06 0.06  0.06  0.06 0.05 
Na2O/K2O % 0.01 0.07  0.02  0.09 0.09 
Mn % 0.03 0.03  0.03  0.03 0.03 
P % 0.01 0.01  0.00 <0.07 0.00 0.00 
S % (1) 0.65 0.43  0.01  0.01 0.01  
LOI % -2.71 -2.60      
        
B4 (2) 0.10 0.12  0.36  0.11 0.83 
B2 (3) 0.07 0.07  0.64  0.06 0.78 
MgO/CaO 2.14 1.75  0.21  1.72 0.56 
SiO2/Al2O3 0.72 1.99  0.87  2.11 2.14 
80% Passing 34 - 38 micron 42 – 45      
Blaine m2/kg 200 - 230 180 – 2      00 
        
CCS (4)   >250 265 – 287 >250   
Abrasion Index %   <4.0 3.7 – 3.9 <4.0   
Tumble Index %   >95.0 96.1 – 97.2 >95.0   
%<5mm   <3.0  <3.0   
%>5<16mm   >93.0  >93.0   
        
RDI  % (5)   >90.0 92.8 – 93.7 >90.0   
Linder Reduction 
% Metallisation 

  >92.0 96.1    

Reduction Degree    95.4    
 
  Notes: 

1. The sulphur content of the concentrate is expected to be reduced to 0.2% following 
reverse flotation. 

  2. B4 = CaO + MgO 
               SiO2 + Al2O3 

  3. B2 = CaO 
                        SiO2 

  4. CCS = Cold Compression Strength. 
  5. RDI = Reduction Disintegration Index. 

 
The metallurgical test work programme consisted of three principal sections: 
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1. Bench scale work to establish the overall metallurgical characteristics and behaviour of the 
material. 

2. Pilot plant runs to confirm the bench scale work and generate samples of magnetite 
concentrate and tailings for further test

3. Specific tests to optimise design and equipment selection. 
 
The results of the work established that multi-stage grinding and magnetic separation allows the 
production of both DR and BF grade concentra ry magnetic separation was found to be of benefit 
by enabling a large reduction in feed to subsequent grinding steps for a minimal loss of magnetite.  High 
pressure grinding roll testwork has shown that the Southdown material responds well to high pressure 
comminution and has provided data for the selection of appropriately sized machines. 
 
The further pelletisation test work being undertaken will also include the laboratory production of 200kg 
of pellets for basket tests at both Midrex and HYL direct reduction shaft furnaces.  
 
SOUTHDOWN INFRASTRUCTURE

work. 

te.  D

 
 
Slurry Pipeline 
 
It is planned to transport the magnetite concentrate in slurry form by buried pipeline from the Southdown 
site into the Albany port area where it will be de d in the filter plant prior to stockpiling (see Figure 
7).  
 
The proposed pipeline alignment is to be secured via registered easements which affect 47 freehold or 
leasehold landowners.  Wherever possible the pro d pipeline alignment is sited across cleared land 
and along property boundaries.  Revised off d agreement documents were sent to affected 
landowners in July 2006 and follow up negotiations with individual landowners are being undertaken.  
 
In respect to road reserves, Unallocated Crown L nd other Crown Reserves negotiations with a 
variety of government agencies for pipeline acc  ongoing and will be concluded once the freehold 
easement alignment is secured. 

 

watere

pose
ers an

and a
ess is

 
 

 
Figure 7: Proposed Slurry Pipeline Route 
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Grange ill requ entrator, slurry pipeline pumps, mine site 

cilities, concentrate filtration plant at Albany, port material handling facilities, and return waterline 

Wes
electricit outhdown mine and concentrator.   A new 220kV transmission line from Muja to 
Kojo
approxim  requirement of approximately 75MW. This power 
line  expected to improve power supply 

 many existing consumers.   

able to negotiate 
ectricity supply terms and price from market participants.  Grange has recently contacted potential 

ater Supply 

n to define process water solutions for the project.  Process design 
ined that the annual make-up water requirement will be 2.7 Gigalitres (2.7 x 109 litres) 
ximately 85 litres/second). 

• Pit dewatering from groundwater and rainfall inflows; 

 Site-wide Water Balance Study and Water Management Plan undertaken for Grange’s Feasibility 

ond of water which represents about 90% of the total make-up water 
requirements.  This study is being extended to determine the water that could be available from capture 
on land adjacent to the project site as it appears th t appropriate water harvesting could provide the 
total make up water requirements for the project. 
 
Preliminary indications are tha ject can be sourced from the 
site and surrounding land. 
 
The Water Corporation has advised that at least 3,000 Kilolitres/day (35 litres/second) of treated waste 
water could be supplied to the project if required. 
 
Albany Port  
 
The Company continues to work closely with the Albany Port Authority (APA) in respect to the need to 
expand the port to meet the requirements of the Southdown operations. Work undertaken during the 
period included: 

• Completion of environmental studies required for the submission of the Public Environmental 
Review (PER). 

• Under keel clearance modelling to ascertain the required channel depth for the likely ship type. 
Two channel depths are being considered; 15.0m with average high tides to give a vessel 
loading of 15.8m and 16.0m with average high tides to give a vessel loading of 16.8m. 

• A preferred tenderer has been identified for the conduct of a Magnetometer Survey of the 
existing and proposed shipping channel within Princess Royal Harbour and King George 
Sound to determine the location of Unexploded Ordnance.  The aim of this survey will be to 
identify within the survey area any Unexploded Ordnance fired from the old coastal defence 
batteries that operated up until the 1960’s or dumped at sea after the end of the Second World 
War. The survey will be completed before the commencement of dredging for the port 
expansion. 

• Design of the seawall at berth 7 has commenced. 
• Expressions of interest were called for the design and construction of berth 7 and shiploader. 

 

Power Supply  

w ire a reliable power supply for the conc
fa
pumps.  
 

tern Power has completed a study to evaluate the optimum transmission line for the supply of 
y to the S

nup and then to Southdown has been proposed. This line is expected to have a capacity of 
ately 150MW, well in excess of the Project’s

will also add significantly to regional power infrastructure and is
to
 
Grange has contracted Western Power to obtain the easement for this transmission line and formal 
landowner and stakeholder consultation in respect to the easement alignment commenced in July 2006. 
 
The Southdown Project will be classed as a contestable customer so Grange will be 
el
power suppliers to update likely supply capacity and costs. 
 
W
 

ignificant effort has been undertakeS
work has determ
er annum (approp

 
Potential make-up water supply sources include: 
 

• On-site rain water runoff capture; 
• On/off-site groundwater extraction, and 
• Treated waste water from the Water Corporation’s Albany Tree Farm. 

 
A
Study has identified that from year 5 of mining onwards pit dewatering and rain water runoff from 
impacted areas on site such as the waste dump, tailings storage facility and other mining affected areas 
could provide up to 77 litres/sec

a

t the entire water requirements for the pro
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NVIRONMENTAL APPROVALS
 
SOUTHDOWN E  

(PER) document was submitted to the EPA and other government 

 
Grange and APA have respectively engaged Ecologia to facilitate the environmental approval process 
including: 
 

• Liaising with government, public stakeholders and contractors. 
• Undertaking environmental impact studies. 
• Providing specialist technical advice. 
• Preparing environmental documentation required to be submitted to regulatory authorities. 

 
The final Environmental Scoping Document was approved by the EPA on 12th April 2006.  The draft 

ublic Environmental Review P
agencies for comment on 4th July 2006.  
 

llowing for the mandatory review and response periods, environmental approval for the Project is A
expected in the second quarter of 2007, subject to any appeals. 
 
KEMAMAN (MALAYSIA) PELLET PROJECT 
 
In February 2005, Gran
M) Holdings Bhd, a public

ge announced that it had entered into a Heads of Agreement with Road Builder 
ly listed Malaysian company, to acquire up to a maximum of 60 hectares of 

ons including the following: 

 supplies including natural gas and electricity. 
ts. 

rating costs. 

d the exemption from 

th mobile stackers and reclaimers. 
• A ship loader (nominally 4,000 tph) capable of loading iron ore pellets into capesize vessels. 

sels. 
• Conveyor systems between the ship-unloaders and ship loader and the concentrate and pellet 

r facilities as necessary. 
• The provision of services from water, natural gas and electricity providers. 

rovision has been made in the infrastructure for the future construction of additional pellet plants on the 

lity 
 
The Kem y will be designed for a capacity of 6.8 Mtpa.  This capacity achieves 
the im
of plants
 
Tes  
indicate 
commen

(
land in an industrial estate adjacent to the port of Kemaman to build a magnetite pellet plant and secure 
port facilities (West Wharf). The Kemaman Pellet Plant will use concentrate shipped from the 
Southdown Magnetite Project to produce high quality iron ore pellets.  The Kemaman site was selected 
s the preferred location for a number of reasa

 
• Availability of competitively priced energy
• Close proximity to potential off-take parties and marke

t. • Very competitive export sea freigh
• Access to port infrastructure with low ope
• Availability of a skilled construction and operating workforce. 
• The potential granting of government incentives including tax benefits an

import and export duties. 
• Ability to expand through the provision of additional pellet plants. 

 
The key components of the Kemaman Pellet Project comprise the following:  
 

• The pellet plant. 
• Stockyards for pellets and concentrate wi

• Two ship-unloaders (nominally 2,000 tph each) capable of unloading magnetite concentrate 
from capesize ves

stockyards. 
• Office, maintenance, laboratory and othe

 
P
Kemaman site. 
 
Pellet Plant Faci

aman Pellet Plant facilit
opt um economies of scale for a single pellet plant using existing technology. There are a number 

 operating at this scale around the world. 

ting of the ground conditions at the Pellet Plant site has been completed. Results of the tests 
that pre-loading of areas on the site will need to be undertaken as soon as the project 
ces.  
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9 
 

s originally dredged to 18 metres although parts of the turning basin had not been fully 
d of Agreement, Road Builder is 

requ dredging of the turning basin at 
Kemama
 

ow  S

greed location within the pellet plant site via a 132kV line. 

 the national supplier, Petronas Gas via a pipeline that 

t plant site. A pipe conveyor 
ystem port of 

Kemama tructure 
corridor. 
 
MAL S

 
West Wharf 
 
The West Wharf consists of an existing jetty with a concrete deck approximately 510 metres long by 2
metres wide, sufficient to berth a Capesize and Panamax vessel concurrently. The depth of the berth
ocket wap

dredge  at the time of the agreement. Under the terms of the Heads 
d during July 2006, ired to provide for vessels with a draft of 16m an

n commenced.  

P er upply 
 
Tenega Nasional Berhad (TNB) is the national electricity provider for Malaysia.  High voltage power is 
available from a TNB substation immediately next to the pellet plant site. TNB have indicated that they 

ould be able to supply power to an aw
Discussions have commenced with TNB to seek the best possible power price and terms for the project. 
 

atural Gas Supply N
 

atural Gas for the pellet plant is available fromN
runs along a road adjacent to the pellet plant site. Petronas Gas would supply the gas to the pellet plant 
site via a new lateral from the pipeline to a designated supply point on the pellet plant site.  A formal 
application for the supply of gas has been made to Petronas Gas. 
 
Conveyor Corridor 
 

n infrastructure corridor exists between the West Wharf and the pelleA
s has been designed for the transport of imported Southdown concentrates and the ex

n iron ore pellets. This pipe conveyor would be sited within or adjacent to the infras

AY IAN INVESTMENT INCENTIVES 
 
In A  2
Limite , llet Plant and associated 
infra u   GDSB is responsible for the 

n Malaysia. 

 September 2006 the Malaysian Government advised that it had granted a substantial tax incentive 
pac man Pellet Project.  The Malaysian Minister of Finance approved Pioneer 
Stat fo
 

• ance to construct and provide infrastructure to the West Wharf at 

ar tax exempt period.  
o non-residents for interests, 

• An exemption on import duty and sales tax on all raw materials and machinery imported into 

triate positions to operate the project, and   
• A Matching raining Grant of RM1 million (AUD370,000) for a period of four years beginning 

lly improves the project economics of the Kemaman 
ellet Plant. 

pril 006, Grange Developments Sdn Bhd (GDSB), a wholly owned subsidiary of Grange Resources 
lodged an Application for Pd re-Packaged Incentive for the Kemaman Pe

str cture with the Malaysian Industrial Development Authority (MIDA).
planned development of the iron ore pellet plant operation to be built at Kemaman i
 
In

kage to GDSB for Kema
us r the project with a package of special incentives including: 

• A 100% corporate income tax exemption at the statutory income level for a period of 15 years.    
An Infrastructure Allow
Kemaman Port.  The Company can offset the Allowance against 85% of the statutory income 
after the 15 ye

• A 100% exemption on Withholding Tax applicable on payments t
royalty, services and contracts for a period of 5 years commencing from 2007.  

the country by Grange used directly in the manufacturing of iron ore pellets.  
• 25 expa

 T
2009. 

 
The package is one of the best packages offered by the Malaysian Government in relation to a project of 
this nature. The 15 year tax exempt period is beyond the standard 5 or 10 year tax exempt period 
normally given.  This incentive package substantia
P
 
KEMAMAN ENVIRONMENTAL APPROVALS 
 
Perunding Utama Sdn Bhd (PU) is the environmental consultant for the Project in Malaysia.   
 
The review panel meeting for assessing the Terms of Reference for the Detailed Environmental Impact 
Assessment (DEIA) for the pellet plant at Teluk Kalong Industrial Estate, Kemaman was held on the 14th 
November 2005. Issues raised by the review panel meeting were addressed in the updated Project 
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erms of Reference which was submitted by PU to the Department of Environment (DoE) on 7th 

6 and approved on the 5th May 2006. 

ROJECT CAPITAL COST

T
February 200
 
The DEIA report was completed and lodged with the DoE on 14th June 2006 and was published for 
public comment. The final meeting of the review panel for the DEIA was held on 7th September 2006. No 
significant issues are anticipated and Malaysian environmental approval is expected in the fourth quarter 
of 2006.  
 
P  

he project capital cost estimate in December 2005 dollars was estimated at US$1,175M including 

l sum for prestripping 
hdown concentrator based on the flow sheet developed from the 

jects 
 and operating infrastructure based on current project costs 
e estimate by Pipeline Systems Incorporated (PSI) 

 
 by Outokumpu for Malaysian installation 

d Malaysian construction 

 
T
contingencies. This estimate was compiled as follows: 
 
Southdown 

• Owner leased mining equipment 
• A provisiona
• Equipment lists for the Sout

pilot plant test work 
• Vendor quotes for the equipment 
• Electrical costs based on the installed equipment and installation based on similar work being 

undertaken on other current projects 
• Construction costs based on other current construction pro
• Construction
• Slurry pipelin
• Land based port facilities based on vendor quotes and current construction costs 
• Engineering costs and owners costs (including land purchases, insurances, overheads, 

employer training, etc)  
 

emamanK
• Pellet Plant cost estimate provided
• Infrastructure based on vendor quotes an
• Civil works based on site investigations and Malaysian costs for piling and preload 

 
The breakdown of capital costs in various currencies is Euro (16%), Malaysian Ringgit (16%), US$ 
(13%) and A$ (55%).  
 
This cost estimate compares with the published capital cost of the new Samarco development of a mine 
expansion, concentrator and pellet plant in Brazil (7.6Mtpy) at an estimated cost of US$1,200M  
 

ROJECT OPERATING COSTSP  
 
The l
isUS$ 9
 
PRO C

 pre iminary estimate of the operating cost for iron ore pellets, free on board (FOB) Kemaman 
3 .60/tonne using owner mining costs. 

JE T STRUCTURE 
 
Gra  
informati
agre n the process of determining the most 
appr ri
 

ccordance with the IM development template along with a number of other alternatives.   

terest has come from all the growth pellet demand areas in the world, as well as from existing 
diligence, 

range is targeting the last quarter of 2006 for resolution of the ownership structure for the Project. 

nge anticipates new participants will be introduced into the project and is providing specific BFS 
on to a number of companies that have registered their interest through confidentiality 

ements.  Grange appointed Azure Capital to assist i
op ate partners capable of facilitating the financing and development of the project.   

In March 2006 Grange announced the commencement of an international tender process for joint 
venture partners. The first key milestone date under the process was for non-binding expressions of to 
be submitted in May 2006.  A number of parties submitted non binding expressions of interest (EOI) 
and have commenced the detailed due diligence phase.  As expected, EOI’s have been submitted in 
a
 
In
producers and general investors.  Due to the complexity of interest and the extent of due 
G
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LLET DEMAND
 
DIRECT REDUCTION AND BLAST FURNACE PE  

rised as follows: 

 pellet consumers within one days sailing of Kemaman. Perwaja Steel is 

 Asian BF pellet consumers with sea freight of approximately US$5.7/t in panamax 

cated on the Yangtze River at US$12.7/t in handymax 

with sea freight of approximately US$6.0/t in panamax 

 
The fr osts - mostly from Brazil - of 
appr im  
cost
 
Add

he Mt Windsor Joint Venture is an unincorporated joint venture between BML Holdings Pty Ltd (BML) 

 
produce a copper concentrate for export.  The project area is located approximately 37 km south of 
Charters Towers in North Queensland. 
 

 
Over the past year but particularly the last quarter, Grange Resources and Azure Capital have 
contacted or visited pellet consumers in the competitive sea freight proximity of Kemaman.  Figure 8  
shows the location of potential consumers and highlights the freight advantage of Kemaman which can 
be summa
 

 South East Asian DR
located adjacent to the pellet plant and could be serviced by road or an overland conveyor. 

 Middle East DR pellet consumers with sea freight of approximately US$7.7/t in panamax 
vessels. 

 North
vessels. 

 Chinese BF pellet consumers, lo
vessels. 
Australian BF pelle t consumers 
vessels. 

se eight costs compare to current long term pellet supply freight c
ox ately US$20/t. Spot freight costs from Brazil can be significantly higher than these long term
s. 

itional market potential is being investigated in Indonesia, Thailand and India.   
 

Figure 8: Projected iron ore pellet markets for the Kemaman Pellet Plant 
 
 
MOUNT WINDSOR JOINT VENTURE    
Grange 30%, TCM 70% 
 
T
30% (a wholly owned subsidiary of Grange) and Thalanga Copper Mines Pty Limited (“TCM”) 70%, the 
manager.  The joint venture operated the Reward and Highway open pit mines during 1998-2002 and, 
until cessation of mining activities on 8 July 2005, had been mining and processing copper ore from an 
underground mine developed to extract ore from the Reward Deeps and Conviction copper deposits to
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EWARD DEEPS & CONVICTION COPPER MINE (GRANGE 30%, TCM 70%)R  

perations 

In J  2
South un om 
the s
 
Reh l
 
Rehabili e Highway and Reward mine site commenced in November 2005 and was completed 
duri h
 
RED I
Grange  Revenue Royalty 

arrick (PD) D”) 100% 

nowna Bell Gold Mine, 20km north east of Kalgoorlie.  The project is owned and operated by 
arrick PD. 

artz veins within a 
orphyry host.  Drilling has shown the presence of a large tonnage low-grade gold deposit, which 

extends outside the boundaries of M27/57 on to tenements held 100% by Barrick PD and not subject to 
the royalty. 
 
During the financial year royalty payments from mining activities at Red Hill totalled $1.99 million.  
Royalty income, from commencement of operations in February 2003 to 30 June 2006 amounts to 
$3,759,739.  Ore treated during this period has been 4,012,087 tonnes at an average grade of 1.76g/t 
gold for the recovery of 214,628 ounces.  For production above the threshold of 85,000 ounces the 
royalty to Grange has averaged $25.47 per ounce of gold produced. A summary of production statistics 
and royalty income received for the year ending 30 June 2006 is provided in Table 4. 
 

TABLE 4 
RED HILL PROJECT – MINING LEASE M27/57 

PRODUCTION AND ROYALTY INCOME FOR YEAR TO 30 JUNE 2006 

 
O
 
On 8 July 2005 mining operations at the Reward Deeps and Conviction underground mine ceased due 
to the exhaustion of ore reserves. 
 
Concentrate Sales 
 

uly 005 the final shipment of copper concentrate (4,606t) from the Reward Deeps and Highway 
derground mine was exported from Townsville.  Income received during the financial year fr

sale  of copper concentrate amounted to $7.44 million.  

abi itation 

tation of th
ng t e June 2006 quarter. 

 H LL PROJECT 
4% Gross

Australia Limited (“Barrick PB
 
Grange holds a 4% gross revenue royalty on all production after the first 85,000 ounces of gold 
produced from the Red Hill Mining Lease (M27/57), which is located approximately 4km north east of 
the Ka
B
 

old mineralisation at Red Hill occurs mainly as free gold in shallow dipping quG
p

Period Ore Milled 
(Tonnes) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Recovered 
Gold Ounces 

Royalty 
($) 

September 2005 Quarter 266,716 1.67 13,425 317,680 
December 2005 Quarter 198,640 2.11 12,553 322,985 
March 2006 Quarter 325,153 2.13 20,763 616,336 
June 2006 Quarter 345,010 2.13 22,143 733,865 
TOTALS 1,135,519 2.02 68,884 1,990,866 
 
Reserves and Resources 
 
Barrick PD has ugust 2006 for 

e Red Hill project.  Ore res  and amount to 
.52 million tonnes grading 1.59g/t gold containing 77,400 ounces of gold.  These reserves include 

0g/t gold containing 54,600 ounces of gold.  Mineral  
tres and amount to 5.5 million tonnes grading 1.40g/t gold 

s of gold. 

 compiled estimations of mineral resources and ore reserves as at 31 A
erves within M27/57 are estimated to a depth of 150 metresth

1
surface stockpiles of 1.13 million tonnes grading 1.5

 to a depth of 150 meResources are estimated
ontaining 248,000 ouncec

 
Ore reserves and mineral resources within M27/57 as at 31 August 2006 are summarised in Tables 5 
and 6 respectively.  The Measured and Indicated Resources, summarised in Table 6 are inclusive of 
those in-situ Mineral Resources modified to produce the Ore Reserves in Table 5. 
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TABLE 5 
RED HILL PROJECT - MINING LEASE M27/57 
MINING RESERVE AS AT 31 AUGUST 2006 

 

Reserve 
Classification 

Cut-off Tonnes Grade Ounces 
Grade (g/t) (g/t) 

Proved (Stockpiles) 0.8 -1.4 745,000 1.11 26,600 
Proved (Stockpiles) >1.4 386,000 2.26 28,000 
Sub Total Stockpiles  1,131,000 1.50 54,600 
Probable (In-situ) 0.8 – 1.4 116,000 0.98 3,600 
Probable (In-situ) >1.4 272,000 2.20 19,200 
Sub Total In-situ  388,000 1.83 22,800 
Total  1,519,000 1.59 77,400 
 
Notes: 

 to nearest 1,000 tonnes 

 Cooper of Barrick (PD) Australia Limited, who is 
SX listing rules.  Barrick (PD) has consented in 

IN_SITU MINERAL RESOURCES AS AT 31 AUGUST 2006 

 Estimation method: Block model, Multiple Indicator Kriging (MIK) 
 Reserves estimated to a depth of 150 metres 
 Gold Price A$632/oz 
 Reserves rounded

 
This reserve statement has been compiled by Mr Roger
 competent person as defined in Appendix 5A to the Aa

writing to the information being included in the form and context in which it appears. 
 

TABLE 6 
RED HILL PROJECT – MINING LEASE M27/57 

Resource 
Category 

Cut-off 
Grade (g/t) 

Tonnes Grade 
(g/t) 

Ounces 

Indicated 0.8 -1.4 2,386,000 1.05 80,700 
Indicated >1.4 1,612,000 2.03 105,400 
Sub Total Indicated  3,998,000 1.45 186,100 
Inferred 0.8 -1.4 916,000 1.03 30,400 
Inferred >1.4 585,000 1.69 31,700 
Sub Total Inferred  1,501,000 1.29 62,100 
Total  5,499,000 1.40 248,200 
 
Notes: 

 Estimation method: Block model, Multiple Indicator Kriging (MIK) 
 Resources estimated to a depth of 150 me
 Resources rounded 

 
ource s  Li o 
petent person as defined in  to th ting rul  has c n 

eing inclu n hic

CT 
le Production Royal

stralia Limited (“Bar  100% 
 

located adjacent to and to the east of the Plutonic Gold Mine located 
 east of Meekatharra in Western Australia.  The project is owned and 

tics and the cash received from royalty income received for the year 

tres 
to nearest 1,000 tonnes 

This res
is a com

tatement has been c Mr Ro per of Bar straliaompiled by 
5A

ger Coo rick (PD) Au mited, wh
ons ed i Appendix 

ded in t
e ASX lis
d conte

es. Barrick (PD)
h it . 

ent
writing to the information b he form a xt in w appears
 

OJEFRESHWATER PR
caGrange - Sliding S

old of Au
ty 

Barrick G rick Gold”)
 
The Freshwater project is 
pproximately 180km northa

operated by Barrick Gold of Australia Limited.  The Company holds a sliding scale royalty based on 
grade, tonnage and type of ore milled on all production from the Freshwater leases. 
 
Royalty and Production 
 
Total royalty income earned for the year ended 30 June 2006 amounted to $327,744 from underground 
re.  A summary of production statiso

ending 30 June 2006 is provided in Table 7.  The cash received from royalty income is inclusive of 
royalty income accrued but not paid in the previous financial year. 
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PRODUCTIO  JUNE 2006 

 
TABLE 7 

FRESHWATER PROJECT 
N AND ROYALTY INCOME FOR YEAR TO 30

Period Ore 
(Tonnes) 

G
(g/ ($) 

Milled rade 
t Au) 

Royalty 

UNDERGROUND ORE    
September 2005 Quarter   3 5 43 2,140 .37 44,0
December 2005 Quarter   4 74 64,925 .66 139,4
March 2006 Quarter   1 8 29 6,642 .03 90,3
June 2006 Quarter   3 5 98 0,173 .73 53,8
TOTAL UNDERGROUND 14 5 44 3,880 .43 327,7
 
Royalty income derived from open pit ore from November 1996 when the royalty was first established, to 

 2006 totals $3.0 million.  Gold ore treated during this period has been 4.03 million tonnes at an 
.  The royalty has averaged $11.58 

per nc
 

y y i ber 2001 when development of the Plutonic East mine 

eserves and Resources 
 
Barrick Gold has ad ound Ore Reserves 

 308,000 n additio se 
reshwater underground Min ces amo pproxi  mi  
8 g/t gold containing 590,50

ld also reported open pit Minera urces as at 31 December 2005, of 1.125 m s 
ontaining 91,100 ounc s of gold. 

erves and Mineral Resources f  Plutonic East and Area 4 ground re 
 and open pit Mineral Re ources are pr able 9. It should be n  in 

 the mineral resources are exclusive f those resou d to estimate the ore reserves. 

TABLE 8 

EA 4 UNDERGROUND 
A ERAL RESOURCES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005 

30 June
average grade of 2.08 g/t gold for the recovery of 259,065 ounces

ou e of gold produced.  

Ro
c

alt ncome for underground ore from Decem
ommenced, to 30 June 2006 amounts to $1,004,839.  Gold ore treated during this period has been 

362,139 tonnes at an average grade of 6.22g/t gold for the recovery of an estimated 67,000 ounces.  
The royalty has averaged $14.92 per ounce of gold produced  
 
R

vised that as at 31 December 2005 the Freshwater undergr
 tonnes grading 5.7g/t gold containing 56,300 ounces gold.  amounted to

reserves, F
I

mately 3.48
n to the

llion tonnese
0 ounces gold.   

ral Resour unted to a
grading 5.2
 
Barrick Go l Reso illion tonne
grading 2.52 g/t gold, c e
 
Ore Res or the under project a
presented in Table 8 s esented in T oted that
Table 8  o rces modifie
 

FRESHWATER PROJECT  
PLUTONIC EAST & AR

ST TEMENT OF ORE RESERVES AND MIN
Location Category Tonnes Grade 

g/t Au 
Contained  

Ounces 
Recoverable 

Ounces 
ORE RESERVES      
Plutonic East & Area 4 Proved 17,000 4.20 2,300 2,100 
 Probable 291,000 5.80 54,000 48,600 
      
Total Underground Ore Reserves  308,000 5.70 56,300 50,700 
      
MINERAL RESOURCES      
Plutonic East & Area 4 Indicated 453,000 5.16 75,200  
 Inferred 3,026,000 5.30 515,300  
      
Total Underground Resources  3,479,000 5.28 590,500  
 

ssessment Criteria - UndergrA ound Reserves: 

 
 Cut off Grades – Lower 3.0g/t Au, Upper 70g/t Au 
 Estimates at gold price of A$550 
 Density - Primary 2.8 

 Plutonic East Model 3 
 Mining Methods – Mechanised room and pillar, Long Hole and Airleg 
 Mining Recovery – Room and Pillar 90%, Long Hole 97%, Airleg 95% 
 Dilution - variable @ 0.1g/t Au 
 Metallurgical Recoveries – Primary 90%
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Assessment Criteria - Underground Resources
 Resource Method – Sectiona  interpolation constrained inside 

lodes 
 Block Model l 3 and Area 
 Drilling up to 30 October 2003 

ge and contains up to 2 metres intern l dilution 
metres 
ower 3.0g/t Au, Upper 70g/t A

ary: 2.8 
re – Indicated: 40m x 40m x 20m; Inferred: 80m x 80m  

ly 10m, 20m x 20m and 20m X ainder 80 0m 

OF MINERAL RESOURCES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005

 
: 

l Interpretation and ID2 grade

– Plutonic East Mode 4 Model 1 

 Dilution – no ed a
 Minimum width - 2
 Cut off Grades – L u 
 Density – Prim

e Search Sph x 40m
 Drill spacing – part  40m:rem m X 8

 
TABLE 9 

FRESHWATER PROJECT  
OPEN PIT PROJECTS 

STATEMENT  
Location Category Tonnes Grade Contained  

g/t Au Ounces 
Barramundi Indicated 37,000 3.09 3,700 
 Inferred 4,000 1.69 200 
Total Barramundi  41,000 2.93 3,900 
     
Salmon Indicated 761,000 2.29 56,000 
 Inferred 3,000 1.65 200 
Total Salmon  764,000 2.29 56,200 
     
Trout Indicated 252,000 3.09 25,000 
 Inferred 68,000 2.82 6,000 
Total Trout  320,000 3.03 31,000 
     
Total  Indicated 1,050,000 2.51 84,700 
Total  Inferred 75,000 2.71 6,400 
     
Total Open Pit Resources  1,125,000 2.52 91,100 

 
ssessment Criteria - Open Pit Resources 

 Resource Estimation Method  Barramundi – ID3. 
 Bench Height 3.0 m

 Mini y 95% 
ining Width – Salm n 3metres; rramundi 2

 Salmon - Low /t A  Upper - 15, 40g/t; Barramundi - Low r - 0.9g
/t 

 Densities – Salmon - Oxide - 1 nsitio .8,2.0,2.1,2.3,  2.6; 
– 2.1, Oxide – 1.8, T al 2.2, y 
 X 10m & 20m x 20m; Barramun

d as the r es remaining adjacent to mined pits within a A$600/ounce 

hese reserve and resource statem e b red r M allon, Geology
uperintendent for Barrick Gold of Australia Limited, who is a c mpetent erson as defined in the JORC

ployee of Barrick G trali ted. old of Australia
as consented in writing to the information being included in the form and context in which it appears. 

 Dev op
 
Barr  G en at the Trout open pit 
area 3 y of the Main lode grade 
wes f t entified in the mafic unit related to quartz veining and 
sulp e
 
No e lo rtaken on the Freshwater tenements during the year.  

 
A

 – Salmon – Ordinary Kriging:
etres 

 Dilution – undiluted 
 Minin  – Open Cut g Method

ng Recover
 Minimum M o Ba

u,
metres. 

 Cut off Grades –
Upper – 10, 15g

er - 0.9g e /t Au, 

.6,1.7, Tra nal - 1.7,1 Primary -
Barramundi – Laterite  
Drill spacing – Salmon 10m

ransition  Primar
di 20m X 2

– 2.4. 
0m 

 Resources are quote
optimised shell 

esourc

 
T ents hav een prepa by M atthew F  
S o p  
Code.  Mr Fallon is a full time em old of Aus a Limi  Barrick G  
h
 

el ment Drilling and Exploration 

ick old reported that during the year development drilling was undertak
metres were drilled to test the continuit. 1 0 RC holes aggregating 11,289 

t o he existing pit. Mineralisation has been id
hid s.  Several significant intersections were recorded.  

xp ration activity was unde
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(Gra e
 
The We  east of Gleneagle’s Fortnum Gold 
Proj  a ing lease and a mining lease application.  The granted mining 
leas t gold resource.  Gleneagle is 
earn ents by spending $500,000 on exploration. 
 
The a ers the Durack and Outback prospects, which host a modest gold 
resource ource comprises an 
indic and an inferred 

source of 180,000 tonnes grading 2.6g/t gold containing 15,100 ounces.   
 
During the year Gleneagle completed to test for extensions to mineralised 
zones within the known resource and ical understanding of the mineralised 
system.  Glene  more recent 
drilling with ation to be unde he upda ce. 
 

 IRON ORE  

 adopted an active strategy to pursue ot ects an jects oversea
ithin Australia.  

 February 2006, Grange Min . Bhd. a wholly o Malaysi bsidiary signe
nding w l Malaysian comp rance  Sdn. Bhd., 

evelop a small mine and processing plant at the ol iron ore mi Bukit Ibam, i
ia (See Figure 9). Grange re earning 51% oper esigned 

nt iron ore reserves and p ntrate for the pe coat dustry at Ku
n the east coast of Peni ar Malaysia and is 50kms south of Kemaman which
e proposed site for the Grange iron ore pellet pl ukit Iba ing Certifica

 on June 21, 2006 and pr  mine and pla tion we way at ye
 Minerals also plan to carr sive explorati re and commodities
am district and at the Sun  prospect to the s ilst at t me gene

venture operation. The Bukit Ib was a si producer
er of ore bodies which, collec n 196 970, produ

onnes of haematite and magnetite ore. In support of their increased activity Grange Minerals 

 
Appl icences within Malaysia have been made in the States of Kelantan 
and re or iron ore and gold. The proposed Licence areas are at Batu Melintang, 
Rus a  old mine areas and are considered advanced iron ore and gold 
pros ct e applications are currently being processed by the respective state 
gov
 

 
WEMBLEY 

ng  100%, Gleneagle Gold Limited (“Gleneagle”) Earning 80%) 

mbley Gold Project is located approximately 65km south
ect nd comprises one granted min
e covers the Durack and Outback prospects, which host a modes
ing an 80% interest in the tenem

 gr nted mining lease cov
 of 568,000 tonnes grading 2.3g/t gold (42,700 contained ounces).  The res

ated resource of 390,000 tonnes grading 2.2g/t gold containing 27,600 ounces 
re

 further RC and RAB drilling 
 to increase the geolog

agle advise that the resource estimate is to be upgraded to include the
 pit optimis rtaken on t ted resour

MALAYSIAN
 
The Company have her prosp d pro s and 
w
 
In erals Sdn

oca
wned an su d a 

Memorandum of Understa
enture and d

ith a l any, Espe Mining to joint 
nv d ne of  

Malays
mna

Minerals a  equity. The ation is d to mine 
re rovide conce

nsul
 local pi ing in antan. 

Kuantan is o
cation of th

 is the 
te waslo ant. The B m Min  

granted eparation to
n

nt construc
on f

re under ar end. 
 iGrange

ukit Ib
y out exte

ei Rama
or iron o
outh, w

other 
he sa

n the 
ratingB g h me ti  

cash flow through their joint 
ore concentrate from a numb

am district 
tively, betwee

gnificant 
2 and 1

 of iron 
ced 22 

million t
have opened a regional office in Kuantan. 

ications for other Exploration L
 Te ngganu to explore f
ila nd Bukit Panjang; all are in
pe s (see Figure 9). Thes

ernments. 
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Figure 9: Malaysian Project Locations 

 
OTHER EXPLORATION PROJECTS 
 
In addition to the above projects, the Company holds interests in several exploration projects in Western 
Australia and the Northern Territory. 
 
In the Wiluna District of Western Australia the Company holds a 10% free carried interest to a decision 
to mine or expenditure of $2 million in the Abercromby Well Joint Venture with MPI Nickel Pty Ltd.  
The tenement is prospective for gold mineralisation. 
 
During 2004 Grange entered into an option to a purchase agreement with Murchison Copper Mines Pty 
Ltd over the Horseshoe Lights Project, which has been exercised.  Subsequent to entering into the 
option agreement a plaint was lodged over the main mining lease at Horseshoe Lights (M52/743).  The 
plaint is being defended by Grange.  The transfer of ownership and management of the project have 
been delayed pending the outcome of the plaint hearings. 
 
Substantial resources of low-grade copper bearing material are present at Horseshoe Lights in 
stockpiles, dumps, tailings and in-situ hard rock resources.  Previous work has shown that the tailings 
and stockpiles are readily amenable to leaching.  The Company continues to seek opportunities to 
establish a copper leaching operation on site. 
 
Grange entered into option to purchase agreements during 2005 with Murchison Copper Mines Pty Ltd 
over the old Thaduna and Green Dragon copper mines located approximately 170km north east of 
Meekatharra in Western Australia.  Prior to entering into the option to purchase agreement, plaints were 
lodged over the Thaduna and Green Dragon mining leases.  The plaints are being defended by Grange.  
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Murchison Copper Mines has exercised its options but the transfer of ownership and management of the 
projects have been delayed pending the outcome of the plaint proceedings. 
 
The Company considers the stockpiles and tailings associated with the Thaduna mine represent 
potential feed to an operation that may be established at the Horseshoe Lights Mine to process low-
grade copper resources. 
 
The Company holds equity in several tenements in the Tennant Creek region in the Northern Territory.  
The most prospective area with potential to host a high-grade gold, copper, bismuth resource is the Mt 
Samuel prospect located approximately 6km south of Tennant Creek.  Access to the Mt Samuel 
property is currently not available due to the presence of an Aboriginal sacred site. In May 2006 the 
Company entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with Westgold Resources NL whereby 
Westgold could farm in on the tenements subject to it negotiating an Access agreement with the 
traditional custodians. 
 
 

26 



GRANGE RESOURCES LIMITED  
ABN 80 009 132 405 

ANNUAL REPORT 2006 

mited (“Grange” or 
he Company”) and its controlled entities (the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2006 (the “Balance 

 
s follows.  Directors were in office for the entire period unless otherwise stated. 

ames, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities 
 
Anthony Bohnenn 
Non-executive Chairman 
 
Mr Bohnenn was appointed as a director of Grange in November 2001 and subsequently elected as 
Chairman on 1 July 2002.  Mr Bohnenn has more than 25 years experience as Managing Director in the 
investment banking and financial services industries, with an emphasis in research and funds 
management.  Mr Bohnenn is based in the Netherlands and his main focus has been identifying 
investment opportunities in Australia, China and Asia. Mr Bohnenn is chairman of the Audit and 
Compliance Committee and Remuneration Committee.   
 
Geoffrey Lloyd Warburton Wedlock B.Sc. 
Managing Director 
 
Mr Wedlock was appointed managing director of Grange on 23 February 2005.  Mr Wedlock’s previous 
roles have included executive positions with BHP Billiton Limited, Portman Mining Limited and Western 
Metals Limited. Mr Wedlock has more than 35 years of experience in minerals exploration and project 
management.  During the past three years Mr Wedlock has also served as a director of the following 
listed public companies: 
 

 Western Metals Limited (2001 to 2003) 
 
Alexander Henry Nutter BSc., MSc., DIC., FAusIMM., MAIG. 
Technical Director 
 
Mr Nutter is a geologist and holds degrees from Southampton, Leeds and London universities.  He has 
over 30 years experience in mineral exploration, resource evaluation and mining geology in Australia, 
West Africa and the Asia-Pacific region.  He has held senior positions in the mining industry and has 
been responsible for the discovery and/or acquisition of several mineral resources for both international 
and Australian public companies. 
 
Richard Krasnoff  BEc., MBA., GAICD 
Non-executive Director 
 
Mr Krasnoff was appointed as a director of Grange on 16 June 2005.  Mr Krasnoff also serves on the 
Audit and Compliance Committee. Mr Krasnoff’s previous roles have included an executive position with 
Wesfarmers Limited and as a management consultant with McKinsey & Company for a period of ten 
years. Mr Krasnoff is a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and has completed a 
Master of Business Administration from the Harvard Business School.  During the past three years Mr 
Krasnoff has also served as a director of the following listed public companies: 
 

 Conquest Mining Limited (October 2004 to present) 
 
Hans Rudolf Moser  B.Com 
Non-executive Director 
 
Mr Moser is based in Switzerland with more than 20 years experience in the Swiss banking industry.  He 
has a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Basel in Switzerland.  Mr Moser manages a large 
European investment fund and has been an active investor in Australian companies for many years.  Mr  

 
 
DIRECTORS' REPORT 
 
Your Directors present their report with respect to the results of Grange Resources Li
“t
Date”) and the state of affairs of the Company and Group at Balance Date. 
 
DIRECTORS 
 
The names and details of the directors of the Company in office during the financial year and until the 
date of this report are a
 
N

27 



GRANGE RESOURCES LIMITED  
ABN 80 009 132 405 

ANNUAL REPORT 2006 
IRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

mmittee. He is currently also a Director of the following Australian 

 Oriel Communications Limited 

 B.Com. ACIS 

r Marston was appointed Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer of Grange on 21 July 2006. 

d 
nge of administration and management positions in several other industry sectors. 

ted Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer of Grange on 16 September 
achelor of Business undergraduate degree, with a major in Accountancy, 

btained from the Queensland University of Technology and is a Certified Practicing Accountant with 14 

ct interest of each director of the Company in the issued 

er 
 

     

 Nil Nil Nil 

00,000 1,500,000 1,000,000 

944,999 Nil Nil Nil Nil 

ear, no amount has been paid or declared by the Company by 

own Magnetite Project and 
Malaysian Pellet Project; 

 royalty income from production of gold; 
and evaluation; 

ash assets; and 

D
 
Moser serves on the Remuneration Co
publicly listed companies: 

 Adultshop.com Limited 
 
COMPANY SECRETARY 
 
Neil Andrew Marston
 
M
Mr Marston has a Bachelor of Commerce, obtained from Curtin University of Technology, WA. He has 
over 13 years experience in the mining/exploration industry together with 13 years experience in a broa
ra
 

ark Andrew Thomas Smith B.Bus., CPA, ACIS M
 
Mr Smith was appoin
2005. Mr Smith has a B
o
years post-graduate experience across a wide variety of industries. He has held senior financial 
positions with a number of Australian publicly listed companies in the resources sector. Mr Smith 
resigned on 21 July 2006. 
 
Director’s Shareholding Interests 
 
At the date of this report the direct or indire

e were: securities of Grang
  

 
 
 

 
Ordinary 
Shares 

$0.50 
Options over 

Ordinary 
Shares 

$1.25 
Options over 

Ordinary 
Shares 

$1.50 
Options over 

Ordinary 
Shares 

$2.50 
Options ov

Ordinary
Shares 

 

A Bohnenn 13,270,338 Nil 

G L W Wedlock 104,000 1,500,000 1,5

A H Nutter 

R Krasnoff 50,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil 

H R Moser 4,310,450 Nil Nil Nil Nil 
 
DIVIDENDS 
 
Since the end of the previous financial y
way of a dividend. 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 
The principal activities during the year of entities within the Group were: 
 

 conduct of a bankable feasibility study on development of the Southd

 sale of copper concentrate; 

 minerals exploration 
 investment of c
 administration of the Group. 
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The Group after providing for income tax amounted to $1.94 million 
005: loss $5. luded the following items of significance: 

 gross revenue generated from the export of copper concentrate from the Reward Deeps and 
 was $7.44 million; 

 royalty income generated from the Red Hill and Freshwater Projects for the year was $2.32 

w surplus of $4.13 million from operating activities largely 
e generated from settlement of the final shipments of copper 

oncentrate from the Reward Deeps and Conviction underground mine. 

duction in the cash flows from operating activities due to the cessation of 
 the Reward Deeps and Conviction Project.  The Company will continue to receive 

production of gold durin urrent finan
 
Liquidity a d funding 
 
During the financial year the Company ge ufficient cash reserves to fund its operations
consequence, the Company r mained debt free for the entire per d.  The Compan has sufficient funds 
to finance its current opera ons.  However, in the event the Company identifies new investm t 
oppor e res r, there m quirem to seek additi ing by e  
offering e ativel ing deb nation
 
Share ing th
 
In No  the Co rranged a share placement w haw Corpora nance Pty Lim  
and B comp  million fu d ordinary es at an issu ce of $1.35 e  
raisin ion. I  total of 4,285,715 fully pai ary shares sued follo  

e exercise of options at a price of $0.50 each, raising $2,142,857. 

isk Management 

 risk and ensuring that management’s objectives and activities are aligned with the 
xpectations and risk management policies identified by the Board.   

he Board believes that it is crucial for all directors to be part of this process, and as such the Board 
delegated this task to the Audit 

chieving these objectives: 

nd revised forecasts for the year are prepared regularly. 
onnel - All personnel are advised of the Company’s policies and 

king place on an ongoing basis. 
 identified and major activities are subject to regular 

us disclosure is a recurring agenda item at board meetings 
red on an ongoing basis by the Audit & Compliance Committee. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE YEAR  
 

 consolidated operating profit of
27 million).  The result inc

 the 
(2
 

Conviction underground mine

million; and 
 expenditure associated with mining operations at the Reward Deeps and Conviction 

underground mine totalled $4.54 million for the year including mining, transportation, milling, 
depreciation, amortisation and administration. 

 
REVIEW OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
 
Capital Structure 
 
The Company has a sound capital structure and as at the date of this report remains debt free. 
 
Cash from operations 
 
The Company experienced a cash flo
attributable to an increase in revenu
c
 
The Company expects a re
mining activities at
royalty income from g the c cial year. 

n

nerated s .  As a 
e
ti

io y 
en

tunities in th ources secto ay be a re ent onal fund ither
quity or altern y seek t or a combi  thereof.  

 issues dur e year 

vember 2005 mpany a ith S te Fi ited
BY Limited 

g $10.80 mill
rising of 8.0
n addition a

lly pai shar
d ordin

e pri
were is

ach
wing

th
 
R
 
The Board takes a proactive approach to risk management and is responsible for identifying areas of 
significant business
e
 
T
has not established a separate risk management committee but instead 
nd Compliance Committee of the Board.  The following controls assist in aa

 
 Financial Reporting - An annual budget is approved by directors. Quarterly actual results are 

reported against budget a
 Quality and Integrity of Pers

practices with performance appraisals ta
 Operational Reporting - Key areas

reporting to the board. 
tinuo Continuous Disclosure - Con

and is monitored and conside
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FAIRS 

 the issue of 8,000,000  fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of $1.35; 

 
SIG
 

n 15th orseshoe Lights Mining Lease M52/743 was 
21st July 2006 the plaintiffs obtained an order nisi from the 

Warden’s decision by the Court of Appeal. Grange through 
shoe Gold Mine Pty Ltd is opposing the order for judicial review and the matter is 

ely to be heard in early 2007. 

n the 7  July 2006 a meeting of the members of Murchison Copper Mines Pty Ltd was held at which 
 of the company were replaced by Geoffrey Lloyd Warburton Wedlock, 

 Limited to continue during the 
006/07 financial year from mining activities on the Freshwater leases. 

he Company expects royalty payments from Barrick (PD) Australia Limited to continue during the 

roject approvals expected by mid 

REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE 

terials and rehabilitation of mine 

nissue
 
As a e
 

30 June 2008 $1.50 1,500,000 
30 June 2011 $2.50 1,000,000 

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AF
 
Shareholders’ equity increased $14.76 million or 77.1% during the financial year from $19.15 million to 
$33.88 million.  Factors contributing to this increase included the following: 

 the issue of 4,285,715 fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.50 pursuant to the 
exercise of options; and 

 the profit from ordinary activities of $1.94 million. 

NIFICANT EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE 

 June 2006 the plaint for forfeiture of the HO
dismissed in the Warden’s Court. On 

upreme Court for the judicial review of the S
its subsidiary Horse
lik
 

thO
the incumbent directors
Alexander Henry Nutter and Derek Macauley. The new Directors intend to evaluate the development of 
a copper tailings and stockpiles treatment operation at the Horseshoe Lights Mine as soon as the 
matters on Mining Lease M52/743 are favourably resolved. 
 
LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS  
 
The Company expects royalty payments from Barrick Gold of Australia
2
 
T
2006/07 financial year from mining activities at the Red Hill Gold Mine. 
 
Grange will continue to focus on completion of the Bankable Feasibility Study on development of the 
Southdown Magnetite and Kemaman Pellet Project with the outstanding technical aspects of the study 
argeted for completion by the end of 2006 with environmental and pt
2007. 
 
Grange will continue to pursue further growth opportunities in the resources sector with particular 
emphasis on iron ore, manganese and coal deposits located in South East Asia including Malaysia and 
Indonesia.   
 
ENVIRONMENTAL 
 
The mining and exploration tenements held by the Group contain environmental requirements and 
conditions that the entities must comply with in the course of normal operations.  These conditions and 
regulations cover the management of the storage of hazardous ma
sites.  There have been no significant known breaches of the Group’s environmental obligations. 
 
SHARE OPTIONS 
 
U d Shares 

t th  date of this report unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option are:  

 
Option Expiry Date 

 
Exercise Price 

Number of Fully  
Paid Shares 

   
30 June 2007 $0.50 1,500,000 
30 June 2007 $1.25 1,500,000 
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d ordinary shares under options. During the financial 
ge Resources Limited Directors’ and Officers’ Option 

pate in any share issue of the 
Com
 
Shares exercise of options 
 

uring the financial year 4,285,715 options were converted to ordinary shares at an exercise price of 

olicies, which cover all directors and officers of the Group.  The policy 
onditions preclude the Group from any detailed disclosures. 

emuneration philosophy 

he performance of the Company largely depends upon the quality of its directors and executives.  To 

wing principles in formulating its 
muneration framework: 

 link executive rewards to shareholder value; and  

muneration Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for determining 
nd reviewing compensation arrangements for the directors, the managing director and executive team.  

 
 

keholder benefit from the retention of a high quality board and executive team. 

ument in a variety of forms, including 
ash and fringe benefits, such as motor vehicles and expense payment plans.  It is intended that the 

se 
lating to profitability, cash flow, share price growth and individual performance. 

ture 

e director and 

Non-e uneration  
 
Objective 
The Board se regate remuneration at a hich provides the Comp e ability 
to attract an rs of the highest calibre t incurring a cost whic able to 
shareholders

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
At the Balance Date there were 5,500,000 unissue
ear no options were issued pursuant to the Grany

Plan.  
 
Option holders do not have any right, by virtue of the option, to partici

pany or related body corporate. 

issued as a result of the 

D
$0.50 per share. 
 
Since Balance Date there have been no further options exercised. 
 
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS  
 
The Group has paid premiums totalling $26,620 in respect of Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance 
and Company Reimbursement p
c
 
REMUNERATION REPORT 
 
This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for directors and executives of Grange 
Resources Limited. 
 
R
 
T
prosper the Company must be able to attract, motivate and retain directors and executives with the 
appropriate skills.  To achieve this, the Company adheres to the follo
re
 

 provide competitive rewards to attract high calibre executives; 

 establish performance hurdles in relation to variable executive remuneration. 
 
Remuneration committee and remuneration policy 
 
The Re
a
The Remuneration Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration 
of directors and senior executives on an annual basis by reference to relevant employment market
conditions and considers advice from external consultants with the overall objective of ensuring

aximum stam
 
Executives are given the opportunity to receive their base emol
c
manner of payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient without creating undue cost for the Group. 
 
To assist in achieving these objectives, the Remuneration Committee links the nature and amount of 
executive directors’ and officers’ emoluments to their individual performance and the Group’s financial 
and operational performance.  The criteria considered by the remuneration committee include tho
re
 
Remuneration struc
 
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executiv
senior executive remuneration is separate and distinct. 
 

xecutive director rem

eks to set agg level w any with th
d retain directo , whils h is accept
. 
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s shall be determined from time to time by a general meeting.  An amount not exceeding the 
mount determined is then divided between the directors as agreed.  The latest determination was at 

proved by shareholders and the manner in 
hich it is apportioned amongst directors is reviewed annually.  The board considers advice from 

nnual review process. 

An additional fee may be payable for 
ach board committee on which a director sits which recognises the additional time required by directors 

ional fees paid to directors 

ces Limited Directors’ and Officers’ 
centives where specified criteria are met. 

r executive remuneration  

pany performance against targets set by reference to appropriate 

. 

y the Remuneration Committee and the process consists of a 
ndividual performance, relevant comparative remuneration in the market and internal policies 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Structure 
The Constitution and ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of non-executive 
director
a
the Annual General Meeting held on 4 November 1999 when shareholders approved an aggregate 
remuneration of $150,000 per year. 
 
The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be ap
w
external consultants as well as fees paid to non-executive directors of comparable companies when 
undertaking the a
 
Each director receives a fee for being a director of the Company.  
e
who serve on one or more sub committees.  At this time there are no addit

ho serve on sub committees. w
 
Non-executive directors are not required to hold shares in the Company, however it is considered good 
governance for directors to have a stake in the Company whose board on which they sit.  The non-
xecutive directors are entitled to participate in the Grange Resoure

Option Plan which provides in
 
The remuneration of non-executive directors for the period ending 30 June 2006 is outlined in Table 1 of 
this report. 
 
Executive director and senio
 
Objective 
The Company aims to reward executives with a level and combination of remuneration commensurate 
with their position and responsibilities within the Company that: 
 

 reward executives for Com
benchmarks; 

holders  align the interests of executives with those of share
 link reward with the strategic goals and performance of the Company; and  
 ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards. 

 
tructure S

In determining the level and components of executive remuneration, the Remuneration Committee 
considers independent advice from external consultants in the form of reports detailing market levels of 
remuneration for comparable executive roles. 
 
It is the policy of the Remuneration Committee that employment contracts are entered into with all 
executive directors and senior executives. 
 
Remuneration consists of the following elements: 
 

 Fixed remuneration 
 Variable remuneration (which includes short term and long term incentive) 

 
The proportion of fixed remuneration and variable remuneration including incentives is established for 
each senior executive by the Remuneration Committee.  Table 2 of this report details the fixed and 
variable components of the 5 most highly remunerated senior executives. 
 
Fixed Remuneration 
 
Objective 
The level of fixed remuneration is established to provide a base level of remuneration which is both 
ppropriate to the component and competitive in the marketa

 
ixed remuneration is reviewed annually bF

review of i
and practices.  As noted previously, the Remuneration Committee may consider advice from external 
consultants who are independent of management. 
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entive (STI) 

tructure 

ution. 

perational targets that senior executives have been striving to achieve during the period have been: 

sibility study; 
 Completion of Resource drilling at Southdown; 

l Review documentation; 
 Completion of negotiations for the Southdown slurry pipeline easement; 

uccessful negotiation of a Pioneer Status package for the Kemaman Pellet Plant, and 

ariable Remuneration – Long Term Incentive (LTI) 
 
Objectiv
The je  manner that aligns this element of 
rem r
 

tructure 
 to executives are delivered in the form of an entitlement to participate in the Grange 

k remuneration with the attainment of key performance 
urdles in particular with the development of projects.  The use of this performance based program 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Structure  
Senior executives are given the opportunity to receive their fixed remuneration in a variety of forms 
including cash and fringe benefits.  The manner of payment chosen is optimal for the recipient without 
creating any undue cost for the Company. 
 
Variable Remuneration – Short Term Inc
 
Objective 
The objective of the STI program is to link the achievement of the Company’s operational targets with 
the remuneration received by the executives responsible for meeting those targets. 
 
S
Actual STI payments granted to senior executives depend on the extent to which specific operating 
targets set from time to time are met.  The operational targets consist of both financial and non financial 
measures of performance.  Typically included are measures such as net profit after tax, risk 
management and overall contrib
 
The aggregate STI payments available for executives are subject to the approval of the Remuneration 
Committee with payments usually made as a cash bonus. 
 
Operational Targets 
O

 Satisfactory completion of the Southdown Magnetite and Kemaman Pellet Plant bankable 
fea

 Lodgement of the Southdown Public Environmenta

 S
 Acquisition of a suitable iron ore or coal project in Malaysia or elsewhere in SE Asia. 

 
V

e 
 ob ctive of the LTI program is to reward senior executives in a
une ation with the creation of long term shareholder wealth. 

S
LTI grants
Resources Limited Directors’ and Officers’ Option Plan. 
 
The Company utilises the LTI program to lin
h
ensures an alignment between comparative shareholder return and reward for executives.  
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Table 1: Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 Ju
 

  h r
y

  Salary
Fee

h 
s 

on h
Bo p  l rma  

ted

  $  $   

Directors   

A Bohnenn 2006 6 - ,20 - 

Non-Executive Chairman 2005 5 - ,66 - 

    

R Krasnoff 2006  ,16 - 

Non-Executive Director 2005  ,88 - 

    

A H Nutter 2006 10 ,00 1 ,578 6.71% 

Technical Director 2005 9   1 ,551 - 

      

G L W Wedlock  2006 31  ,00 ,375 54.40% 

Managing Director 2005 22  2 ,004 - 

      

H R Moser 2006 2 - - ,00 - 

Non-Executive Director 2005 2 - - ,00 - 

      

Former      

A Rankine-Wilson 2006 - - - - - 

 2005 379,  - 2  ,533 - 

ne 2006 

S

 &  
s 

8,206

6,667

-

-

0,856

9,899

7,702

5,692

3,000

3,000
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Table 2: Remuneration of the 6 named executives who received the highest remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2006 

  Employme ased
ents   

Sal
F

Cash 
Bonus

n Ca
Bonus Othe r’n ns l  

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $  

s        

      

 Hall 2006 59,022 5,000 - 
   

-   119,255 - 193, 77 7.76%

ss Development 2005 - - 
   

-   - - -  

      

N Marston 2006 129,327 0,000 - 
   

-   11,639 - 160,966 12.42% 

ary  5 87,40 - - 
   

-   7,866 - 0 

      

    

 Bryant 2006 144,337 0,000 - 
   

-   12,669 - 167, 06 5.99%

ior Geologist 2  93,23 - - 
   

-   8,158 - 88 

       

B Chau 2006 69,431 - - 
   

4,906  4,702 - 159, 39 

2  68,512 - - 
   

-   6,166 - 8 - 

 
 

  Short Term Post nt Share-B
Paym

  ary & 
ees  

No sh r Supe Optio  Tota % Performance
Related 

 

Executive   

Current    

S 1 2  

GM: Busine - -

    

2

GM: Commercial  
& Company Secret 200 4 95,27 - 

    

Former      

C 1 0  

Former Sen 005 0 101,3 - 

   

8 0 - 

Former Group 
Financial Accountant 005 74,67
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  Short Term  Post Employment Share-Based
Payments   

  Salary & 
Fees Bonus 

Non Cash 
Bonus Other Super’n  Total % Performance 

Related 

     $  

 Smith 2006 44,154 0 - 
   

-   81,154 - 08 7.39% 

pany Secretary 2005 - - - 
 

iris                     
 

 121,333    36,17   157,510  

otes: 
nless otherwise disclosed, the b ing of rting s 1 July 2005 (2 05: 1 July 20 . Where a Dire Executive was a point  the year, the ng 

of the reporting period is the da oint
therwise disclosed, the end of the reporting period is 30 June 2006 (2005: 30 June 2 05). Where a Director or Executive resigned during the year, the end of the 

d is the date of res n. 

Cash Options

$ $ $ $ $ $ 

M 10,00 135,3
Former 
CFO & Com  

  
-   - - -  

A Pism
Former

2006 45,364 - - -   21,310 - 66,674 - 

CFO & Company Secretary 
 

2005 - - - 7 - -

N
i. U eginn

te of app
 the repo

ment; 
period i 0 04) ctor or p ed during  beginni

ii. Unless o 0
reporting perio ignatio
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Employment with Directors and Executi  
 
Except as dis ed below, the following Directors an xecutives are employed under contracts of 
employment for periods of  three s: 
 

 A Nut Technical Director) 
 e s velo n
 N Marston (Gener anager al and C any Secretary) 
 M Muirhead (Group Accountant) 

 
The employment contracts ha ing: 
 

rtic on e Grange Staff Bonus Sche  b  a share pf the bonus pool as determined 
 the Remuneration Committee and Board of the Company. 

 Executive may resign from t position and thus terminate their employment 
agreement by providing three months written ic

 On resignation any options i fo ited. 
he company ma rminate  loym ag ment by providing three months written 
otice or by provi  payme r lesse  t e months or the unexpired period of this 
gree t in lieu of giving no  gree t hen terminate upon such payment being 
ade
he company may terminate ontract a without notice if serious misconduct has 
ccur Where termination w ause occ th rector or Executive is only entitled to that 
ortion of remuneration that is d, and onl  t  date of termination. On termination with 
ause any unvested options w ediately

 
Managing Director 
 
The Managing ect r Wedlock is employed r contract. The current employment contract 
commenced o 005 and terminates on e ry 2008, at which time the Group may 
choose to enter into a new employment contract with Mr We ck. 
 

 Mr W ock receives fixed remuneration of $ ,0 er annum plus 9% superannuation. 
 The contract provides for participation in the Grange Staff Bonus Scheme being a share of the 

bonu  as determined by the Remunerat C ittee and Board of the Company. 
 Follo he agreement entered into by M d the Company on 26 April 2005 and 

follow  shareholder approval, Mr Wedloc s ted the following option package on 29 
pril 2004: 

 
0 0 incentive options ex t $0.50 on or before 30 June 2007.  
0 0 incentive options exercis or before 30 June 2007. 

These unlisted options will no st l Mr Wedlock has achieved Southdown 
project commencement  
1,50 0 n exercis or before 30 June 2008. 
These unlisted n ill no l Mr Wedlock has achieved Southdown 

ect approval
1,000,000 incentive options e or before 30 June 2011. 
These unlisted options will not  Wedlock has achieved a payment of 
$0.0 d . 

 Mr Wedlock may gn from  tion a inate his employment agreement by 
providing three months w n c

 On resignatio y options will be forfeited. 
 The company may terminate this employm  by providing three months written 

notice or by providing payment for the lesse onths or the unexpired period of this 
agreement in lieu of giving notice, the agree n terminate upon such payment being 
made. 

 The company may termi  the c ct a out notice if serious misconduct has 
occurred. Where termin ith cause oc aging Director is only entitled to that 
portion of remuneration is fixed d onl te of termination. On termination with 
ause  unvested opti will im ately

 
Value of Options Granted to Directors an ecuti
 
No options were granted, e rin yea

 LIM
 40
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ently 
, which takes into account factors including the option exercise 

ric th  underlying share price, the risk free interest rate, expected 
divid d  underlying share and the expected life of the 
opti  S cial years ending 30 June 
200

2006 2005 

Divi d

Exp

Risk e 5.15% 5.15% 

Exp
 
DIRECTORS' MEETINGS 
 
The num
and the 

Director 
Directors 
Meetings 

Meetings of 
Committees 

1 

Number
A Bohne
R K n
H R Mos
A H utt 5 n/a n/a 
G L W Wedlo
A C Pismiris 1

M A T Smith 2

 
Notes: 
1. Mr Pismiris was th
2. Mr Smith  the
 
Other directors and m
Rem
member  included in the Corporate Governance Statement. 
 
COR
 
In recog
financial he directors of Grange Resources Limited support and have adhered to the principles of 
corp t
report. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Fair Value of Options 
 
From 1 July 2004, options granted as part of Director and Executive emoluments have been independ
alued using the Binomial Valuation Modelv

p e, e current level and volatility of the
en s on the underlying share, current market price of the

on. ee below for the assumptions used for grants made during the finan
5 and 30 June 2006: 

 
 

den  yield 0% 0% 

ected volatility 50% 50% 

-fre  interest rate 

ected life of option 1,2,5 years 1,2,5 years 

 
ber of meetings of directors including meetings of committees of the Board held during the year 

number of meetings attended by each director was as follows: 
 

 

  Audit & 
Compliance 

 
Remuneration 

Number of Meetings held 5 3 
    

 of meetings attended    
nn  5 3 1 

ras off 5 1 n/a 
er nil nil 1 
er N

ck  5 n/a n/a 
 1 n/a n/a 
 4 3 n/a 

e Company Secretary and was not a member of the Board. 
 was  Company Secretary and was not a member of the Board. 

embers of management may attend meetings of the Audit and Compliance and 
uneration Committee at the invitation of the Chairman.  The details of the functions and 

ship of the committees of the Board are

PORATE GOVERNANCE 

nising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, during the 
period t

ora e governance.  The Company’s corporate governance statement is contained on page 41 of this 
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Tax compliance services $156,019 
  

ENDENCE 

Corporations Act 2001 requires our auditors, Ernst & Young, to provide the 
sources Limited with an Independence Declaratio to th  
ements. This Independence Declaration is attache ctor  

rms part of the Directors’ Report. 

n made in accordance with a resolution of Directors. 

___________________________ 
Geoff L W Wedlock 
Managing D
 
29 September 2006 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
NON AUDIT SERVICES
 
The following non-audit services were provided by the Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young.  The directors 
are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of 
independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act.  The nature and scope of each type of non-
audit service means that auditor independence was not compromised.   
 
Ernst & Young received or are due to receive the following amounts for the provision of non-audit 
services: 
 

  
 
AUDITOR’S INDEP
 
Section 307C of the 
Directors of Grange Re
attached Financial Stat

n in relation 
d to this Dire

e audit of the
s’ Report and

fo
 
This report has bee
 
 
 
_

irector 
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Grange 
Resources Limited 

he financial report of Grange Resources Limited for the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
In relation to our audit of t
financial year ended 30 June 2006, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have 
been no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional conduct. 
 

 
 
Ernst & Young 
 

 
 
V W Tidy 
Partner 
Perth 
29 September 2006 
 
 
 
 

40 



GRANGE RESOURCES LIMITED  
ABN 80 009 132 405 

ANNUAL REPORT 2006 

41 

ORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  
he Board of Directors of Grange Resources Limited is responsible for the corporate governance of the 
ompany.  The Board guides and monitors the business activities and affairs of the Company on behalf 
 the shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they are accountable. 

 Board of Directors 

1 Role of the Board 

st act in 
age the 

the stated objectives of the Company.   

the 

 Conduct to guide the Directors in 
e performance of their roles.     

1. Composition of the Board 

Company, the Board has been formed so that it has effective composition, size and 
uately discharge it responsibilities and duties.  The names of the Directors and their 

ualifications and experience are set out in the Director’s Report.  Directors are appointed based on 
their experience and on the independence of their decision-making and judgment. 

 
The Company’s Constitution provides for the appointment of a minimum number of directors as three 
and up to a maximum of eight. Currently the Company has five directors comprising two executive 

rectors and on-executive directors. The Constitution does not require a shareholding 
r directors.  

any recognises the importance of Non-Executive Directors and the external perspective and 
e Directors can offer.  Messrs A Bohnenn, R Krasnoff and H R Moser are Non-
addition to being Non-Executive Mr Krasnoff and Mr Moser also meet the 

llowing criteria for independence adopted by the Company.  
n Independent Director: 

) is a Non-Executive Director and: 

(ii) is not a substantial shareholder of the Company or an officer of, or otherwise associated directly 
with, a substantial shareholder of the Company; 

(iii) within the last three years has not been employed in an executive capacity by the Company or 
another group member, or been a Director after ceasing to hold any such employment; 

(iv) is not a principal of a material professional adviser or a material consultant to the Company or 
another group member, or an employee materially associated with the service provided; 

(v) is not a material supplier or customer of the Company or another group member, or an officer of or 
otherwise associated directly or indirectly with a material supplier or customer; 

(vi) has no material contractual relationship with the Company or other group member other than as a 
Director of the Company;  

(vii) has not served on the Board for a period which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, 
materially interfere with the Director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Company; and 

(viii) is free from any interest and any business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably 
be perceived to, materially interfere with the Director’s ability to act in the best interests of the 
Company. 

 
Mr Bohnenn, the Non-executive Chairman of the Company does not meet the Company’s criteria for 
independence as a consequence of his substantial shareholding in Grange and the marketing and 

 
C
 
T
C
of
 
1.

1.

The Board’s current role is to collectively govern and manage the Company.  The Directors mu
the best interests of the Company as a whole.  It is the role of the Board to govern and man
Company in accordance with 

In carrying out its governance role, the main task of the Board is to drive the performance of 
Company.  The Board must also ensure that the Company complies with all of its contractual, statutory 
and any other legal obligations, including the requirements of any regulatory body.  The Board has the 
final responsibility for the successful operations of the Company.  

To assist the Board carry out its functions, it has developed a Code of
th

2 

To add value to the 
commitment to adeq
q

di  three n
qualification fo
 

mpThe Co
advice that Non-Executiv
Executive Directors.  In 
fo
A

(i
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g & Beheer b.v. However, Mr 
ard such that it is appropriate 

ener ble for, and has the authority to determine, all matters relating to the 
ies, pr d operations of the Company.  It is required to do all things that may 
eces rder to carry out the objectives of the Company.   

 establishing codes that reflect the 

g effective communications with shareholders through an 
appr y and promoting participation at general meetings of the 

mance of executives and monitoring the performance of senior management 
plementation of the Company’s strategy. 

 

g appropriate powers to the Company’s 
e the effective day-to-day management of the Company and establishing and 

tions of any Committees of the Board. 

Unde ber of Directors is three. At each Annual General 

themselv

1

Direc ht reasonably 

as ma ary and reasonable steps to remove any conflict of interest. 

If a D r the 

matte
 
.5.2 Commitments 

public relations services agreement Grange has with Hendygwyn Holdin
Bohnenn’s experience and background makes his contribution to the Bo
for him to retain his position. 

 
1.3 Responsibilities of the Board 
 
In g al, the Board is responsi
polic actices, management an
be n sary to be done in o

Without intending to limit this general role of the Board, the principal functions and responsibilities of the 
Board include the following.   

(i) Leadership of the Organisation:  overseeing the Company and
values of the Company and guide the conduct of the Board, management and employees. 

(ii) Strategy Formulation:  working to set and review the overall strategy and goals for the Company 
and ensuring that there are policies in place to govern the operation of the Company. 

(iii) Overseeing Planning Activities: overseeing the development of the Company’s strategic plan and 
approving that plan as well as the annual and long-term budgets. 

(iv) areholder Liaison:  ensurin
opriate communications polic

Sh

Company. 

(v) Monitoring, Compliance and Risk Management:  overseeing the Company’s risk management, 
compliance, control and accountability systems and monitoring and directing the financial and 
operational performance of the Company. 

(vi) Company Finances:  approving expenses in excess of those approved in the annual budget and 
approving and monitoring acquisitions, divestitures and financial and other reporting. 

(vii) Human Resources:  appointing, and, where appropriate, removing executives as well as 
reviewing the perfor
in their im

(viii) Ensuring the Health, Safety and Well-Being of Employees:  in conjunction with the senior 
management team, developing, overseeing and reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s
occupational health and safety systems to ensure the well-being of all employees. 

ority:  where appropriate delegatin(ix) Delegation of Auth
executives to ensur
determining the powers and func

1.4 Term of Office 

r the Company’s Constitution, the minimum num
Meeting, one third of the Directors (excluding the Managing Director) must resign, with Directors 
resigning in rotation based on the date of their appointment. Directors resigning by rotation may offer 

es for re-election. 

1.5  Board Policies 

1.5.  Conflicts of Interest 

tors must disclose to the Board actual or potential conflicts of interest that may or mig
be thought to exist between the interests of the Director and the interests of any other parties in carrying 
out the activities of the Company and if requested by the Board, within seven days or such further period 

y be permitted, take such necess

 
irector cannot or is unwilling to remove a conflict of interest then the Director must, as pe

Corporations Act, absent himself or herself from the room when discussion and/or voting occurs on 
rs about which the conflict relates.   

1
Each member of the Board is committed to spending sufficient time to enable them to carry out their 
duties as a Director of the Company. 
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In accordance with legal requirements and agreed ethical standards, Directors and key executives of the 
pan ial, information received in the course of the exercise of their 

uties and will not disclose non-public information except where disclosure is authorised or legally 

formation to the ASX as well as communicating with the ASX.  In 
ord

 
the price or value of the Company’s securities; and 

 

Upon ation disclosed in accordance 
with this po blic. 

1.5.5 
 

 D
Inform

 Director with an outline of the qualities required to 

 ons;  

 

 

 ing anticipated 

 

  Company;  

titution of the Company. 

nal Advice 
ach Director has the right to seek independent professional advice at the 

nd 
ill be reported in writing to each Board meeting.  Unless there is an exemption under the Corporations 

ation 

 

1.5.3 Confidentiality 

Com y have agreed to keep confident
d
mandated. 

1.5.4 Continuous Disclosure 
 
The Board has designated the Company Secretary as the person responsible for overseeing and 
coordinating disclosure of in
acc ance with the ASX Listing Rules, the Company immediately notifies the ASX of information: 

concerning the Company that a reasonable person would expect to have a material effect on 

that would, or would be likely to, influence persons who commonly invest in securities in 
deciding whether to acquire or dispose of the Company’s securities. 

confirmation of receipt from the ASX, the Company posts all inform
licy on the Company’s website in an area accessible by the pu

 
Education and Induction 

New irectors undergo an induction process in which they are given a full briefing on the Company.  
ation conveyed to new Directors includes: 

details of the roles and responsibilities of a 
be a successful Director;  

formal policies on Director appointment as well as conduct and contribution expectati

details of all relevant legal requirements; 

a copy of the Board Charter; 

 guidelines on how the Board processes function; 

details of past, recent and likely future developments relating to the Board includ
regulatory changes; 

background information on and contact information for key people in the organisation including 
an outline of their roles and capabilities; 

an analysis of the

 a synopsis of the current strategic direction of the Company including a copy of the current 
strategic plan and annual budget; and 

 a copy of the Cons

 
1.5.6 Independent Professio
The Board collectively and e
Company’s expense, up to specified limits, to assist them to carry out their responsibilities.   

 
1.5.7 Related Party Transactions 

ed party transactions include any financial transaction between a Director and the Company aRelat
w
Act from the requirement to obtain shareholder approval for the related party transaction, the Board 
cannot approve the transaction.  

 
1.5.8 Shareholder Communic
The Company respects the rights of its shareholders and to facilitate the effective exercise of those 
rights the Company is committed to: 
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) communicating effectively with shareholders through releases to the market via ASX, the 

information mailed to shareholders and the general meetings of the 

g it easy for shareholders to participate in general meetings of the Company; and 

r to attend the annual general meeting and be available to answer 
shareholder questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the 

1.5.9 

The m
to tra e 
these disc

 on such entity comes to 
e attention of the director by virtue of holding office as a director of the Company. 

ed by Directors and employees of Grange: 

t by 
Grange, if the employee is aware that it is likely that such an announcement will be made. 

d for the purpose of short term speculation. 
ed or sold at other times (subject to additional disclosure 

requirements established by the Board). 

In additi
securitie sion of unpublished price sensitive information concerning the Company.  
Unp ishe
awa
Compan
Noti o  given prior to trading in the Company’s securities as well as a 
con a
compl ti
advises 
1.5.

he Board intends to conduct an evaluation of its performance periodically.  There was no evaluation 

In accordance with the Board’s policy, the Comp y Secretary is required to make the attestations 
 Governance Council as to the Company’s financial condition prior 

mittees which have been established to consider particular issues and 
trategies in order to advise and guide the Board. Committees are also established as the need arises. 

 was in place for the entire reporting period and operates under a 
charter approved by the Board.  It is the Board’s responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control 

(i
Company’s website, 
Company; 

(ii) giving shareholders ready access to balanced and understandable information about the 
Company and corporate proposals;  

(iii) makin

(iv) requesting the external audito

auditor’s report.   

The Company also makes available a telephone number and email address for shareholders to make 
enquiries of the Company. 

Trading in Company Shares 

 Co pany has a Share Trading Policy under which Directors are required to discuss their intention 
d in the Company’s securities with the Chairman prior to trading. Consideration will be given in 

ussions to any special circumstances (eg financial hardship).   
 
Directors must not trade in the shares of any other entity if inside information
th
 

he following guidelines are to be observT
 Securities may be purchased or sold immediately following the release of Grange’s, half-yearly 

and final results (“results announcements”) (subject to observing the additional approval 
requirements set out below). 

 Securities should not be purchased or sold during the two week period preceding any results 
announcements. 

 Securities should not be purchased or sold preceding any material ASX announcemen

 Securities should not be purchased or sol
 Securities may be purchas

 
on, consistent with the law, designated officers are prohibited from trading in the Company’s 
s while in the posses

ubl d price sensitive information is information regarding the Company of which the market is not 
re and that a reasonable person would expect to have a material effect on the price or value of the 

y’s securities. 
ce f an intention to trade must be
firm tion that the person is not in possession of any unpublished price sensitive information.  The 

e on of any such trade by a Director must also be notified to the Company Secretary who in turn 
the ASX. 

10 Performance Review/Evaluation 
T
conducted during the financial year.     

1.5.11 Attestations by Company Secretary 

an
recommended by the ASX Corporate
to the Board signing this Annual Report. 

2. Board Committees 

The Board currently has two com
s
 
2.1 Audit & Compliance Committee 
 
The audit and compliance committee
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ew
proces
of fina ation. The Board has delegated the responsibility for the establishment and 

 ence, quality and extent of the total audit effort; 
 ompany 

 

ents.  
uditors. 

 review and implement risk management and internal control structures appropriate to the 

Boh n
to July 2
when he ff.  
 
Qualific d compliance committee members 
 
A Bohne
financ l
 
H R
technolo
 

e has held senior financial positions with a number of Australian publicly listed 

mum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality 
utives fairly and appropriately with reference to relevant 

he Company’s performance.  The outcome of the remuneration 
structure is: 

y’s remuneration philosophy and framework and the remuneration 
 in the reporting period refer to the remuneration report, which is 

 to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in respect 
tabl els and incentive policies for executives. 

fram ork exists within the Company to deal with the effectiveness and efficiency of business 
ses, the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records and the reliability 
ncial inform

maintenance of the internal control framework and ethical standards to the audit and compliance 
committee.  The committee’s responsibilities include the following: 

oversee and appraise the independ
perform an independent overview of the financial information prepared by C
management for shareholders and prospective  shareholders; 
evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company ’s and the Group ’s risk management 
and financial control, and other internal control systems and evaluate the operation thereof; 
and 

 review and endorse the annual and half year attestation statements in accordance with 
regulatory requirem

 the appointment of external a

needs of Grange. 
 monitor compliance issues applicable laws and regulations, particularly compliance with the 

Stock Exchange Listing Rules; 
 review all public releases to the ASX of material consequence, prior to release to the market; 

and 
 review of Corporate Governance Practices.   

 
The members of the Audit and Compliance Committee throughout the reporting period were Mr A 

nen . Mr M A T Smith was a member of the Audit and Compliance Committee from September 2005 
006.  Mr H R Moser was a member of the Audit and Compliance Committee until February 2006 
was replaced by Mr R Krasno

ations of audit an

nn has more than 25 years experience as Managing Director in the investment banking and 
ia  services industries, with an emphasis in research and funds management. 

 Moser is a Director of a number of Australian publicly listed companies in the resource and 
gy sectors.   

R Krasnoff previous roles have included an executive position with Wesfarmers Limited and as a 
management consultant with McKinsey & Company for a period of ten years.  He has also served as a 
director of listed public companies in Australia. 
 
 M A T Smith is a Certified Practicing Accountant with 14 years post-graduate experience across a wide 
variety of industries. H
companies in the resources sector. 
 
2.2 Remuneration Committee 
 
It is the Company’s objective to provide maxi
board by remunerating directors and exec
market conditions.  To assist in achieving this objective, the Board attempts to link the nature and 
amount of executives’ emoluments to t

 
 the retention and motivation of key executives; 
 attraction of quality personnel with appropriate expertise; and 
 performance incentives that allow executives to share the rewards of the success of Grange. 

 
For a full discussion of the Compan
received by directors and executives
contained within the Directors’ Report. 
 
2.2.1 Role 
The role of the Remuneration Committee is
f es ishing appropriate remuneration levo
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2.3 

Any
committe mpany seal to documents that 
lega

2.4  ination Committee 

The e
Comp
Subj t 
crite f
experien e conduct of the Company’s activities. 
 
The Con hereby directors may be removed from the board. Similarly 
sha ol
 
In a otation of directors which ensures that directors 
ee - ree years. 

2.2.2 Composition 
The members of the Remuneration Committee throughout the reporting period were Mr A Bohnenn and 
Mr H R Moser. 
 

Seal Committee 

 two directors and the Company Secretary of the Company can participate on this committee.  The 
e has the responsibility of approving the application of the Co

lly bind the Company. 

Nom

 Dir ctors have elected not to appoint a Nomination Committee due to the scale and nature of the 
y’s activities. an

c to the provision of the Company’s Coe nstitution, the issues of board composition and selection 
ria or directors are dealt with by the full board.  The board continues to have the mix of skills and 

ce necessary for th

stitution provides for events w
reh ders have the ability to nominate, appoint and remove directors. 

ddition, the Constitution provides for the regular r
k re election by shareholders at least once every ths

 
Given these existing regulatory requirements, directors are not appointed for a specified term and 
directors’ continuity of service is in the hands of shareholders. 
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The above Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

INCOME STATEMENT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006 

    

  Consolidated Grange Resources Limited 

 NOTE 2006 2005 2006 2005 

    $ $ $ $ 

Continuing operations      

  

      

Sale of Cop   7,443,174 3,937,368                       -                        -   

Royalties  2,318,612 2,525,841  2,044,764  1,678,562 

Finance revenue 645,603  499,950  59,521 

Revenue from continuing operations 3(a) 10,395,893 7,108,812  2,544,714  1,738,083 

per

 634,107 

      

Cost of sales 3(c) (4,541,684) (8,037,157)                      -   (419,616) 

Gross profit  5,854,209 (928,345) 2,544,714  1,318,467 

      

Other income 3(b) 489,751 27,154  387,092  18,724 

      

Administration costs 3(d) (1,984,338) (2,287,635) (1,933,026) (2,089,271) 

Employee benefits expense 3(e) (2,117,459) (1,787,579) (2,117,459) (1,787,579) 

Other expenses 3(f) (299,029) (269,455)                      -                        -   

Profit from continuing operations before  1,943,134 (5,245,860) (1,118,679)  (2,539,659) 

tax and borrowing costs     

      

Borrowing costs 3(g) (7,204) (27,441)                      -                        -   

Profit / (loss) from continuing operations before 
income tax  1,935,930 (5,273,301) (1,118,679) (2,539,659) 

      

Income tax expense 4                      -                        -   -                       -   

Profit / (loss) from continuing operations after 
income tax expense  1,935,930 (5,273,301) (1,118,679) (2,539,659) 

      

Net profit / (loss) attributable to members of Grange 
Resources Limited 1,935,930 (5,273,301) (1,118,679) (2,539,659) 

      

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 24 2.04 (7.27)   
 

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 
 

24 2.04 (7.27)   
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  Consolidated Grange Resources Limited 

 NOTE 20 005 

  

ASSETS     

BALANCE SHEET 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2006 

06 2 2006 2005 

  $ $ $ $ 

 

Current A    

Cash and cash equivalents 5 8,306,137 8,738,794         8,087,202       4,535,711 

Trade and othe bles 6     

Inventori                        -   

Prepa                       

Tota              

ssets   

r receiva 3,560,069    1,380,729  1,327,242           986,736 

es 7               -   2,094,946                 -                

yments  53,194      54,018      53,194      54,018 

l Current Assets   11,919,400  12,268,487 9,467,638    5,576,465 
      
Non-Current Assets    

Tra ceivables   

Oth sets           

Property, plant & equipment 12 694,956 450,309  390,3 7 160,

Exp aluation 23 7  2  

Total Non-Current Assets 26,847,13 11,424,91  30,710,2 0 13,930,127 

  

de and other re 8 2,711,680 3,159,878  2,181,364 2,057,602 

er financial as 9                 -                   -  4,581,143 4,581,143 

0 211 

loration and ev 13 ,440,495 ,814,728 3,557,476 7,131,171 

 1 5 9

TO   8 2 TAL ASSETS  38,766,531 23,693,402 40,177,92 19,506,59
      
LIA   

Cu   

Tra 14 1,165,123 2,505,765  1,022,9 3 1,459,

Provisions 15 2,675,402 682,941  138,5 5 103,

Loa s                  

Cu  5 5 

To abilities  3,874,890 3,223,071  33,602,727 24,612,063 

BILITIES    

rrent Liabilities    

de and other payables 7 854 

9 952 

ns and borrowing 17             -                 -   32,406,794 23,013,892 

rrent income tax liabilities 

tal Current Li

 34,365 34,365 34,36 34,36

      
No  

Pro 1    3 

To s  1,006,660 1,320,628  584,603 584,603 

n-Current Liabilities     

visions 

tal Non-Current Liabilitie

6 1,006,660 1,320,628 584,60 584,603 

TO AL LIABILITIES 4,881,550 4,543,699  34,187,3 0 25,196,666 T  3

NE    8 4) T ASSETS 33,884,981 19,149,703 5,990,59 (5,690,07

  
EQUITY    

Equity rent    

Co 50,68 38, 50,685,534 38,404,263 

Reserves 19 4,266,992 3,748,912  4,266,992 3,748,912 

A 03,472) (48,961,928) (47,843,249) 

Total Parent Entity Interest in Equity  33,884,981 19,149,703  5,990,598 (5,690,074) 

  

 attributable to equity rs of the pa holde   

ntributed equity 18 5,531 404,263  

ccumulated losses 19 (21,067,542) (23,0

TOTAL EQUITY  33,884,981 19,149,703  5,990,598 (5,690,074) 
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The above Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
 
 

STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE 

FOR THE YEA  ENDED 30 

   

  Consoli ed ge Resou s 
Limited

 NOTE 20 2005 2006 2005 

    $ $ $ $ 

  

R JUNE 2006 

   

dat Gran rce

06 

 

    

Net income (expense) recognised directly   

  

for the year  ,9 )

me / (expense) for the year ,  )

   

in equity  -  -    -    -   

Profit / (loss)     1,935 30  (5,273,301)  (1,118,679  (2,539,659) 

Total recognised inco    1,935 930  (5,273,301) (1,118,679  (2,539,659) 

Total recognised income / (expense) for the year is attributable to:     

Members of Grange Resources Limited  ,930 1)  ) (

9 )  ) (

1,935 (5,273,30 (1,118,679 2,539,659) 

  1,935, 30 (5,273,301 (1,118,679 2,539,659) 
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CASHFLOW STATEMENT 

   

 Con lidated Grange Resources Limited 

 NOTE 200 2006

    $ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities     

 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006 

   

 so

6 2005  2005 

$ $ 

 

Receipts from customers       8,211,403     5,314,619        2,113,348            865,697  

 (4,751,189) (12,787,789) (3,481,113) (2,716,986) 

ed            634,107             499,950         59,521 

              

             

     38,110                       -               38,110                       -   

ting  5  4,125,227 7,

     

Payments to suppliers and employees 

Interest receiv    645,603              

Other income -             27,094                 -          8,443  

Borrowing costs (7,204) (27,441)                -                    -

Receipt of government grants         

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from opera
activities (6,82 914) (829,705) (1,783,325) 

      

Cash flows from investing activities      

Payment for exploration and evaluation  (16,841,236) (6,416,927) (16,742,247) (6,316,215) 

Payments for property, plant and equipment  12  (308,610) (198,999) (289,469) (161,619) 

Proceeds from / (payment of) security deposit            310,694  (1,153,981)             99,054  (1,068,182) 

Net cash inflow / (outflow) used in investing 
activities  (16,839,152) (7,769,907) (16,932,662) (7,546,016) 

      

Cash flows from financing activities      
Proceeds from borrowings from controlled 
entities within wholly owned group                       -                        -          9,032,586         6,511,008  

Proceeds from issue of fully paid shares  18  10,800,000        5,000,000  10,800,000        5,000,000  

Payment for share costs  18  (661,590) - (661,590) - 

Proceeds from exercise of share options  18              2,142,858        2,104,800  2,142,862        2,104,800  

Net cash flows from / (used in) financing 
activities       12,281,268         7,104,800       21,313,858       13,615,808  

      

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  (432,657) (7,493,021)        3,551,491         4,286,467  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the 
financial year         8,738,794       16,231,815         4,535,711            249,244  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the 
financial year  5         8,306,137         8,738,794         8,087,202         4,535,711  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
  
NOTE 1.  CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 
The financial report of Grange Resources Limited (the Company)  30 June 200
accordance with a resolution of the directors on 29th September 2
 
Grange Resources Limited is a company limite y shares in rporated in Austr  whose shares a publicly traded o he 
Australian Stock Exchange. 

rations and principal activities of the G and

MARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOU TING P

 of Preparation 

neral purpose financial report w  prep
d Australian Accounti g Stand nda l re e

been complied with

The financial report has also been prepared on a historical cost basis. 
 

Australian dol rs and all values are in whole dollars. 

alian Accounti hich i alian  Inte
Comp e wi s tha l re  the

 International Fi ing Stan

financial report prepared based on AIFRS and comparatives for the year ended 30 June 2005 have been restated 
accordingly except for the adoption of AASB 13 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentations and AASB 139 Financial 

ement. The Company has adopte  the exemptions under AASB 1 First-time Adoption of 
nal Financia Reporting Standards from having to appl AASB 132 and AASB 139 to the 

 AIFRS eq y and  20 es
 to AIFRS are detailed in N

ndards that have recentl been issued ded but are not yet effective ha adopted for 
eriod ending 30 June 200

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 for the year ended
006. 

6 was authorised for issue in 

d b co alia re n t

 
The nature of the ope roup is mining  exploration. 
 
 
NOTE 2.  SUM
 

N OLICIES 

(a) Basis
 
The financial report is a ge
Corporations Act 2001 an

hich has been
ards.  Other ma

ared in accordance 
tory professiona

with the requirem
porting requirem

ents of the 
nts (Urgent n

Issues Group Consensus Views) have also 
 

. 

The financial report is presented in la
 
(b) Statement of Compliance 
 
The financial report complies with Austr
Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). 

ng Standards, w
th AIFRS ensure

nclude Austr
t the financia

 equivalents to
port, comprising

rnational 
 financial lianc

statements and notes thereto, complies with
 
This is the first 

nancial Report dards (IFRS). 

2 
Instruments: Recognition and Measur
Australian Equivalents to Internatio

d
l y 

comparative period. Reconciliations of
financial report and at transition

uit profit for 30 June
ote 31. 

05 to the balanc  reported in the 30 June 2005 

 
Australian Accounting Sta
the annual reporting p

y 
6: 

or amen ve not been 
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Amendment Affecte d Na a t
a  y

p  
f rd

A ca ate 
r p 

AASB d Stan ture of ch
ccounting

nge 
polic

o 
 

Ap
o

lication
standa

date 
 ** 

ppli
fo

tio
Grou

n d

 
2005-1 

 
AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Re n n o an o g licy 

eq d.  p  
a 0 1  2cognitio  and Measureme t 

 
N
r

 ch
uire

ge to acc
 Therefore

untin
no im

 po
act.

 
1 J nuary 2 06 

 
July 006 

 
2005-4 

 
AASB 139 Financial Instruments: iti SB 13
Financial Instruments: Disclosure an e Fi doptio
of AIFRS, AASB 1023 General i e 38 Life
Insurance Contracts 

o an ounting licy 
eq d.  no imp  

anua 0 1  2Recogn
d Pres

nsuranc

on and Measure
ntation, AASB 1 
 Contracts and 

ment, AA
rst-time a
AASB 10

2 
n 

 

 
N
r

 ch
uire

ge to acc
 Therefore

 po
act.

 
1 J ry 2 06 

 
July 006 

 
2005-5 

 
AASB 1 First-time adoption of AIFRS A I s: 
Recognition and Measurement  

o an ounting licy 
eq d.  no imp  

anua 0 1 July 2006  and A SB 139 Financial nstrument
 
N
r

 ch
uire

ge to acc
 Therefore

 po
act.

 
1 J ry 2 06 

 

 
2005-6 

 
AASB 3 Business Combinations n ng p y 

eq d. T p  
anua 0 1 July 2006 

 

r
No cha

uire
ge to accounti

herefore no im
olic
act.

 
1 J ry 2 06 

 

 
2005-9 

 
AASB 4 Insurance Contracts, AASB 10 ene ASB 
139 Financial Instruments: Recognition Mea  
Financial Instruments: Disclosure an ntat

No change ng policy 
required. T pact. 

anua 006 1 July 2006 23 G
and 

d Prese

ral insurance C
surement and 
ion 

ontracts, A
AASB 132

 
 to accounti
herefore no im

 
1 J ry 2

 

 
2005-10 

 
AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclo  and
Presentation of Financial Statements, A  114 po SB 117 
Leases, AASB 133 Earnings per Share B 1 s  
Recognition and Measurement, AASB 1 t-tim A SB 4 
Insurance Contracts, AASB 1023 Gener sura 8 
Life Insurance Contracts 

No change ng policy 
required. T pact. 

anua 007 1 July 2007 sure
ASB
, AAS
 Firs
al in

 Presentation
 Segment Re
39 Financial In
e adoption of 
nce Contracts

, AASB 101 
rting, AA
truments:
IFRS, AA

 and AASB 103

 
 to accounti
herefore no im

 
1 J ry 2

 

 
2006-1 

 
AASB 121 The Effects of Change in For  Cu

 
No change ng policy 
required. T pact. 

 
1 Janua 006 1 July 2006 eign rrency Rates  to accounti

herefore no im
ry 2
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AASB 7 Financial Instrumen

 
No cha licy 
requ t. 

New Standard ts: Disclosures nge to accounting po
ired. Therefore no impac

 
1 January 2007 

 
1 July 2007 

 
Revised 
Standard AASB 119: Employee Benefits required. Therefore no impact. 

1 January 2006 1 July 2006 

 

 
No change to accounting policy 

  

 
New UIG 
  

UIG 4:  Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease 

 
No change to accounting policy 
required. Therefore no impact. 

 
1 January 2006 

 
1 July 2006 

 
New UIG IG 8: Scope of AASB 2 

 
No change to accounting policy 
required. Therefore no impact. 

 
1 January 2006 

 
 July 2006 U

 

1

 
New UIG UIG 9: Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives No change to accounting policy 

required. Therefore no impact. 

 
1 January 2006 

 
1 July 2006 

 

 
 
** Application date is for the annual reporting periods beginning on or after the date shown in the above table.
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The following am ndments are not applicable to the Group and therefore have no impact: 

m
 
 
2004-3 

 
AASB 1: First time adoption of AIFRS, AABS 101:Presentation of Financial Statements, AASB 124: Related P ty Disclosures 

006-2 AASB 1: First time adoption of IFRS 
 

n and Environme
 

 
New UIG 

 
s arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste E  

 
New UIG 

 
UIG 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under AASB 129 Financial Re rting in Hyperinflationary Economi  

e
 
AASB Amend ent 

 
Affected Standard (s) 

 
 

ar

2
 

 
New UIG 

 
UIG 5 Rights to Interests in Decommissioning, Restoratio ntal Rehabilitation Funds 

UIG 6:  Liabilitie
 

lectrical and Electonic Equipment

po es
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
(c) Basis of Consolidation 
 
The accounts of the Group comprise the accounts of Grange Resources Limited and all of its controlled entities.  Control exists 
where Grange Resources Limited has the capacity to dominate the decision making relative to the financial and operating 
policies of another entit at the other entity operates with Grange Resources Limited to achieve the objectives of Grange 
Resources Limited. 
 
A list of controlled entitie  contained in note 9 to the accounts. The financial statements of the controlled entities are prepared 
for the same reporting d as the parent company, ng consistent accounting policies.  All inter-company balances and 
transactions between en  in the Group, including an realised profits or losses, have been eliminated on consolidation. 
 
Where controlled entitie ve entered or left the Group during the year, their operating results have been included from the 
date control was obtained or until the date control cease
 
(d) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
 
The preparation of a f cial report in conformity w stralian Accounting Standards requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumption at a t th plication of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
income and expenses. T estimates a ssociated a  are based on historical experience and various other factors 
that are believed to be r nable unde an , the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities t are t re pparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. The accounti olicies have n consisten pplied by each entity in the Group. 
 
The estimates and un ng assum ns revi d on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period which the estimate is revise  the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future p on affects both current and future periods. 
 
Share-base yment transactions 
 
The Group es cost of equ ettled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments the date hich they ar anted. The  value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, 
using the a ed in Note 2
 
The accoun  policies set out below have bee ppli onsistently to all periods and presented in the consolidated financial 
report and aring an op g A S b ce t at 1 July 2005 for the purposes of the transition to Australian 
Accounting ndards – RS. 
 
(e) Reven ecognit nd er me
 
Revenue is o ed e ex  tha s pr ble t the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be 
reliably me e he f ing specific recogn  cri  must also be met before revenue is recognised: 
 
(i) Sale of g s 
Revenue is o ed n th nifi  risks and r rds of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer and can be 
measured r isks s are consi d p d to the buyer at the time of delivery of the goods to the customer. 
 
(ii) Royaltie
Royalty rev nised in the month in which the ore is processed at a treatment plant. 
 
(iii) Govern t ts 
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching 
conditions w e plied with. 
 
When the g t relates to an e nse , it eco ed as income over the periods necessary to match the grant on a 
systematic s e c  tha s in ed t mp te. 

y so th
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 asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to the income 
tatement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments. 

 are the relevant accounting policies for borrowings applicable for the years ending 30 June 2006 and 30 
une 2005. 

nt 

une 2005 
t was established. 

ccounting policies applicable for the year ending 30 June 2006 

orrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.  Borrowing costs include: 
and short-term and long-term borrowings; 

 amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings; and 

ctly associated with the construction, purchase or acquisition of a qualifying asset, 
e borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. For the current period all borrowing costs have been 

ce leases based on the economic substance of their agreement so as to reflect 
r

 item to the Group 
re capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and disclosed as property plant and equipment or computer 

lease.  A lease liability of equal value is also recognised. Lease payments are apportioned between finance 

se payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
xpense. 

ivalents 

the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original 
aturity of three months or less. 

 equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined 
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
When the grant relates to an
s
 
(iv) Interest revenue 
The Group has elected to apply the apply the option available under AASB 1 of adopting AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 July 
2005. Outlined below
J
 
Accounting policies applicable for the year ending 30 June 2006 
Interest revenue is recognised as the interest accrues (using the effective interest method, which is the rate that exactly 
iscounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument) to the net carrying value amoud

of the financial asset. 
 

ccounting policies applicable for the year ending 30 JA
Interest revenue was recognised when the Group’s right to receive paymen
 
Other revenues are recognised when a right to receive it has been attained. 
 
(f) Borrowing Costs 
The Group has elected to apply the apply the option available under AASB 1 of adopting AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 July 
2005. Outlined below are the relevant accounting policies for borrowings applicable for the years ending 30 June 2006 and 30 
June 2005. 
 
A
Borrowing costs are recognised when incurred. 
 
Accounting policies applicable for the year ending 30 June 2005 
B

 interest on bank overdrafts 

 finance charges on leased assets. 
 
Where the borrowing costs incurred are dire
th
expensed. 
 
(g) Leases 
 
Leases are classified as either operating or finan

e isks and benefits incidental to ownership. th
 
Leases that effectively transfer substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased
a
equipment under 
charges and the reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a consistent rate of return on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance charges are recognised as an expense in the Income Statement. 
 
Operating lea
Lease incentives are recognised in the Income Statement as an integral part of the total lease e
 
(h) Cash and cash equ
 
Cash and short-term deposits in 
m
 
For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash
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OTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

) Trade and other receivables 

AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 July 
 are the relevant accounting policies for borrowings applicable for the years ending 30 June 2006 and 30 

ther receivables are recognised and carried at the original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible 

rade terms are determined by contractual agreement or otherwise on a 30 day basis. 

 recognised as income on an 

licable for the year ending 30 June 2005 

ess and concentrate which are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable 

riable overhead 
expe it
 

et li  to be obtained from sale of the item of inventory in the normal course of business, 

s elected to apply the option available under AASB 1 of adopting AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 July 2005. 
 are the relevant accounting policies applicable to the derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities for 

ending 30 June 2006 

 the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full 

sferred substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 

red control of the asset. 

ards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extend of 
e Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred 

N
 

(i
 
The Group has elected to apply the apply the option available under AASB 1 of adopting 
2005. Outlined below
June 2005. 
 
Accounting policies applicable for the year ending 30 June 2006 

rade and oT
amounts.  
An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the debts. 
Bad debts are written off when identified. 
 
T
 
Receivables from controlled entities are carried at the principal amount. Interest, when charged, is
accruals basis. 
 
Accounting policies app
Trade receivables were recognised and carried at original invoice amount less a provision for any uncollectible debts. An 
estimate for doubtful debts was made when collection of the full amount was no longer probable. Bad debts were written off 
when incurred. 
 
(j) Inventories 
 
nventories comprise broken ore, work in progrI
value.  
 
Costs re propriate portion of fixed and va present weighted average cost and includes direct costs and an ap

nd ure, including amortisation.   

N rea sable value is the amount estimated
less any anticipated costs to be incurred prior to its sale. 
 
(k) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
The Group ha

utlined belowO
the years ending 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005. 
 
Accounting policies applicable for the year 
 
(i) Financial assets 
 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised 
when: 

 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 

without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; or 
 the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has tran

the asset, but has transfer
 
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rew
th
asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration received 
that the Group could be required to repay. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

hen continuing involvement takes the form of a written and / or purchased option (including a cash-settled option or similar 

asured at fair value, the extent on the Group’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the 
ansferred asset and the option exercise price. 

hen an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of 
eated as a derecognition of the original 

bility and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss. 

icies applicable for the year ending 30 June 2005 

 
 

ilities 
 financial liability was derecognised when the contractual obligation to deliver or exchange cash no longer existed. 

) Foreign currency translation 

 functional and presentation currency of Grange Resources Limited and its subsidiaries is Australian dollars ($). 

ssets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of 
xchange ruling at the balance sheet date. 

cognised in the income statement. 

n a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as 

hen the fair value was determined. 

) Income tax 

urrent income tax and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or 

tively enacted by the balance sheet date. 
 
Deferred
liabilities
Deferred
 

(i) w  initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 

 

 

 
W
provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that 
the Group may repurchase, except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash-settled option or similar provision) on 
an asset me
tr
 
(ii) Financial liabilities 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
 
W
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is tr
lia
 
Accounting pol
 
(i) Financial assets 
A financial asset was derecognised when the contractual right to receive or exchange cash no longer existed. 
 
(ii) Financial liab
A
 
(l

 
Both the
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the exchange rates ruling at the 
date of the transaction. Monetary a
e
 
Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are re
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost i
at the date of the initial transaction. 
 
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
w
 
(m
 
C
paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substan

 income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and 
 and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
 income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except: 

here the deferred income tax liability arises from the
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; and 

(ii)  in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint 
ventures except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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porary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and 

unting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 
 

t of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 

gainst which the 

x asset to be recovered. 

eferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is 
ity is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 

o items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the income statement. 

t tax assets 
gainst current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation 

 

hase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which 
case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense items 

 

he net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in 

ash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from 
cing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash 

ows. 

) Interests in Joint Venture Operations 

ecognising the Group’s assets and liabilities from the joint 
arned from the joint venture, in the 

Whe
on beh
carried nues to be carried forward without adjustment, unless under the terms of the farm out it is 
con
recove

 the 

N
 

eferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temD
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised except: 
 

(i) where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the acco

(ii) in respec
interests 
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available a
temporary difference can be utilised. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. 
 

nrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it U
has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred ta
 
D
realised or the liabil
balance sheet date. 
 
Income taxes relating t
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off curren
a
authority. 

(n) Other taxes 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 
 

 when GST incurred on a purc

applicable; and 

 receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included. 
 
T
the balance sheet. 
 
C
investing and finan
fl
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority. 
 
(o
 
The Group’s interest in its joint venture operation is accounted for by r
venture, as well as expenses incurred by the Group and the Group’s share of income e
consolidated financial statements. 
 

re part of a joint venture interest is farmed out in consideration of the farm-in party undertaking to incur further expenditure 
alf of both the farm-in party and the entity in the joint venture area of interest, exploration expenditure incurred and 
 forward prior to farm out conti

sidered excessive based on the diluted interest retained.  A provision is then made to reduce exploration expenditure to its 
rable amount. Any cash received in consideration for farming out part of a joint venture interest is treated as a reduction 
carrying value of the related mineral property. in
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reciation, amortisation or 
p nt in

 
Land and bui on, amortisation or impairment in 
value. 
 
Property, pla
life of the min

omputer equipment  27% straight line per annum 

) Impairment 
coverable 

enerating unit to which the asset belongs unless the assets value in use can be estimated to be close to its fair value. If any 
ment exists, and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the asset or cash-

enerating units are written down to their recoverable amount. 

he recoverable amount of plant and equipment is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in 
current mark
 
(ii) Derec gnition and disposal 
An item p onomic benefits are expected 

om its use or disposal. 

sing on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
arrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 

ining tenements and capitalised exploration expenditure (including acquisition costs) are stated at cost, less, where applicable, 

nnually by directors to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount from those assets. 

t and evaluation relating to an area of interest are carried forward provided that 

 be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of interest, or 
alternatively by its sale; or    

e 

 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
(p) Property, plant and equipment 
 

lant and equipment are brought to account at cost less, where applicable, any accumulated depP
im airme  value. 

ldings are measured at cost less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciati

nt and equipment are depreciated to their residual value at rates based upon the life of the individual asset or the 
e, whichever is considered shorter.  Depreciation rates used are as follows: 

 
Buildings   10% straight line per annum 
Furniture and fittings  14% straight line per annum 
C
Mining plant and equipment 27% straight line per annum 
 
The assets residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial 
year end. 
 
(i
The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with the re
amount being estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 
 
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
g
indication of impair
g
 
T

use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
et assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

o
of roperty, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further ec

fr
 
Any gain or loss ari
c
 
(q) Mineral Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 
 
M
any accumulated amortisation.  The carrying amount of deferred mineral exploration and evaluation expenditure is reviewed 
a
 

os s arising from the acquisition, exploration C
rights to tenure of the area of interest are current and provided further that at least one of the following conditions is met: 
 
(i) such costs are expected to

(ii) exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at balance date reached a stage which permits a 
reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant 
operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing. 

 
Ultimate recoupment of these costs is dependent on the successful development and commercial exploitation or sale, of th
respective areas of interest. 
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loration and Evaluation of Mineral Resources, the Australian equivalent to IFRS 6, in 
reparing financial statements. 

operties 
 

ically recoverable reserves have been identified to the satisfaction of the directors.  

lopment Properties”. 

iture incurred p r to th rcial levels of production from each development property is 
 extent to whi e to be derived from the sale of production from the relevant 
 or f m the s y assured. 

o amortisation is provided in respect of development properties until they are reclassified as “Production Properties” following 

) Production Properties 

osts on production properties in which the Group has an interest are amortised over the life of the area of interest to which 

o ensure it is not in excess of the 
coverable amount from those assets. 

present value of the estimated cost of legal and constructive obligations (such as those under the 

the production location. When the liability is initially recorded, the 

 as additions or changes to the 
orresponding asset and rehabilitation liability when incurred. 

arrying 
mount capitalised is depreciated over the life of the related asset. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
The Group has applied AASB 6 Exp
p
 
(r) Development Pr
 
Development expenditure incurred by, or on behalf of, the entity is accumulated separately for each area of interest in which 
econom
 
Once a development decision has been taken, all past and future exploration and evaluation expenditure in respect of the area 
of interest is aggregated with the costs of development and classified under non-current assets as “Deve
 
All expend rio e commencement of comme
carried forward to the ch recoupment out of revenu
development property, ro ale of that property, is reasonabl
 
N
a decision to commence mining. 
 
(s
 
Production properties represent the accumulation of all exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred by, or on 
behalf of, the entity in relation to areas of interest in which mining of a mineral resource has commenced. 
 
Where further development expenditure is incurred in respect of a production property after the commencement of production, 
such expenditure is carried forward as part of the cost of that production property only when substantial future economic 
benefits are thereby established, otherwise such expenditure is classified as part of the cost of production. 
 
C
such costs relate on the production output basis. 
 
The net carrying value of each production property is reviewed annually by directors t
re
 
(t) Provisions for Site Restoration 
 

he Group records the T
Group’s Environmental Policy) to restore operating locations in the period in which the obligation is incurred. The nature of 
restoration activities includes dismantling and removing structures, rehabilitating mines, dismantling operating facilities, closure 
f plant and waste sites and restoration, reclamation and revegetation of affected areas. o

 
ypically the obligation arises when the asset is installed at T

estimated cost is capitalised by increasing the carrying amount of the related mining assets. Over time, the liability is increased 
for the change in the present value based on the discount rates that reflect the current market assessments and the risks 
specific to the liability. Additional disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs are recognised
c
 
The unwinding of the effect of discounting on the provision is recorded as a finance cost in the income statement. The c
a
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ancial assets 

he apply the option available under AASB 1 of adopting AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 July 
ow are the relevant accounting policies for investments and other financial assets applicable for the years 

ccounting polices applicable for the year ending 30 June 2006 

g 
ategories where appropriate: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity 

) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. Derivatives are 
so classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on investments 

 in profit or loss. 

ot quoted in an active 
arket. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in the 

urrent investments are carried at the lower of cost and net market value except where they have been disposed of subsequent 

ll other non-current investments are carried at the lower of cost and recoverable amount. 

sses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.  Where an indicator 
f impairment exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of the recoverable amount.  Where the carrying amount of an asset 

hich case, the recoverable amount is 

ange in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is 
increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is 
recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation 
increase. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying 
amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

 
N
 
(u) Investments and other fin
 
The Group has elected to apply t
2005. Outlined bel
ending 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005. 
 
A
 
Financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are classified in the followin
c
investments, or available-for-sale investments. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after initial 
recognition and, when allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year-end. 
 
(I
Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’. 
Financial assets are classified as
al
held for trading are recognised
 
(ii) Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are n
m
profit and loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. 
 
Accounting policies applicable for the year ending 30 June 2005 
C
to year end where they are carried at the lower of cost and the net value realised from their sale. 
 
A
 
(v) Impairment of assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Group asse
o
exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  It is determined for an individual asset, 
unless the asset’s value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to sell and it does not generate cash 

flows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in win
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses 
relating to continuing operations are recognised in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset 
unless the asset is carried at revalued amount (in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease). 
 
An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment 
losses may no longer exist or may have deceased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a ch
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) Trade and other payables 

he Group has elected to apply the apply the option available under AASB 1 of adopting AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 July 

ccounting polices applicable for the year ending 30 June 2006 
nd represent liabilities for goods and services provided to 

e Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future 

 in the future for goods 
nd services received, whether or not billed to the Group. 

g policies for borrowings applicable for the years ending 30 June 2006 and 30 
une 2005. 

fter initial recognition, borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

hen the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
robable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 

 contract, the 

scounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks 

) Employee entitlements 

 

 
 

ities are measured at the present value of 
the estimated future cash outflow to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.  In 
determining the present value of future cash outflows, the market yield as at the reporting date on national government bonds, 
which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability, are used. 

N
 
(w
 
T
2005. Outlined below are the relevant accounting policies for borrowings applicable for the years ending 30 June 2006 and 30 
June 2005. 
 
A
Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs a
th
payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. 
 
Accounting polices applicable for the year ending 30 June 2005 
Trade payables and other payables are carried at costs which is fair value of the consideration to be paid
a
 
(x) Borrowings 
 
The Group has elected to apply the apply the option available under AASB 1 of adopting AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 July 
2005. Outlined below are the relevant accountin
J
 
Accounting polices applicable for the year ending 30 June 2006 
All borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
A
 
Accounting polices applicable for the year ending 30 June 2005 
Loans are carried at their principal amounts. Interest is charged as an expense as it accrues. 
 
(y) Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised w
p
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 

hen the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insuranceW
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to 
any provision is presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement. 
 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are di
specific to the liability. 
 
When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a borrowing cost. 
 
(z
 
(i) Wages, salaries, annual, sick and long service leave 
 
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the reporting date.  
These benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave and long service leave. 

Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave and any other employee benefits expected to be 
settled within twelve months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates which 
are expected to be paid when the liability is settled.  All other employee benefit liabil
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) Share-based payment transactions 

plan in place is the Grange Resources Ltd Directors’ and Officers’ Option Plan. 

red by reference to the fair value at the date at which they 

performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the 

 on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award 
vesting date”). 

he cumulative expense recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects: 

his opinion is formed based on the best available information at balance date.  No adjustment is made for the likelihood of 
itions is included in the determination of fair value at grant 

 a market 
ondition. 

 terms had not been modified.  In 
of the modifications, as measured 

fication. 

revious paragraph. 

re is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted to exclude costs of servicing equity (other 
an dividends), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element. 

iluted EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted for: 
y (other than dividends); 

 the after tax effects of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been 

l ordinary shares, adjusted for any 

 
N
 
(ii
The Group provides benefits to employees (including directors) in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby 
employees render services in exchange for share options (“equity-settled transactions”).   
 

he current T
 
The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measu
are granted.  The fair value is determined using the binomial model. 
 
In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any 
rice of the shares of Grange Resources Ltd (“market conditions”). p

 
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which 
the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date
(“
 
T

(i) the extent to which the vesting period has expired and; 
(ii) the number of awards that, in the opinion of the Board of the Group, will ultimately vest. 

T
market performance conditions being met as the effect of those cond
date. 
 
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon
c
 
Where an equity-settled award is modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the
ddition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transaction as a result a

at the date of modi
 
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet 
recognised for the award is recognised immediately.  However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and 
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a 

odification of the original award, as described in the pm
 
The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per 
share. 
 
(aa) Earnings per share (EPS) 
 
Basic earnings per sha
th
 
D

 costs of servicing equit

recognised as expenses;  
 other non-discretionary changes in revenue or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of 

potential ordinary shares; and 
 divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potentia

bonus element.  
 
(bb) Contributed equity 
 
Ordinary share capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Company. 
 
Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction, net of tax, of the 
share proceeds received. 
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2006 2005 

  $ $ $ $ 

 

evenue from Royalties  2,318,612 2,525,841  2,044,764  1,678,562 

 10,395,893 7,108,812  2,544,714  1,738,083 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
NOTE 3.  REVENUES, OTHER INCOME & EXPENSES 
 
  Consolidated Grange Resources Limited 

  2006 2005 

Revenue and Expenses from Continuing Operations     

(a) Revenue      

Revenue from sale of Copper  7,443,174 3,937,368                       -                        -  

R

Finance revenue  634,107 645,603  499,950  59,521 

 

      

Breakdown of finance revenue:      

Interest receiv 499,950  59,521 ed from other persons / corporations  634,107 645,603  

  634,107 645,603  499,950  59,521 

      

(b) Other income      

 

ome  451,641 27,154  348,982  18,724 

Government grants  38,110                      -   38,110                       -  

Sundry inc

  489,751 27,154  387,092  18,724 

      

      

   

epreciation  3,594 3,049                       -                        -   

         2,124,446 9,026,221                       -                        -   

        Inventory movement  2,107,204 (1,821,596)                      -                        -   

(c) Costs of sales      

Included in cost of sales:      

          Amortisation of deferred exploration, evaluation   

          and development costs  306,440 829,483                       -   419,616 

          D

          Production costs 

  

  4,541,684 8,037,157                       -   419,616 
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OTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 Consolidated Grange Resources Limited 

 5 

(d) Administration expen     

     

 42,111 35,000  42,111  5,000 

 

 

  

       Freight  

       Insurance  92,228 71,661  60,542  71,661 

 331,408 260,205  162,039  260,205 

                         

       Project evaluation            4

       Rent and outgoings  172,818 88,602  172,818  88,602 

 255,795 376,634  255,795  376,634 

 3 7

1,984,3 2,287,6 2,089,2

 
N
 
 

 2006 200 2006 2005 

  $ $ $ $ 

ses  

Included in administrative expenses: 

         Audit 3

         Consultants 143,706 468,126  211,638  468,126 

         Contractors 141,912 6,251 139,454 6,251 

         Depreciation 60,371 6,209  59,851  6,209 

  358,434 372,523 29,796 14,066 

  

         Legal 

         Minimum lease payments - operating lease         -   86,602             -  86,602 

     35,747 438,823  35,747  38,823 

  

         Travel 

         Other 49,808 76,999  63,235 237,092 

  38 35  1,933,026 71 

      

(e) Employee benefits expenses   

ayroll cost  1,248,266 1,360,703  1,248,266  1,360,703 

 plan expense  351,113 246,876 351,113 246,876 

pense  518,080 180,000  518,080  180,000 

2,117,459 1,787,579  2,117,459 1,787,579 

   

P

Defined contribution

Share-based payments ex

  

      

(f) Other expenses    

 expenses  

           

  

Horseshoe maintenance            299,029 269,455                       -                        -   

  299,029 269,455                       -                        -   

      

(g) Borrowing costs   

Interest paid to non-related entities  7,204 27,441                       -                        -   

  7,204 27,441                       -                        -   
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OTE 4.  INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

  nsolidate Gra sources d 

  2  20  20  20  

  $ $ $ $ 

    

components of income tax expense for the 
0 June 2006 and 2005 are:                                          

    
ement     

e tax     

income tax charge / (benefit)                                             

    

d income tax     
rary                                

ot recognised                                           

 tax expense reported in income statement                                         

                                            

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
N
 

Co d nge Re Limite

006 05 06 05

 

  

(a) Major 
years ended 3

  
           -              -              -              -  

 Income Stat

 Current incom

 Current            -              -           -             -   

  

 Deferre

 Relating to origination and reversal of tempo
differences                      -           -                    -           -  

 Timing differences n            -             -              -             -   

 Income            -              -              -              -   

             -           -              -              -  

      

 Statement of changes in equity  

 equity                  -                        -                        -                        -   

   

 Income tax liability reported in     

      

(b) income tax rate to income ta
effective income tax rate fo

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to 
me tax at the statutory 

x expense at the Grou
r the years ended 30 Ju e 

2006 and 2005 is as follows:

    

      

fit / (loss) before tax 1,935,930 (5,273,301) (1,118,679) (2,539,659) 

 

accounting profit before inco
p’s 
n

 Accounting pro

     

 At statutory income tax rate of 30% (2005: 30%) (1,581,9

      

248,524 214,340 248,524  214,340 

on-recovery of loan to     

controlled entity                                        

 Non-deductible decrement in carrying value of assets                      -                        -                        -                        -   

Deductible Research & Development claim                  -   (1,458,978)                      -   (1,458,978) 

 Utilisation of tax losses / unrecognised tax losses (829,304) 2,826,628 87,080  2,006,536 

 Income tax expense reported in income statement                      -                        -                        -                        -   

580,780 90) (335,604) (761,898) 

 Non-deductible items 

 Non-deductible provision for n

      -          -                    -                    -  
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OTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Balance Sheet Income statement 
 2006 2005 2006 2005 
  $  

     
) Deferred income tax     

Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the 
following:     

    

 

es 
(261,128) (175,833) 85,295                     -   

es 

ther receivable (666,791)                    -   666,761                     -   

                   -                      -                      -   (82,908) 

 (7,032,148) (2,344,419) 4,687,730  1,850,202 

N
 
  

 

  $ $ $ 
 
(c

 

  
CONSOLIDATED     

      

 Deferred tax liabiliti     

 Accrued income   

 Accelerated deductions for tax purpos                      -   (61,656) (61,656) (20,238) 

 O     

 Deferred mining       

Exploration 

  (7,960,067) (2,581,908) 5,378,130  1,747,056 

      
 Deferred tax assets     

 Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes 

oreign exchange 14,607                    -   (14,607)                    -   

27,897                    -   (27,897) 6,300 

388,040 569,188 181,845  583,497 

 675,000                      -   (675,000)                      -   

12,662,563 8,657,198 (4,005,365) (5,090,963) 

 13,987,553 9,439,283   

162,490 162,490                      -   (61,771) 

 F     

 Accrued expenses   

 

 

Provision for employee entitlements 

Blackhole costs 

41,579 

15,377 

31,186 

19,221 

(10,393) 

3,844  

                     -   

(10,747) 

 Provision for rehabilitation 

Provision for restoration 

Carried forward losses 

 

 

 Unrecognised deferred tax assets  (830,557)  2,826,628  

 Deferred tax expense                              -                   -  

      

 PARENT     

s     

(1,136) (11,839) (9,903)   11,839.00 

                 -   - -  - 

      

 Deferred tax liabilitie
 Accrued 

 

income 

Accelerated deductions for tax purposes 

    

    

 Deferred mining                      -                        -                        -   - 

 Exploration (7,067,243) (2,101,922) 4,965,320  1,704,193 

  (7,068,379) (2,113,761) 4,955,417  1,716,032 
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Deferred tax assets     

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes                -                  -                  -   

oreign exchange 14,607                    -   (14,607)                    -   

27,897                    -   (27,897) 6,300 

41,579 31,186 (10,393)     12,124.00 

s 15,377 19,221 3,844  (10,747) 

on 175,381 175,381                    -                      -   

arried forward losses 12,662,563 8,657,198 (4,993,445) (3,715,147) 

12,937,404 8,882,986 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
    

 

                   9,150 

 F     

 Accrued expenses   

 Provision for employee entitlements 

lackhole cost

- 

 B

 Provision for rehabilitati     

 C

    

 Unrecognised deferred tax assets   87,081 2,006,536 

 Deferred tax expense                                  -               -  

 
Poten  tax benefits attributable to tax losses o have

ght to acc 0 June 2006 because directors do not b a
ene hese benefits will only be obtained if: 

) the Consolidated Entity derives future assessable income nd t suf ble 
from the deduction for the loss to be realised; 

) ity continues to comply with the con itions for the de uctibility impos  by law; and 

i) ffect the Consolidat n realis e ducti

)   
 subsidiaries are a tax con  group a ly 200 e

 enter into a tax sharing arrangement in ord cate in x expens  whol
is.  In addition, the agreement pr or the a of incom bilities

ntity default on its tax payments s.  At t  date, ility of
 of the tax consolidated group is Gran c

tial future income f $12,662,563 (2005: $8,657,198)
opri

 carried forward 
rd re

 not been 
brou
b

ount at 3
fit as probable. T

elieve it is appr ate to reg alisation of the future tax 

(i  of a nature a  of an amoun ficient to ena the benefit 

(ii the Consolidated Ent d d ed

(ii no changes in tax legislation adversely a ed Entity i ing the b nefit from the de on for the 
loss. 

(d Tax Consolidation
The Company and its 100% owned solidated s of 1 Ju 2.  Memb rs of the group 
have agreed to
subsidiaries on a pro-rata bas

er to allo
ovides f

come ta
llocation 

e to the
e tax lia

ly owned 
 between 

the entities should the head e obligation he balance the possib  default is 
remote. The head entity ge Resour es Limited. 
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OTE 5.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 ces Lim

 2006 20

 $ $ $ $ 

ash (i) 2,087 14 2,

hort (ii) 6,000 8,33 6,00 4

ash Ventures (iii) 21 2

8,306,1 8,738,7

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
N  
 
 Consolidated Grange Resour ited 

 2005 06 2005 

 

C  at bank and in hand ,202 6,092 087,202  76,597 

S  term deposits ,000 0,665 0,000  ,459,114 

C  at bank and in hand - Joint 8,935 62,037                      -                        -   

  37 94 8,087,202  4,535,711 

 
(  at floating rates base aily bank d osit rates. 
 
(ii) Short-term deposits are made for varying periods depending on the cash requirements of the Group, and earn 

t Windsor Joint Venture, Reward, Highway and Reward Deeps / 

 

     

 a

Short t

Cash a  

8,087,202  4,535,711 

i) Cash at bank earns interest d on d ep

interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. 
 

(iii) Joint Venture cash at bank represents Moun
Conviction cash calls paid by Grange Resources Limited but not yet used by the joint ventures to pay creditors. 

 
 
Reconciliation to Cash Flow Statement     

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following at 30 June: 

 

Cash t banks and in hand  2,087,202 146,092 2,087,202  76,597 

erm deposits  6,000,000 8,330,665 6,000,000  4,459,114 

t banks and in hand - Joint Ventures  218,935 262,037                      -                        -  

 8,306,137 8,738,794  

 
 
Reconciliation of net profit / (loss) after tax to net cash flows from operations   

Net profit / (loss) after income tax         1,935,930  (5,273,301) (1,118,679) (2,539,659) 

Adjustments for:      

Amortisation            306,440            823,274   -             419,616  

Depreciation              63,965                9,258              59,851                 6,209  

Share options expensed            518,080            180,000            518,080             180,000  
Allowance for impairment of exploration & 
evaluation expenditure  770,386 - - - 

      

Changes in assets and liabilities      

(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables           (2,041,840)  (1,148,590) (203,006)  (823,147) 

(Increase) / decrease in prepayments                   824  (1,131)                  824   (813) 

(Increase) / decrease in inventories         2,094,947  (1,821,966)  -    -   

(Decrease) / increase in trade and other payables (1,201,998)           437,935  (121,418)            934,058  

(Decrease) / increase in provisions  1,678,493 (33,393) 34,643   40,411 

Net cash from operating activities         4,125,227  (6,827,914) (829,705)  (1,783,325) 
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S (CURRENT) 

 C

 2

 $ 

(i) 5

(ii)                           

(iii          

ther receivables (iv) 

 3,560,069         1,380,729         1,327,242            986,736 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
NOTE 6.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLE
 
 onsolidated Grange Resources Limited 

 006 2005 2006 2005 

 $ $ $ 

Trade receivables 866,509 957,649 866,509  86,111 

Security deposits      137,500 423,080     137,500                   -  

Other debtors ) 336,060              -             323,233  400,625 

O 2,220,000 - - - 

 

 
) Trade receivables are all non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 day terms. 

(ii) 
 

 
(iv) Other receivables relate to the expected insurance compensation from the Gregory Development Road. Refer 

note 15. The receivable is the Group’s 30% share. 

roduct inventory (at cost)                      -  1,889,427                                            -  

                      

ost                  

(i
 

Security deposits have no fixed repayment terms. 

(iii) Other debtors relate to GST receivable from the Australian Taxation Office. 

 
NOTE 7.  INVENTORIES (CURRENT) 
 
P    -   

Stores inventory (at cost)                  -  205,519                 -              -  

Total inventories at c                  -  2,094,946                 -                   -  

  
NOTE 8.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (N N-CURRE

elated party receivables      

            -         12,125,241 12,778,190

27      ( (

                                           - 1,046,292 685,965

O NT) 
 
R

Loans to controlled entities 27                      -               

Provision for doubtful recovery                      -                   -   11,078,949) 12,092,225) 

   -      

      

      

Other receivables      

Security deposits (i)  3,159,878 1,135,072 1,371,632,711,680   7 

  2,711,680 3,159,878 2,181,364 2,057,602   

 
Terms and conditions 

(i) Security deposits include amounts with: 
tees for the o ce le uly 2010; 
oldings Bhd  ac  Malaysia ty d secure

sit is repayable welv rminat of the agreeme
r the Stat land ustrali

way R orsesho po
bilitation. 

a. Perth Diocesan Trus
b. Road Builder (M) H

ffi
to

ase expiring 19 J
quire land in the n port ci  of Kemaman an  port 

facilities. The depo  t e months from te ion or expiry nt; 
c. Minister for Mines and Energy fo

relation to the rehabilitation of High
es of Queens
eward and H

 and Western A
e Lights mine, repa

a for perform
yable u

ance bonds in 
n satisfactory 

completion of reha
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rolled entities                   28 27

rment          

         4

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
NOTE 9. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 
  Consolidated Grange Resources Limited 

  2006 2005 2006 2005 

  $ $ $ $ 

Investments in cont 10              -               -  ,366,953  ,903,678 

Provision for impai                       -                -  (23,785,810) (23,322,535) 

               -                       -           4,581,143  ,581,143 

 
N
 

OTE 10.  INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 

 Percentage of equity interest   

  Investment 

  6 2005 2006 2005 

Nam $ $ 

range Capital Pty Ltd  100  100    

 

held by the Group 

200

e   % % 

G

Tribune Deve

arrack Mines Pty Ltd  100  100  4,581,143  4,581,143 

 100  100    

 

Ltd 100   

Ltd  

   4,581,143  4,581,143 

lopment Pty Ltd  100  100    

B

Bamine Pty Ltd 

BML Holdings Pty Ltd  100  100   

Horseshoe Gold Mine Pty  100   

Surfboard Securities Pty  100  100   

 

 
The Company and all subsidiaries are incorporated in Australia. Grange Resources Limited is a company limited by shares and 

OINT VENTURE OPE ION

pant in the follo ing joint ve

Cons lidated Grange Res urces Limited 

% Interest % Interest % Interest % Interest 

ure 2006 2005 2006 2005 

entures:   

domiciled in Australia. 
 
NOTE 11.  INTERESTS IN J RAT S AND BUSINESS UNDERTAKINGS 
 
At 30 June 2006 the Group was partici w ntures: 
 
  o o

  

Name of Joint Vent   

Production Joint V    

Reward - Copper / Gold               

ighway – Copper                 30.00                30.00   

    

Reward Deep C   

Exploration J

Mt Samuel - Expl

Abercromby Well

t Windsor - Expl  30.00                30.00   

         31.15         31.15   

H

Deve mentlop  Joint Ventures:  

s / onviction - Copper                 30.00                30.00 

oint Ventures:      

oration Gold  85.00                85.00 42.50                42.50 

 - Exploration Gold / Nickel  10.00                10.00   

oration Gold / Base Metals M
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entities. They are contractual arrangements between the participants for the sharing of 
s generate revenue and profit. 

he Group's direct interests in joint venture net assets, as summa  included in th t 
ounts. 

   olidated 

 

 

urrent Assets   

ash and cash equivalents    218,935  262,037 

                        -   2,094,946 

rade debtors and other receivables  2,315,984                      -  

otal Current Assets  2,53 83 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
The joint ventures are not separate legal 
osts and output and do not in themselvec

 
T rised below, are e corresponding balance shee
items in the Group acc
 
 Cons

   2006 2005 

     

C    

C

Inventories 

T    

T   4,919  2,356,9

      

Non-Current Assets     

aluation and development costs                       -   653,390

  262,742  266,241

ts   

 

Deferred exploration, ev  

Property, plant and equipment   

Total Non-Current Asse  262,742  919,631 

Total Assets    2,797,661  3,276,614 

      

Current Liabilities    

  88,11  1,011,016

rovisions  

otal Current Liabilities    2,624,920  1,590,005 

  

Trade and other payables  1  

P   2,536,809  578,989 

T

      

Non-Current Liabilities      

                 -   736,025 

                      -   736,025 

Provisions        

Total Non-Current Liabilities   

otal Liabilities    2,624,920  2,326,030 T

NET ASSETS EMPLOYED IN JOINT VENTURE OPERATIONS  172,741  950,584 
 

The net contributions of joint venture operations (inc ive of res revenues) t roup opera ofit before i  tax 
oss of $3,323,019 (2005:  loss $3,871,429). 

t hold ownership in any op ng

n relation to joint ventures are disclosed in n
 
 

lus ultant o the G ting pr ncome
and abnormal items was a l
 
The parent entity does no erati  joint ventures. 
 
Contingent liabilities i ote 23.   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
NOTE 12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 
 CONSOLIDATED GRANGE RESOURCES LIMITED 

 Freehold 
land Plant and Office Pastoral Furniture 

and  Freehold 
land Plant and Office Pastoral Furniture 

and  

 and 
buildings equipment Equipment lease fittings Total and 

buildings equipment equipment lease fittings Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Year ended 30 June 2006             

At 1 July 2005, net of accumulated depreciation            

and impairment    142,336            3,500          41,731     262,742   -         450,309   142,336   -           17,875   -    -     160,211   

Additions  -           18,680          74,692   -      215,238         308,610   -    -          74,231      215,238     289,469   

Disposals  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Depreciation charge for the year (14,234) (3,594) (24,610)  -   (21,525)  (63,963) (14,234)  -   (23,614)  -   (21,525)  (59,373)  

Impairment  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

At 30 June 2006, net of accumulated depreciation                         

and impairment   128,102          18,586          91,813     262,742     193,713         694,956    128,102   -           68,492   -      193,713     390,307   

             

At 1 July 2005             

Cost or fair value   142,336     1,138,052          94,141     262,742   -      1,637,271    142,336   -           70,747   -    -     213,083   

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  -   (1,134,552) (52,410)  -    -   (1,186,962)  -    -   (52,872)  -    -   (52,872)  

Net carrying amount    142,336            3,500          41,731     262,742   -         450,309    142,336   -           17,875   -    -     160,211   

             

At 30 June 2006             

Cost or fair value    142,336  57,200 168,834    262,742     215,238   846,350   142,336   -   144,978  -      215,238   502,552 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (14,234) (38,614) (77,021)  -   (21,525)  (151,394) (14,234)  -   (76,486)  -   (21,525)  (112,245) 

Net carrying amount    128,102          18,586          91,813    262,742     193,713         694,956    128,102   -           68,492   -      193,713     390,307   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
NOTE 12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
 CONSOLIDATED GRANGE RESOURCES LIMITED 

 Freehold 
land Plant and Office Pastoral Furniture 

and  Freehold 
land Plant and Office Pastoral Furniture 

and  

 and 
buildings equipment Equipment lease fittings Total and 

buildings equipment equipment lease fittings Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

             

Year ended 30 June 2005             

At 1 July 2004, net of accumulated depreciation            

and impairment  -             6,540          28,666     225,362   -         260,568   -    -             4,753   -    -          4,753   

Additions    142,336   -   19,273 37,380  -   198,989    142,336   -   19,330   -   161,666 

Disposals  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Depreciation charge for the year  -   (3,040) (6,208)  -    -   (9,248)  -    -   (6,208)  -    -   (6,208)  

At 30 June 2005, net of accumulated depreciation                         

and impairment    142,336            3,500  41,731    262,742   -         450,309  142,336  -   17,875  -    -      160,211   

             

At 1 July 2004             

Cost or fair value  -      1,138,052        102,318     225,362   -      1,465,732   -    -           51,416   -    -        51,416   

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  -   (1,131,512) (73,652)  -    -   (1,205,164)  -    -   (46,663)  -    -   (46,663)  

Net carrying amount  -        6,540          28,666     225,362   -         260,568   -    -             4,753   -    -          4,753   

             

At 30 June 2005             

Cost or fair value    142,336     1,138,052          94,141     262,742   -   1,637,271 142,336  -   70,747  -    -   213,083 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  -   (1,134,552) (52,410)  -    -   (1,186,962)  -    -   (52,872)  -    -   (52,872)  

Net carrying amount   142,336            3,500          41,731     262,742   -         450,309     142,333   -           17,875  -    -      160,211   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
NOTE 12.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
The useful life of the assets was estimated as follows for 2005 and 2006: 
 
Buildings  10 years 
Plant and equipment 4 years 
Office equipment  4 years 
Furniture and fittings 7 years 
 
NOTE 13. EXPLORATION & EVALUATION EXPENDITURE 
 
  Consolidated Grange Resources Limited 

  2006 2005 2006 2005 

  $ $ $ $ 

Exploration & evaluation properties (at cost)       23,440,495         7,508,288       23,557,476          7,131,171  

Production properties (at cost)  1,215,562        23,341,379   -             419,616  

Accumulated Amortisation  (1,215,562) (23,034,939)  -   (419,616) 

       23,440,495         7,814,728       23,557,476          7,131,171  

      

Movement:      

Exploration & Evaluation Properties      

Balance at beginning of year         7,508,288            289,860         7,131,171               68,101  

Current year expenditure       15,932,207         6,416,968       16,426,305          6,316,215  

Transfer from / (to) production properties   -               54,605   -    -   

Transfer from investments   -             746,855   -             746,855  

Balance at end of year       23,440,495         7,508,288  23,557,476        7,131,171  

 
The ultimate recoupment of exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent upon successful development and commercial 
exploitation or alternatively the sale of the respective areas of interest at an amount at least equal to book value. 
 
Production properties      

Balance at beginning of year            306,440         1,184,319   -             419,616  

Transfer from / (to) development, exploration and     

evaluation properties   -   (54,605)  -    -   

Current year expenditure   -    -    -    -   

Amortisation charged  (306,440) (823,274)  -   (419,616) 

Balance at end of year   -             306,440   -    -   

 
The directors have reviewed the carrying values of each area of interest as at Balance Date. Where 
the carrying value of an individual area of interest was in excess of its recoverable amount the area 
of interest has been written down to its recoverable amount.
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NOTE 14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 
  Consolidated Grange Resources Limited 

  2006 2005 2006 2005 

  $ $ $ $ 

Trade payables (i) 1,165,123 2,105,765 1,022,973 1,059,854 

Other creditors (ii)                      -   400,000                      -   400,000 

  1,165,123 2,505,765 1,022,973 1,459,854 

 
(i) Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on repayment terms between 7 and 30 days. 

 
(ii) Other creditors are non-interest bearing and have a repayment date of 30 November 2005. 

 
 
NOTE 15. PROVISIONS (CURRENT) 
 
Provision for annual leave            138,595            103,952            138,595             103,952  

Provision for road restoration (i) 2,250,000 - - - 

Provision for mine rehabilitation (ii)           286,807            578,989  -  -   

            2,675,402            682,941  138,595           103,952  

 
 
NOTE 16. PROVISIONS (NON-CURRENT) 
 
Provision for mine rehabilitation (ii)            1,006,660         1,320,628            584,603             584,603  

           1,006,660         1,320,628            584,603             584,603  

 
(i) During the year, cracking was detected in the Gregory Development Road adjacent to the Highway-Reward open 

pit of which the Group has a 30% joint venture interest. Remediation measures are being considered. If found 
liable, the joint venture may be required to relocate a section of the road away from the open pit. The provision is 
the Group’s 30% share. It is expected costs associated with the relocation will be compensated by insurance. 
Refer note 6. 

(ii) The provision for rehabilitation is recognised for mining activities for costs such as reclamation, plant closure and 
other costs associated with the rehabilitation of a mine site. Estimates of the rehabilitation obligations are based on 
expert opinions based on the anticipated future costs. The Group has assumed that no significant changes will 
occur in the relevant Federal and State Legislation in relation to the rehabilitation of such mines in the future.  

 
Movements in mine rehabilitation provisions     

Total current and non current carrying amount     

at the beginning of the financial year         1,899,617         1,973,421            584,603             584,603  

Amounts utilised during the year  (606,150) (315,000)   -    -   

Increase in provision during the year  -   241,196    -    -   

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 1,293,467         1,899,617            584,603             584,603  

 
 
NOTE 17. LOANS AND BORROWINGS 
 
Loans from controlled entities – unsecured 27  -    -        32,406,794        23,013,892  

   -    -        32,406,794        23,013,892  
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NOTE 18. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 
 
  Consolidated Grange Resources Limited 

  2006 2005 2006 2005 

  $ $ $ $ 

(a) Share capital      

Ordinary shares      

Issued and fully paid  50,685,531 38,404,263 50,685,534  38,404,263 

  50,685,531 38,404,263 50,685,534  38,404,263 

 
 
    Number of  

    shares $ 

(b) Movements in ordinary share capital      

At 1 July 2004    69,709,259  31,299,463 

Issued on 14 June 2005 by public equity raising   5,000,000  5,000,000 

Exercise of options on 18 August 2004    60,000  7,200 

Exercise of options on 3 November 2004    750,000  90,000 

Exercise of options on 3 February 2005    2,730,000  327,600 

Exercise of options on 22 March 2005    1,500,000  180,000 

Exercise of options on 23 March 2005    1,000,000  500,000 

Exercise of options on 17 May 2005    2,000,000  1,000,000 

At 1 July 2005    82,749,259  38,404,263 

Issued on 21 November 2005 by public equity raising (i)   8,000,000  10,800,000 

Share issue expenses on 21 November 2005    - (661,590) 

Exercise of options on 25 November 2005    1,000,000  500,000 

Exercise of options on 9 December 2005    1,000,000  500,000 

Exercise of options on 18 January 2006    1,000,000  500,000 

Exercise of options on 22 February 2006    600,000  300,000 

Exercise of options on 20 March 2006    685,715  342,858 

At 30 June 2006    95,034,974  50,685,531 

 
(i)   In November 2005 the Company arranged a share placement with Shaw Corporate Finance Pty Limited and BBY Limited 

comprising of 8.0 million fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of $1.35 each raising, $10.80 million. 
 

 
(c) Share options 
 
The Company has share based payment option schemes under which options to subscribe for the company's shares have been 
granted to certain executives and other employees (refer Note 21). 
 
(d) Ordinary shares 
 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds of winding up of the Company in proportion to the 
number of and amounts paid on the shares held. 
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Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote per share, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company. 
 
Effective 1 July 1998, the Corporations legislation in place abolished the concepts of authorised capital and par value shares. 
Accordingly, the Company does not have authorised capital nor par value in respect of its issued shares. 
 
NOTE 19.  RESERVES AND ACCUMULATED LOSSES 
 
  Consolidated Grange Resources Limited 

  2006 2005 2006 2005 

    $ $ $ $ 

      

      

(a) Reserves      

Option issue reserve  3,568,912 3,568,912  3,568,912 3,568,912 

Share-based payments reserve  698,080 180,000  698,080 180,000 

  4,266,992 3,748,912 4,266,992 3,748,912 

      

    Option issue Share-based 

CONSOLIDATED    reserve payments 
reserve 

Movements in reserves     $ $ 

      

At 1 July 2004    3,568,912                      -   

Share based payments    - 180,000 

At 30 June 2005    3,568,912 180,000 

Share based payments    - 518,080 

At 30 June 2006    3,568,912 698,080 

      

    Option issue Share-based 

PARENT    reserve payments 
reserve 

Movements in reserves     $ $ 

      

At 1 July 2004    3,568,912                      -   

Share based payments    - 180,000 

At 30 June 2005    3,568,912 180,000 

Share based payments    - 518,080 

Other    - - 

At 30 June 2006    3,568,912 698,080 
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  Consolidated Grange Resources Limited 

  2006 2005 2006 2005 

    $ $ $ $ 

(b) Accumulated losses      

Movements in accumulated losses were as follows:     

Balance 1 July  (23,003,472) (17,730,171)  (47,843,249) (45,303,590) 

Net (loss) profit for the year  1,935,930   (5,273,301)  (1,118,679) (2,539,659) 

Balance 30 June  (21,067,542) (23,003,472)  (48,961,928) (47,843,249) 
 
 
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves 
 
Option issue reserve 
The option issue reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued. 
 
Share based payments reserve 
The share based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of equity benefits provided to employees and directors as 
part of their remuneration. Refer to Note 21 for further details of these plans. 
  
NOTE 20.  EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS  
 
(a) Lease expenditure commitments  
 
The operating lease commitments refer to the rent of the Perth office for five years (1 September 2005 to 31 August 2010) 
 
Future minimum rentals payable as at 30 June are as follows: 
  Consolidated Grange Resources Limited 

  2006 2005 2006 2005 

    $ $ $ $ 

Within one year 101,840 88,440 101,840 88,440 

After one year but not more than five years 305,520 479,541 305,520 479,541 

 407,360 567,981 407,360 567,981 

 
The operating lease commitments refer to the rent of the Perth office for five years (1 September 2005 to 31 August 2010). 

 
(b) Exploration Expenditure Commitments 
 
In order to maintain the mining and exploration tenements in which the Group is involved, the Group is committed to meet 
conditions under which the tenements were granted.  If the Group continues to hold those tenements, the minimum expenditure 
requirements (excluding obligations farmed out under joint venture arrangements) will be approximately: 
 
  Consolidated Grange Resources Limited 

  2006 2005 2006 2005 

    $ $ $ $ 

Within one year 336,100 336,100 237,400 237,400 

After one year but not more than five years 1,344,400 1,344,400 949,600 949,600 

 1,680,500 1,680,500 1,187,000 1,187,000 
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(c) Southdown Project Acquisition Expenditure Commitments 
 

Under the terms of a purchase agreement with Global Doctor Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of MedAire Inc., the 
Company secured the right to acquire the Southdown Magnetite Project (“Southdown”). In accordance with the staggered 
purchase arrangement, as detailed in the purchase agreement, the Company is committed to expend $1,000,000 upon the 
commencement of commercial mining operations at Southdown. 

 
(d) Malaysian Land Acquisition Expenditure Commitments 
 

Under the terms of a Heads Of Agreement (“HOA”) executed in February 2005, the Company is required to pay Road 
Builder (M) Holdings Bhd (“Road Builder”) a total of MR 866,400 (approx $US228,000) in consideration for the granting of 
an exclusive land option in the Malaysian port of Kemaman. The total consideration was payable in four instalments.  As at 
the date of this report, the Company paid the fourth and final instalment, of RM 288,800 (approx US$76,000) in August 
2006. 

 
NOTE 21.  SHARE BASED PAYMENT PLANS 
 
Grange Resources Limited Directors’ & Officers’ Option Plan  
 
In July 2002 the Company established the Grange Resources Directors’ and Officers’ Option Plan (“Plan”) where Grange may at 
the discretion of management and directors, grant options over the ordinary shares of Grange to directors, executives and 
eligible full-time staff of the Group.  The maximum number of options issued must not exceed 10% of the total number of fully 
paid shares on issue.  The options, issued for nil consideration, are granted in accordance with performance guidelines 
established by the directors of Grange, although the Remuneration Committee and management of Grange retain the final 
discretion on the issue of the options.  Options issued pursuant to the Plan cannot be transferred and will not be quoted on the 
Australian Stock Exchange Limited. 
 
The expense recognised in the income statement in relation to share-based payments is disclosed in note 3(g). 
 
(a) Plan options held at the beginning and end of the reporting period  
 
The following table summaries information about options held by a director during the year: 
 

Number of 
options Grant Date Vesting Date Expiry Date Exercise Price 

     

1,500,000 29 Apr 2004 Grant date 30 June 2007 $0.50 

1,500,000 2 May 2005 Southdown project approvals 30 June 2007 $1.25 

1,500,000 2 May 2005 Southdown project commencement 30 June 2008 $1.50 

1,000,000 2 May 2005 Payment of $0.05 dividend 30 June 2011 $2.50 
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The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted under the option plans is estimated as at the date of grant using the 
binomial model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. 
 
The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the years 30 June 2005 and 30 June 2006: 
 
 2006 2005 

Dividend yield 0% 0% 

Expected volatility 50% 50% 

Risk-free interest rate 5.15% 5.15% 

Expected life of option 1,2,5 years 1,2,5 years 
 
The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. 
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not 
necessarily be the actual outcome. No other features of options were incorporated into the measurement of fair value. 
 
NOTE 22.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS 
 
(a)  Contingent Liabilities 
 
Bank Guarantees 
 
At year end bank guarantees have been provided on the Group’s behalf to secure, on demand by the Minister for Mines and 
Energy for the State of Queensland, any sum to a maximum aggregate amount of $1,233,858 (2005: $1,233,858), in relation to 
the rehabilitation of the Highway Reward project. 
 
Bank guarantees have been provided on the Group’s behalf to secure, on demand by the Minister for Mines and Energy for the 
State of Western Australia, any sum to a maximum aggregate amount of $327,500 (2005: $327,500), in relation to the 
rehabilitation of the Horseshoe Lights Mine. 
 
A Bank guarantee has been provided by Grange Resources Limited, on demand by Road Builder (M) Holdings Bhd  for the 
amount of $1,000,000 (2005: $1,000,000), in accordance with the terms of a Heads of Agreement dated 17 February 2005 to 
acquire land in the Malaysian port city of Kemaman and to secure port facilities. 
 
A Bank guarantee has been provided by Grange Resources Limited, on demand by the Perth Diocesan Trustees for the amount 
of $135,072 (2005: $135,072), in accordance with the terms of an office lease agreement dated 20 July 2005 to lease office 
premises in QBE House. 
 
No material losses are anticipated in respect of any of the above contingent liabilities. 
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(b)  Contingent Assets 
 
The Group did not have any contingent assets at the Balance Date. 
 
NOTE 23.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
On 15th June 2006 the plaint for forfeiture of the Horseshoe Lights Mining Lease M52/743 was dismissed in the Warden’s 
Court. On 21st July 2006 the plaintiffs obtained an order nisi from the Supreme Court for the judicial review of the Warden’s 
decision by the Court of Appeal. Grange through its subsidiary Horseshoe Gold Mine Pty Ltd is opposing the order for judicial 
review and the matter is likely to be heard in early 2007. 
 
On the 7th July 2006 a meeting of the members of Murchison Copper Mines Pty Ltd was held at which the incumbent directors 
of the company were replaced by Geoffrey Lloyd Warburton Wedlock, Alexander Henry Nutter and Derek Macauley. The new 
Directors intend to evaluate the development of a copper tailings and stockpiles treatment operation at the Horseshoe Lights 
Mine as soon as the matters on Mining Lease M52/743 are favourably resolved. 
 
NOTE 24.  EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
    Consolidated 

    2006 2005 

        Cents Cents 

      

Basic earnings per share               2.04 (7.27) 

Diluted earnings per share               2.04 (7.27) 

 
The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:  

     

(a) Reconciliations of earnings used in calculating earnings per share    

(Loss) profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company used    

in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share   1,935,930 (5,273,301) 

     

(b) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator    

 Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator in calculating basic earnings   

per share   95,034,974 72,527,067 

Effect of dilution:     

Share options   -                -   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used as the    

denominator in calculating diluted earnings per share   95,034,974 72,527,067 

 
Potential ordinary shares relating to options in issue are not considered dilutive and have therefore been excluded from the 
calculation of diluted earnings per share. 
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Conversions, calls, subscription or issues after 30 June 2006  
 
Since the end of the financial year, there have been no conversions to, calls of, or subscriptions for ordinary shares or issues of 
potential ordinary shares and before the completion of this financial report. 
 
NOTE 25.  REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 
 
 Consolidated Grange Resources Limited 

 2006 2005 2006 2005 

  $ $ $ $ 

The auditor of Grange Resources Limited is Ernst & 
Young.     

     

Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young:     

- an audit or review of the financial report of the entity and     

  any other entity in the Group             45,000              34,200               45,000               32,400  

- tax compliance           156,019            123,467   156,019           123,467  

           201,019            157,667   201,019           155,867  

 
NOTE 26. DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES 
 
(a) Details of Key Management Personnel 

 
Directors:  
A Bohnenn 
G L W Wedlock  
A H Nutter                               
R Krasnoff 
H R Moser                   

 
Chairman (non-executive) 
Managing Director  
Director 
Director (non-executive) 
Director (non-executive)  

  
Executives  
C Bryant 
B Chau  
S Hall 
N Marston 
M Muirhead 
A Pismiris 
M Smith                   

 
Senior Geologist: resigned 30 June 2006 
Group Financial Accountant: resigned 7 April 2006 
General Manager – Business Development: appointed 8 August 2005 
General Manager – Commercial & Company Secretary: appointed 21 July 2006 
Group Accountant: appointed 26 April 2006 
Company Secretary: resigned 16 September 2005 
Company Secretary: resigned 21July 2006 

 
(b) Compensation of Key Management Personnel 
 
Remuneration philosophy 
 
The performance of the Company largely depends upon the quality of its directors and executives.  To prosper the Company 
must be able to attract, motivate and retain directors and executives with the appropriate skills.  To achieve this, the Company 
adheres to the following principles in formulating its remuneration framework: 
 

 provide competitive rewards to attract executives; 
 link executive rewards to shareholder value; and  
 establish performance hurdles in relation to variable executive remuneration. 
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Remuneration committee and remuneration policy 
 
The Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for determining and reviewing 
compensation arrangements for the directors, the managing director and executive team.  The Remuneration Committee 
assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of directors and senior executives on an annual basis 
by reference to relevant employment market conditions and considers advice from external consultants with the overall objective 
of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality board and executive team. 
 
Executives are given the opportunity to receive their base emolument in a variety of forms, including cash and fringe benefits, 
such as motor vehicles and expense payment plans.  It is intended that the manner of payment chosen will be optimal for the 
recipient without creating undue cost for the Group. 
 
To assist in achieving these objectives, the Remuneration Committee links the nature and amount of executive directors’ and 
officers’ emoluments to their individual performance and the Group’s financial and operational performance.  The criteria 
considered by the remuneration committee include those relating to profitability, cash flow, share price growth and individual 
performance. 
 
Remuneration structure 
 
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and senior executive 
remuneration is separate and distinct. 
 
Non-executive director remuneration  
 
Objective 
The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level which provides the Company with the ability to attract and retain 
directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost which is acceptable to shareholders. 
 
Structure 
The Constitution and ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of non-executive directors shall be determined 
from time to time by a general meeting.  An amount not exceeding the amount determined is then divided between the directors 
as agreed.  The latest determination was at the Annual General Meeting held on 4 November 1999 when shareholders 
approved an aggregate remuneration of $150,000 per year. 
 
The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the manner in which it is apportioned 
amongst directors is reviewed annually.  The board considers advice from external consultants as well as fees paid to non-
executive directors of comparable companies when undertaking the annual review process. 
 
Each director receives a fee for being a director of the Company.  An additional fee may be payable for each board committee 
on which a director sits which recognises the additional time required by directors who serve on one or more sub committees.  
At this time there are no additional fees paid to directors who serve on sub committees. 
 
Non-executive directors are not required to hold shares in the Company, however it is considered good governance for directors 
to have a stake in the Company whose board on which they sit.  The non-executive directors are entitled to participate in the 
Grange Resources Limited Directors’ and Officers’ Option Plan which provides incentives where specified criteria are met. 
 
Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emolument of each director of the Company and the most highly paid 
executive officer of the Company and of the Group paid or payable by the Group during the financial year are as follows. 
 
The remuneration of non-executive directors for the period ending 30 June 2006 is outlined in Table 1 of this report. 
 
Executive director and senior executive remuneration  
 
Objective 
The Company aims to reward executives with a level and combination of remuneration commensurate with their position and 
responsibilities within the Company that: 
 

 reward executives for Company performance against targets set by reference to appropriate benchmarks; 
 align the interests of executives with those of shareholders 
 link reward with the strategic goals and performance of the Company; and  
 ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards. 

 
Structure 
In determining the level and components of executive remuneration, the Remuneration Committee considers independent 
advice from external consultants in the form of reports detailing market levels of remuneration for comparable executive roles. 
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It is the policy of the Remuneration Committee that employment contracts are entered into with all executive directors and senior 
executives. 
 
Remuneration consists of the following elements: 
 

 Fixed remuneration 
 Variable remuneration (which includes short term and long term incentive) 

 
The proportion of fixed remuneration and variable remuneration including incentives is established for each senior executive by 
the Remuneration Committee. 
 
Fixed Remuneration 
 
Objective 
The level of fixed remuneration is established to provide a base level of remuneration which is both appropriate to the 
component and competitive in the market. 
 
Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee and the process consists of a review of individual 
performance, relevant comparative remuneration in the market and internal policies and practices.  As noted previously, the 
Remuneration Committee considers advice from external advice which is independent of management. 
 
Structure  
Senior executives are given the opportunity to receive their fixed remuneration in a variety of forms including cash and fringe 
benefits.  The manner of payment chosen is optimal for the recipient without creating any undue cost for the Company. 
 
Variable Remuneration – Short Term Incentive (STI) 
 
Objective 
The objective of the STI program is to link the achievement of the Company’s operational targets with the remuneration received 
by the executives responsible for meeting those targets. 
 
Structure 
Actual STI payments granted to senior executives depend on the extent to which specific operating targets set from time to time 
are met.  The operational targets consist of both financial and non financial measures of performance.  Typically included are 
measures such as net profit after tax, risk management and overall contribution. 
 
The aggregate STI payments available for executives are subject to the approval of the Remuneration Committee with 
payments usually made as a cash bonus. 
 
Operational Targets 
Operational targets that senior executives have been striving to achieve during the period have been: 

 Satisfactory completion of the Southdown Magnetite and Kemaman Pellet Plant bankable feasibility study; 
 Completion of Resource drilling at Southdown; 
 Lodgement of the Southdown Public Environmental Review documentation; 
 Completion of negotiations for the Southdown slurry pipeline easement; 
 Successful negotiation of a Pioneer Status package for the Kemaman Pellet Plant, and 
 Acquisition of a suitable iron ore or coal project in Malaysia or elsewhere in SE Asia. 

 
Variable Remuneration – Long Term Incentive (LTI) 
 
Objective 
The objective of the LTI program is to reward senior executives in a manner that aligns this element of remuneration with the 
creation of long term shareholder wealth. 
 
Structure 
LTI grants to executives are delivered in the form of an entitlement to participate in the Grange Resources Limited Directors’ and 
Officers’ Option Plan. 
 
The Company utilises the LTI program to link remuneration with the attainment of key performance hurdles in particular with the 
development of projects.  The use of this performance based program ensures an alignment between comparative shareholder 
return and reward for executives.  

87 



GRANGE RESOURCES LIMITED  
ABN 80 009 132 405 

ANNUAL REPORT 2006 
 

88 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
NOTE 26.  DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 
Compensation of Key Management Personnel - Directors 
 

  Short Term Post 
Employment 

Share-Based 
Payments   

  Salary &  
Fees Cash Bonus Non Cash 

Bonus Super’n Options Total % Performance 
Related 

  $ $ $ $ $ $  
Directors         
Current         
A Bohnenn 2006 68,206 - - - - 68,206 - 
(Appointed: 1 July 2002) 2005 56,667 - - - - 56,667 - 
         
R Krasnoff 2006 - - - 47,163 - 47,163 - 
(Appointed: 16 June 2005) 2005 - - - 1,887 - 1,887 - 
         
A H Nutter 2006 100,856 15,000 - 107,722 - 223,578 6.71% 
(Appointed: 24 February 1998) 2005 99,899 - - 104,652 - 204,551 - 
         
G L W Wedlock  2006 317,702 75,000 - 28,593 338,080 759,375 54.40% 
(Appointed: 23 February 2005) 2005 225,692 - - 20,312 180,000 426,004 - 
         
H R Moser 2006 23,000 - - - - 23,000 - 
(Appointed: 15 November 1999) 2005 23,000 - - - - 23,000 - 
         
Former         
A Rankine-Wilson 2006 - - - - - - - 
(Resigned: 17 May 2005) 2005 379,661 - - 21,872 - 401,533 - 
         
Total Remuneration: Directors         
 2006 509,764 90,000 - 183,478 338,080 1,121,322 38.18% 
 2005 784,919 - - 148,723 180,000 1,113,642 - 
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Compensation of Key Management Personnel - Executives 
 

  Short Term  Post 
Employment

Share-Based
Payments

  

  Salary &  
Fees Cash Bonus Non Cash 

Bonus Other Super’n Options Total 
% 

Performance 
Related 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $  
Executives          
Current          
S Hall 2006 59,022 15,000 -                      -   119,255 - 193,277 7.76% 
(Appointed: 8 August 2005) 2005 - - -                      -   - - - - 
          
N Marston 2006 129,327 20,000 -                      -   11,639 - 160,966 12.42% 
(Appointed: 21 July 2006) 2005 87,404 - -                      -   7,866 - 95,270 - 
          
M Muirhead 2006 15,179 - -                      -   1,366 - 16,545 - 
(Appointed: 26 April 2006) 2005 - - -                      -   - - - - 
          
Former          
C Bryant 2006 144,337 10,000 -                      -   12,669 - 167,006 5.99% 
(Resigned: 30 June 2006) 2005 93,230 - -                      -   8,158 - 101,388 - 
          
B Chau 2006 69,431 - -             84,906 4,702 - 159,039 - 
(Resigned: 7 April 2006) 2005 68,512 - -                      -   6,166 - 74,678 - 
          
A C Pismiris 2006 45,364 - -                      -   21,310 - 66,674 - 
(Resigned: 16 September 2005) 2005 121,333 - -                      -   36,177 - 157,510 - 
          
M Smith 2006 44,154 10,000 -                      -   81,154 - 135,308 7.39% 
(Resigned: 21 July 2006) 2005 - - -                      -   - - - - 
Total Remuneration: Executives        
 2006 506,814 55,000 - 84,906 252,095 - 898,815 6.12% 
 2005 370,479 - -                      -   58,367 - 428,846 - 
Notes: 

i. Unless otherwise disclosed, the beginning of the reporting period is 1 July 2005 (2005: 1 July 2004). Where a Director  or Executive was appointed during the year, the beginning of the reporting period is the date of appointment; 

ii. Unless otherwise disclosed, the end of the reporting period is 30 June 2006 (2005: 30 June 2005). Where a Director or Executive resigned during the year, the end of the reporting period is the date of resignation. 
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NOTE 26.  DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 
Compensation by Category: Key Management Personnel 
 

 Consolidated Grange Resources Limited 

 2006 2005 2006 2005 

 $ $ $ $ 

     

Short-Term            1,161,678            1,155,398            1,161,678             1,155,398 

Post Employment            435,573            207,090            435,573             207,090 

Long-Term                        -                          -                          -                          -  

Retirement Benefits                        -                          -                          -                          -   

Termination Benefits 84,906 - 84,906 - 

Share-based Payments            338,080            180,000            338,080             180,000 

         2,020,237         1,542,488         2,020,237          1,542,488 
 
(c) Compensation Options: Granted and vested during the year 
 
During the year, no compensation options were granted or vested. 
 
(d) Shares issued on exercise of compensation options 
 
No shares were issued on the exercise of compensation options during the year. 
 
(e) Option holdings of Key Management Personnel 
 
 Balance at 

1 July 2005 
Granted as 

compensation 
Options 

exercised 
Balance at 

30 June 2006 
Vested at 30 
June 2006 

     

Directors      

G L W Wedlock 5,500,000 - - 5,500,000 - 

 5,500,000 - - 5,500,000 - 

      

 
All compensation options issued to the managing director will vest on the Company achieving key milestones associated with 
development of the Southdown Magnetite Project. 
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(f) Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel 
 
 Balance at 

1 July 2005 
Granted as 

compensation 
Options 

exercised 
Net change 

other 
Balance at 

30 June 2006 

     

Directors      

A Bohnenn 12,746,038 - - 524,300 13,270,338 

A H Nutter 944,999 - - - 944,999 

G L W Wedlock 104,000 - - - 104,000 

H R Moser 4,310,450 - - 100,000 4,410,450 

R Krasnoff - - - 50,000 50,000 

 18,105,487 - - 674,300 18,779,787 

      

Executives       

N Marston 740 - - (740) - 
 740 - - (740) - 
 
All equity transactions with directors and executives have been entered into under terms no more favourable than those the 
entity would have adopted if dealing at arms length. 
 
(g) Other transactions with Directors & Executives 
 

Fees of $60,000 (2005: $60,000) were paid to Hendygwyn Holding & Beheer b.v., of which Mr A Bohnenn is a director and 
shareholder, under a marketing and public relations services agreement. 
 
(h) Employment Contracts with Directors and Executives 
 
Except as discussed below, the following Directors and Executives are employed under contracts of employment for periods of 
three years: 
 

 A Nutter (Technical Director) 
 S Hall (General Manager – Business Development) 
 N Marston (General Manager – Commercial) 
 M Muirhead (Group Accountant) 

 
The employment contracts have standard commercial terms, including: 
 

 Participation in the Grange Staff Bonus Scheme being a share pf the bonus pool as determined by the Remuneration 
Committee and Board of the Company. 

 The Director or Executive may resign from their position and thus terminate their employment agreement by providing 
three months written notice. 

 On resignation any options will be forfeited. 
 The company may terminate the employment agreement by providing three months written notice or by providing 

payment for the lesser of twelve months or the unexpired period of this agreement in lieu of giving notice, the 
agreement will then terminate upon such payment being made. 

 The company may terminate the contract at any time without notice if serious misconduct has occurred. Where 
termination with cause occurs the Director or Executive is only entitled to that portion of remuneration that is fixed, and 
only up to the date of termination. On termination with cause any unvested options will immediately be forfeited. 
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Managing Director 
 
The Managing Director, Mr Wedlock is employed under contact. The current employment contract commenced on 1 March 2005 
and terminates on 29 February 2008, at which time the Group may choose to commence negotiation to enter into a new 
employment contract with Mr Wedlock. 
 

 Mr Wedlock receives fixed remuneration of $370,000 per annum plus 9% superannuation. 
 The contract provides for participation in the Grange Staff Bonus Scheme being a share of the bonus pool as 

determined by the Remuneration Committee and Board of the Company. 
 Following the agreement entered into by Mr Wedlock and the Company on 26 April 2005 and following shareholder 

approval, Mr Wedlock was granted the following option package on 29 April 2004: 
  

(i)  1,000,000 incentive options exercisable at $0.50 on or before 30 June 2007.  
(ii) 1,500,000 incentive options exercisable at $1.25 on or before 30 June 2007. These unlisted options will not 

vest until Mr Wedlock has achieved Southdown project commencement  
(iii) 1,500,000 incentive options exercisable at $1.50 on or before 30 June 2008. These unlisted options will not 

vest until Mr Wedlock has achieved Southdown project approvals; 
(iv) 1,000,000 incentive options exercisable at $2.50 on or before 30 June 2011. These unlisted options will not 

vest until Mr Wedlock has achieved a payment of $0.05 dividend. 
 Mr Wedlock may resign from his position and thus terminate his employment agreement by providing three months 

written notice. 
 On resignation any options will be forfeited. 
 The company may terminate this employment agreement by providing three months written notice or by providing 

payment for the lesser of twelve months or the unexpired period of this agreement in lieu of giving notice, the 
agreement will then terminate upon such payment being made. 

 The company may terminate the contract at any time without notice if serious misconduct has occurred. Where 
termination with cause occurs the Managing Director is only entitled to that portion of remuneration that is fixed, and 
only up to the date of termination. On termination with cause any unvested options will immediately be forfeited. 

 
 
NOTE 27.  RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE 
 
Ultimate parent 

 
Grange Resources Limited is the ultimate Australian holding company of the Group. 

 

Wholly-owned group transactions Consolidated Grange Resources Limited 

 2006 2005 2006 2005 

  $ $ $ $ 

     

Aggregate amounts receivable at balance date from:     

Controlled entities  (i) - - 12,125,241 12,778,190  

Provision for non-recovery - - (11,078,949) (12,092,225) 

  - - 1,046,292      685,965  

Aggregate amounts payable at balance date to:     

Controlled entities - - 32,406,794  23,013,892  

  - - 32,406,794  23,013,892  

 
(i) Loans from controlled entities are interest free and repayable on demand. 

 
Other related party transactions 
 
Fees of $60,000 paid to Hendygwyn Holdings and Beheer b.v., of which Mr Bohnenn is a director and shareholder, under a 
marketing and public relations services agreement.  
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Transactions with related parties, other than wholly owned subsidiaries, are made under normal commercial terms and 
conditions unless otherwise stated. 
 
NOTE 28.  SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
(a) Geographic Segments 
 
The Group operates predominantly in one geographic segment, Australia. 
 
(b)  Industry Segments 
 
The Group operates predominantly in the mining and exploration industry and has progressively wound up its interests in the 
technology and financial services industry. 
 
 

     Mining & Exploration Financial Services & Consolidated 
 Activities Technology Activities 
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006               2005 
 $  $ $ $ $                      $ 

Revenue and other income       

Sales revenue and royalties 9,761,786 6,463,210 - - 9,761,786 6,463,210 

Interest revenue 634,107 645,603   634,107 645,603 

Other income 489,751 27,153 - - 489,751 27,153 

Total segment revenue and 
other income 

10,885,644 7,135,966 - - 10,885,644 7,135,966 

       

       

Unallocated revenue     - - 

       

Total consolidated revenue and 
other income 

    10,885,644 7,135,966 

       

Results       

Segment results 1,935,930 (5,247,836) - (25,465) 1,935,930 (5,273,301) 

       

Unallocated expenses     - - 

Unallocated revenue     - - 

Group profit/(loss) from 
ordinary activities before 
income tax 

    
 
 

1,935,930 

 
 

(5,273,301) 

       

Income tax expense     - - 

Group profit/(loss) from 
ordinary activities after income 
tax 

    
 
 

1,935,930 

 
 

(5,093,301) 

       

Assets        

Segment assets 38,766,531 23,625,421 - 67,981 38,766,531 23,693,402 
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     Mining & Exploration Financial Services & Consolidated 
 Activities Technology Activities 
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006               2005 
 $  $ $ $ $                      $ 

 
Unallocated assets     - - 

Total assets     38,766,531 23,693,402 

       

Liabilities        

Segment liabilities 4,881,550 4,543,699 - - 4,881,550 4,543,699 

       

Unallocated liabilities     - - 

Total liabilities     4,881,550 4,543,699 

       

Other segment information:       

Acquisition of property, plant 
and equipment, intangible 
assets and other non current 
assets 

 
 
 

615,050 

 
 
 

198,999 

 
 
 

- 

 
 
 

- 

 
 
 

615,050 

 
 
 

198,999 

       

Depreciation and amortisation 370,405 832,532 - - 370,405 832,532 

       

Non cash expenses other than 
depreciation and amortisation * 

 
1,421,568 

 
1,855,359 

 
- 

 
- 

 
1,421,568 

 
1,855,359 

 
* Non cash expenses include accruals, foreign exchange gain / loss and share based payments. 
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NOTE 29.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Fair value 
 
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Group’s financial instruments 
recognised in the financial statements. 
 

 Carrying Amount Fair Value 

 2006 2005 2006 2005 

CONSOLIDATED $ $ $ $ 

Financial Assets     

Cash 2,087,202 146,092  2,087,202 146,092 

Cash – Joint Ventures 218,935 262,037 218,935 262,037 

Short term deposits 6,000,000 8,330,665 6,000,000 8,330,665 

Trade receivables 3,560,069 1,380,729 3,560,069 1,380,729 

Prepayments 53,194 54,018 53,194 54,018 

     

Financial Liabilities     

Trade and other payables 1,165,123 2,505,765 1,165,123 2,505,765 

Current income tax liabilities 34,365 34,365 34,365 34,365 

     

PARENT     

Financial Assets     

Cash 2,087,202 76,597  2,087,202 76,597 

Short term deposits 6,000,000 4,459,114 6,000,000 4,459,114 

Trade receivables 1,327,242 986,736 1,327,242 986,736 

Prepayments 53,194 54,018 53,194 54,018 

     

Financial Liabilities     

Trade and other payables 1,022,973 1,459,854 1,022,973 1,459,854 

Current income tax liabilities 34,365 34,365 34,365 34,365 

 
Shares in controlled entities are excluded from the above as these are accounted for at cost in accordance with AASB 127. 
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(a)  Financial Risk Management Policy 
 
The Group’s principal financial instruments cash, security deposits and short-term deposits. 

 

The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group operations.  The Group has various other 

financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations. It is, and 

has been throughout the period under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.  

Being at an exploration stage, the Group has limited exposure to risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments. 

 

As the Group moves into a development and production phase the Group’s exposure to commodity price risk, foreign currency 

risk and credit risk are expected to increase significantly.  The Board will set appropriate policies to manage these risks 

dependent on market conditions and requirements at that time. 

 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 

measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial 

liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements. 
 
(b) Interest rate risk  
 
The following table sets out the carrying amount of the financial instruments exposed to interest rate risk: 
 

 2006 2006 2006 2005 2005 2005 

 Floating Non- Total Floating Non- Total 

 Interest Interest  Interest Interest  

 Rate Bearing  Rate Bearing  

CONSOLIDATED $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial Assets     

Cash at bank 2,306,137 - 2,306,137 408,129 - 408,129 

Cash on deposit  6,000,000 - 6,000,000 8,330,665 - 8,330,665 

Receivables - 3,422,569 3,422,569 - 1,684,184 1,684,184 

Security deposits 2,849,180 - 2,849,180 2,856,433 - 2,856,433 

       

 11,155,317 3,422,569 14,577,886 11,595,227 1,684,184 13,279,411 

       

Weighted average interest rate 5.24%   5.24%   

       

Financial Liabilities       

Trade and other payables - 1,165,123 1,165,123 - 2,505,765 2,505,765 

       

 - 1,165,123 1,165,123 - 2,505,765 2,505,765 

       

Weighted average interest rate       
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 2006 2006 2006 2005 2005 2005 

 Floating Non- Total Floating Non- Total 

 Interest Interest  Interest Interest  

 Rate Bearing  Rate Bearing  

PARENT $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial Assets     

Cash at bank 2,087,202 - 2,087,202 76,597 - 76,597 

Cash on deposit  6,000,000 - 6,000,000 4,459,114 - 4,459,114 

Receivables - 2,236,034 2,236,034 - 1,672,701 1,672,701 

Security deposits 1,272,572 - 1,272,572 1,371,637 - 1,371,637 

       

 9,359,774 2,236,034 11,595,808 5,907,348 1,672,701 7,580,049 

       

Weighted average interest rate 5.36%   5.49%   

 
 2006 2006 2006 2005 2005 2005 

 Floating Non- Total Floating Non- Total 

 Interest Interest  Interest Interest  

 Rate Bearing  Rate Bearing  

PARENT $ $ $ $ $ $ 

       

Financial Liabilities       

Trade and other payables - 1,022,973 1,022,973 - 1,459,854 1,459,854 

       

 - 1,022,973 1,022,973 - 1,459,854 1,459,854 

       

Weighted average interest rate       
 
b) Net Fair Values 
 
All financial assets and liabilities have been recognised at the balance date at their net fair values 
 
Cash, cash equivalents and security deposits: The carrying amount approximates fair value because of their short term to 
maturity. 
 
Trade receivable and trade creditors: The carrying amount approximates fair value 
 
c) Credit Risk 
 
The consolidated entities maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date in relation to each class of recognised financial 
assets is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the statement of financial position.  
 
The company minimises concentration of credit risk in relation to trade receivables by undertaking transactions with reputable 
customers and undertaking reasonable steps to ensue credit worthiness of customers. 

97 



GRANGE RESOURCES LIMITED  
ABN 80 009 132 405 

ANNUAL REPORT 2006 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
NOTE 30.  TRANSITION TO AIFRS 
 
For all periods up to and including the year ended 30 June 2005, the Group prepared its financial statements in accordance with 
Australian generally accepted accounting practice (AGAAP). These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 are 
the first the Group is required to prepare in accordance with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (AIFRS).  
 
Accordingly, the Group has prepared financial statements that comply with AIFRS applicable for period beginning on or after 1 
January 2005 and the significant accounting policies meeting those requirements are described in note 2. In preparing these 
financial statements, the Group has started from an opening balance sheet as at 1 July 2004, the Group's date of transition to 
AIFRS, and made those changes in accounting policies and other restatements required by AASB 1 First time adoption of 
AIFRS. 
 
This note explains the principal adjustments made by the Group in restating its AGAAP balance sheet as at 1 July 2004 and its 
previously published AGAAP financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2005. 
 
Exemptions applied: 
AASB 1 allows first-time adopters certain exemptions from the general requirement to apply AIRS retrospectively. 
The Group has taken the following exemptions: 
 

 Comparative information for financial instruments is prepared in accordance with AGAAP and the company and Group 
have adopted AASB 132: Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement from 1 July 2005. 

 AASB 2 Share based payment transactions has not been applied to any equity instrument that were granted on or 
before 7 November 2002 that vested before 1 January 2005. 

 
 
Explanation of material adjustments to the cash flow statement 
There are no material differences between the cash flow statement presented under AIFRS and the cash flow statement 
presented under previous AGAAP. 
 
Impact of adoption of AIFRS 
 
The impacts of adopting AIFRS on the total equity and profit after tax as reported under Australian Accounting Standards 
applicable before 1 July 2005 (“AGAAP”) are illustrated below. 
 
(i) Reconciliation of total equity as presented under AGAAP to that under AIFRS 
 

CONSOLIDATED 30 June 2005 
$ 

1 July 2004 
$ 

Total equity under AGAAP 19,149,703 17,138,162 

Adjustments to accumulated losses (net of tax) - - 

Recognition of share-based payment expense (i) (180,000) - 

Adjustments to other reserves (net of tax) - - 

Recognition of share-based payment expense (i) 180,000 - 

Total equity under AIFRS 19,149,703 17,138,162 
 
 

PARENT 30 June 2005 
$ 

1 July 2004 
$ 

Total equity under AGAAP (5,690,074) (10,435,257) 

Adjustments to accumulated losses (net of tax) - - 

Recognition of share-based payment expense (i) (180,000) - 

Adjustments to other reserves (net of tax) - - 

Recognition of share-based payment expense (i) 180,000 - 

Total equity under AIFRS (5,690,074) (10,435,257) 
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(i)  Under AASB 2 Share-based Payments, the Group recognises the fair value of options granted to executives and directors as 
remuneration as an expense on a pro rata basis over the vesting period in the income statement with a corresponding 
adjustment to equity.  Share-based payments are not recognised under AGAAP. 
 
Management has decided to adopt the AASB 1 First Time Adoption of Australian Equivalent to International Financial Reporting 
Standards transitional arrangements which allow companies not to fully retrospectively apply AASB 2 Share-based Payments.  
Under the terms of the transitional arrangements the cost of options issued after 7 Nov 2002 which had not vested at 1 Jan 
2005 have been recognised in the income statement.  
 
The Company has adopted the exemptions from having to apply AASB 132 and AASB 139 to the comparative period. 
 
(ii) Reconciliation of profit after tax under AGAAP to that under AIFRS 
 

 Consolidated Parent 

 30 June 2005 
$ 

30 June 2005 
$ 

Profit / (loss) after tax as previously reported (5,093,301) (2,359,659) 

Share-based payment expense (i) (180,000) (180,000) 

Net profit under AIFRS (5,273,301) (2,539,659) 
 
(i) Share-based payment costs are charged to the income statement under AASB 2 ‘Share-based payment’ but not under 
AGAAP. 
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In accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of Grange Resources Limited, I state that: 
 
(1) In the opinion of the directors: 
 

(a) the financial statements and notes of the Company and of the Group are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

 
 (i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2006 and of 

their performance for the year ended on that date; and 
 
(ii) complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

 
(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable. 
 
(2) This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in accordance with         

Section 295(A) of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial period ending 30 June 2006. 
 
On behalf of the Board 

 
 
 
 

ANTHONY BOHNENN 
CHAIRMAN 
 
Dated this 29th day of September 2006 
 
Perth, Western Australia 
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Independent audit report to members of Grange Resources Limited 
 
Scope 
The financial report and directors’ responsibility 
The financial report comprises the balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in equity, statement of 
cash flows, accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the directors’ declaration for Grange Resources 
Limited (the company) and the consolidated entity, for the year ended 30 June 2006.  The consolidated entity 
comprises both the company and the entities it controlled during that year. 
 
The directors of the company are responsible for preparing a financial report that gives a true and fair view of the 
financial position and performance of the company and the consolidated entity, and that complies with Accounting 
Standards in Australia, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001.  This includes responsibility for the 
maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and 
error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial report. 
 
Audit approach 
We conducted an independent audit of the financial report in order to express an opinion to the members of the 
company.  Our audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, in order to provide 
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial report is free of material misstatement. The nature of an audit is 
influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations of 
internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence.  Therefore, an audit cannot 
guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected. 
 
We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with Accounting Standards in Australia, and 
other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our understanding of 
the company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position, and of their performance as represented by the 
results of their operations and cash flows.  
 
We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included: 
• examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial report; and 
• assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of 

significant accounting estimates made by the directors. 
 
While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when 
determining the nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal 
controls. 
 
We performed procedures to assess whether the substance of business transactions was accurately reflected in the 
financial report.  These and our other procedures did not include consideration or judgement of the appropriateness 
or reasonableness of the business plans or strategies adopted by the directors and management of the company. 
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Independence  
We are independent of the company and the consolidated entity and have met the independence requirements of 
Australian professional ethical pronouncements and the Corporations Act 2001. We have given to the directors of 
the company a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration, a copy of which is included in the Directors’ Report.  
In addition to our audit of the financial report, we were engaged to undertake the services disclosed in the notes to 
the financial statements.  The provision of these services has not impaired our independence. 
 
Audit opinion 
In our opinion, the financial report of Grange Resources Limited is in accordance with: 
(a) the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Grange Resources Limited and the 
consolidated entity at 30 June 2006 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 
(b) other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia. 
 

 
 
Ernst & Young 
 

 
 
V W Tidy 
Partner 
Perth 
29 September 2006 
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Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Limited and not shown elsewhere in this report is as follows. 
The information is current as at 29 September 2006: 
 
ORDINARY SHARES 
 
1. Twenty Largest Shareholders 
 
 The twenty largest holders of ordinary fully paid shares are listed below:  
   

Name Number % 

ANZ Nominees Ltd 32,143,651 33.82 

National Nominees Ltd 28,404,188 29.89 

Westpac Custodian Nominees Ltd 10,680,193 11.24 

Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 4,615,404 4.86 

Zero Nominees Pty Ltd 1,509,260 1.59 

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Ltd 1,043,167 1.10 

Mr Hans-Rudolf Moser 860,450 0.91 

Mr Alexander Henry Nutter 750,000 0.79 

ACP Investments Pty Ltd 600,000 0.63 

Dr Salim Cassim 536,308 0.56 

Dr Salim Cassim 530,000 0.56 

King Chong Chai 470,900 0.50 

Mr Antonius Clemens Maria Bohnenn 446,300 0.47 

Colvic Pty Ltd 432,593 0.46 

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Ltd 382,331 0.40 

Meridan Holdings Pty Ltd 356,000 0.37 

Mr King Chong Chau 300,000 0.32 

HSBC  274,661 0.29 

Machinery Automation & Robotics Pty Ltd 259,824 0.27 

Colvic Pty Ltd 207,407 0.22 

 84,802,637 89.25 

2. Distribution of Shareholders 
 
(a) Analysis of number of shareholders by size and holding: 
 

Category of shareholding Number of 
shareholders 

1 – 1,000 234 

1,001 – 5,000 500 

5,001 – 10,000 197 

10,001 – 100,000 187 

100,001 – and over 27 

TOTAL 1,145 

 
(b) There are 45 holders of ordinary shares each holding less than a marketable parcel. 
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3. Voting Rights 
 
All shares carry one vote per share without restriction. 
 
4. Substantial Shareholders 
 
An extract of the Company’s Register of Substantial Shareholders is set out below: 
 

 
Name 

 
Number of fully 

paid shares 

Percentage of 
issued capital 

% 
   

Anthony Bohnenn 13,326,338 14.02 

RAB Special Situations (Master) Fund Limited 9,000,000 9.47 
 

owing unquoted securities on issue: 

 
Class of Securit

UNQUOTED SECURITIES 
 
The Company has the foll
 

y 
Number of 

securities on Issue 
Number of security 

holders
   

tions expiring 30 June 2007 1,500,000 1 

s expiring 30 June 2007 1,500,000 1 

$1.50 options expiring 30 June 2007 1,500,000 1 

$2.50 options expiring 30 June 2007 1,000,000 1 

 

50 cent op

$1.25 option
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TENEMENT SCHEDULE 
AS AT 31 AUGUST 2006 

 
PROSPECT TENEMENT INTEREST PROSPECT TENEMENT INTEREST 
Western Australia   Queensland   
Horseshoe Lights L52/42-45 0% (1) Mt Windsor JV ML 1571 30% (10) 
 L52/66 0% (1)  ML 1734 30% (10) 
 M52/743 0% (1)  ML 1739 30% (10) 
 M52/744 0%(1) (2)  ML 10028 30% (10) 
    ML 1758 30% (10) 
Thaduna M52/165 0% (1) (4)  EPM 14537 30% (10) 
Green Dragon M52/180 0% (1) (4)    
   Northern Territory   
Wembley M52/801 100% (3)(5)  Mt Samuel MLC 49  50% (11) (14) 

(15) 
 M52/587 100%(2)(3)(5)  MLC 527 100% (14) (15) 
    MLC 599 85% (12) (14) 

(15) 
Horseshoe South M52/558 100% (2)  MLC 617 85% (12) (14) 

(15) 
 M52/585 100% (2)  MLC 678-681 85%(12) (2) (15) 
    MCC 174 100% (13) (15) 
Abercromby Well JV M53/336 10% (6)  MCC 212 85% (12) (13) 

(15) 
    MCC 287-288 100% (13) (15) 
Red Hill M27/57 (7)  MCC 308 85% (12) (15) 
    MCC 344 100% (14) (15) 
Horseshoe South West M52/651 100% (2)    
   The Trump  MCC 316-317 100%(14) (15) 
Freshwater M52/277-281 (8)  MCC 340-341 100%(14) (15) 
 M52/285 (8)    
 M52/295-296 (8) True Blue  MCC 342 100%(14) (15) 
 M52/299-301 (8)  MLC 619 85% (12)(14) 

(15) 
 M52/305-306 (8)    
 M52/368-370 (8) Aga Khan  MLC 522 100%(14) (15) 
      
Southdown M70/433 100% (9) Black Cat  MCC 338-339 100%(14) (15) 
 M70/718 100% (9)    
 M70/719 100% (9) Malaysia   
 L70/97 100% (2) Bukit Ibam PP01/2005 51% (16) 
 L70/98 100% (2)    
 G70/217 100% (2)    

 
Notes: 
 
1. Subject to exercise of option by Murchison Copper Mines Pty Ltd 
2. Under application. 
3. Subject to option agreement with Gleneagle Gold Limited 
4. Subject to 5% Net Smelter Return royalty with Trans-Global Resources NL. 
5. Subject to 1% Net Smelter Return royalty with Lac Minerals (Australia) NL. 
6. Subject to joint venture agreement with MPI Nickel Pty Ltd. 
7. Royalty interest with Barrick (PD) Australia Limited. 
8. Royalty interest with Barrick Gold of Australia Limited. 
9. Subject to conditional purchase agreement with Global Doctor Pty Ltd 
10. Subject to joint venture agreement with Thalanga Copper Mines Pty Limited. 
11. Subject to joint venture agreement with Santexco Pty Ltd. 
12. Subject to joint venture agreement with W. & L.D.C. Appel. 
13. Subject to option agreement with J.L. Love & G.P. Hamilton. 
14. Subject to 2% Net Profit Royalty with Lytton Nominees Pty Ltd and Moublon Pty Ltd. 
15. Subject to Farm in agreement with Westgold Resources NL 
16. Subject to joint venture agreement with Esperance Mining Sdn Bhd. 
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